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PREFACE.

To carry on a minute Survey of all Ireland so as to meet the various objects proposed
by the Committee of the House of Commons, (for the Survey and Valuation of
Ireland), on whose recommendation the Townland Survey was ordered ; no collection
of ready instructed surveyors would have sufficed. It, therefore, became indispen-
sable to train and organize a completely new department for the purpose. Officers
and men from the corps of Royal Engineers formed the basis of this new organization,
and very large numbers of other persons possessing various qualifications, were gra-
dually added to them to expedite the great work. The code of Instructions which
I framed and issued at the commencement of the Survey, had reference principally
to devising methods by which large numbers could be employed on it, at a moderate
expense, with little risk of confusion or error; and provided for the collection of some
subsidiary information, which might become useful in facilitating the construction of
future roads and lines for communication. But the present volume comprises also a
large mass of information, not contemplated in those instructions ; and it is requisite
to apprize the public of its origin.

Having the general direction of the arrangements for the Surveys of England
and Ireland, it would have been highly prejudicial to have devoted my time to the
local charge of the Survey Office in the Pheenix Park ; I therefore, brought with
me from the English Survey, Lieutenant Larcom of the Royal Engineers to perform
that duty. In that situation every document relating to the Survey of Ireland passed
through his hands. The elaborate search of books and records required to settle the
orthography of names to be used on the maps, led him to compare the progressive
states of the country. A geological examination having been ordered under Captain
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Portlock’s direction, and the organization framed for carrying on the Survey,
affording means for collecting and methodizing facts, which were never likely to
recur, Lieutenant Larcom conceived the idea, that with such opportunities, a small
additional cost would enable him, without retarding the execution of the maps, to
draw together a work embracing every species of local information relating to Ireland.
He submitted this idea to me, and I obtained the sanction of the Irish Government
for carrying it into effect. To him I have intrusted the execution, and the present
volume is the first public result.

In a work so entirely new in its design, and so varied and elaborate in its
details, the difficulty of obtaining complete materials can only be appreciated by those
who have watched its progress ;—and the persons engaged in it had many other duties to
perform. A list of all those who have contributed more or less information would
be little short of a list of the persons employed on the Survey. But it is necessary
I should specially mention the following gentlemen : Captain Portlock, who has
charge of the Geological branch of the Survey, and who, for this Memoir, undertook
also the Natural History and Productive Economy sections ; having the assistance
of Mr. David Moore in the botanical researches. The description of the Natural
Features, Social Economy, and of the ancient and modern Buildings have been chiefly
contributed by Captain Dawson, and his assistants, Mr. Ligar, Mr. Stokes, and Mr.
Williams. The History and Antiquities have been drawn up by Mr. George Petrie,
aided by Mr. John O’Donovan. As the other contributors have been less confined
to particular sections, and the intimate connexion between the several sections, ren-
ders it impracticable to assign their individual contributions, I only add, that I have
been requested by Lieutenant Larcom, who has charge of the execution of the work,
to acknowledge the assistance he has received from Mr. George Downes, who has
contributed a variety of matter, and arranged the section * People” in the city ; and
also from Mr. Edward Singleton, to whom he has peculiarly committed the correc-
tion of tabular matter and numerical calculations.

THOMAS COLBY,
Colonel Royal Engineers.



PRELIMINARY NOTICE.

In presenting to the public the first volume of a continuous work, it may be expected that some
notice should be prefixed of its object, the circumstances which led to it, and the mode of arrange-
ment adopted in the compilation of its matter.

It is scarcely necessary to remark, that a map is in its nature but a part of a Survey, and
that much of the information connected with it, can only be advantageously embodied in a
memoir, to which the map then serves as a graphical index.

The English Survey has, indeed, been hitherto accompanied only by memoirs purely
geodetic, the scale of the maps being small, and the general circumstances of the English counties
and towns being already known by local histories, and by agricultural and other surveys.

But the Survey of Ireland commenced at a period when much public attention was di-
rected to that portion of the empire ; and when authentic information of various kinds was greatly
wanted, and not easily obtained. The Maps were required to be made on a scale sufficiently
large to exhibit the boundaries of Townlands, that they might serve as a basis for correcting the
unequal pressure of local taxation, and it was obvious that topography so minute would be
valuable for many purposes of public utility, if supported by other information collected with
similar minuteness ;—it was therefore, necessary to look to the objects to which the Survey
was likely to be applied. Local improvements were among the earliest, and this consideration
governed the class of detail, which, in addition to boundaries, the maps themselves should
convey. But even of these improvements, there were some, whose interest appeared of a general
and national character, and of a nature in which individual or local exertion would peculiarly
require the direction of the Government, and, therefore, the previous collection of general know-
ledge, which could with confidence be appealed to ; because while physical and practical science
were sufficient to guide the execution of such works, it was obvious that the view of their necessity
must be governed by considerations of a higher order. The direction in which a rail road or
canal should be made might be indicated by the maps, but the necessity for making it must be
sought in the objects to be attained by it when made. This required a knowledge of the social and
industrial state of the people, of the effects which had been produced by similar improvements under
similar circumstances ; and, in order that the present condition of the country might be exhibited
in every useful light, it was necessary to divest History of fable and error, and to hold up the
past as a beacon and a guide to the future. The various questions which filled the public mind
—the education of the people, their employment, and the connexion of both with their general
state—the interests of commerce, of agriculture, and manufactures, and the investment of capital ;
—all were pausing for knowledge, or opposing each other from prejudice, the want of know-
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ledge. A general Survey might naturally be expected to furnish information useful for all these
objects, but it soon appeared, that the urgent demand for the maps, on which the attention
of the country was fixed, would not suffer any abstraction of the time or labour employed
upon them ; every energy was required on the part of the officers to guide the great machine
in its rapid motion, and their utmost intelligence was taxed to prevent deterioration of quality
from being the cost at which quantity was purchased. Pursuits, therefore, which would have
been far more interesting, were inevitably laid aside, or deferred ; and, though material for many
such volumes as the present is already collected, the disadvantages under which this has been
compiled render ita very humble specimen of what a general and organized exertion may achieve.
It has grown gradually but slowly, and only from particular portions of the work.

Thus, a subject of the earliest necessity to the maps themselves, afforded a basis for historic
inquiries. The mode of spelling the names of places was peculiarly vague and unsettled, but on
the maps about to be constructed, it was desirable to establish a standard orthography, and for
future reference, to identify the several localities with the names by which they had formerly been
called ; and as the townland, and other divisions under various denominations, have existed over
the whole of Ireland from the earliest times, it soon became apparent, that a sufficient extension
of the original orthographic inquiries, to trace all the mutations of each name, would be, in fact,
to passin review the local history of the whole country.

When, by these researches the original name of the townland, parish, or barony, had
been arrived at, it was frequently found to be indicative of some early sept or tribe, some ecclesias-
tical establishment, or ancient chief, and this primitive inhabitancy formed an appropriate introduc-
tion to the important subject, Social Economy. This latter subject combined numerous branches
of immediate interest. Social Economy embraced the Establishments for Education, Benevo-
lence, Justice, and all the varied wants of the community ; all were necessary to the completeness
of the scheme, but each required separate investigation. A department had been framed for
combining the outline maps and delineating the features of the ground upon them. This de-
partment necessarily followed the General Survey and afforded an opportunity of collecting the
information necessary to complete these several subjects.

The geological inquiries connected with the Survey also received great development
in their progress—for geology alone was as a map without a memoir ;—and in order to give
them full completeness, it was necessary to follow them into the other branches of Natural History ;
—the soil resulting from the rocks, the plants and fruits from the soil, and animated nature depend-
ing on them ;—but when complete, as matter of scientific research, their practical utility would at
once be seen by their connexion with the various branches of industrial energy, which in the seve-
ral forms, Rural, Manufacturing, and Commercial, unite in the general head, Productive Economy.

All these materials were, however, extremely imperfect, when, on the publication of the
maps of the county of Londonderry, in 1833, the present undertaking was begun. In 1835, the
meeting of the British Association took place in Dublin, and a preliminary portion of the work
was laid before its several sections. The same portion, considerably enlarged and amended, is
now presented to the public, and will be followed by the rural baronies in succession. It must
be observed, however, that as even now, the time of the persons employed is pre-occupied with
the maps, it cannot be expected that the publication of the succeeding volumes will proceed
with the degree of rapidity which would attend more exclusively devoted attention ; still what has
been done once may be done again, and done better the second time. The initial steps of every
extensive work are, of necessity, slow. A time wholly disproportioned to the apparent result must
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be consumed in the collection of material, and in the preparation of their assistants, by the
several persons entrusted with the different parts. These preliminary labours have been en-
countered, and it is hoped overcome; they are similar to those which impeded the publication
of the early maps, and there is no reason to doubt, that if it should be the pleasure of the Govern-
ment to continue the work, the result will be equally successful.

Having thus indicated the several subjects of inquiry, it remains to describe the mode
of arrangement adopted for connecting them.

Subjects, however various, if connected with locality, are separable into classes, on the
simple principle, that MaN by his reason devises ARTIFICIAL means, for improving to his uses the
productions of NATURE; on this principle, the Memoir of each Parish is divided into three Parts,
of which the first describes the state in which NaTuRE has placed it. The second the condition to
which it has been brought by Art. And the third the uses now made by Tue PeorLE of their
combination.

Thus the map exhibiting the physical features of the ground, the First Part of the memoir
commences with their description, their aspect, climate, and geological structure, as introductory
to the several branches of natural history, which in great degree depend upon them. The
Second Part, in like manner, based upon the map, describes, in detail, the roads, the buildings,
and other works of art, whose positions are shewn upon it; the modern being noticed first,
because immediately following the natural state, they combine with it to complete a picture of
the country as it now exists, and prepare the mind for an inquiry into its past history as a prelude
to the proper understanding of its social and productive state. This historic inquiry naturally
directs itself, in the first place, to the ancient buildings and other monuments, and to such
accounts, historical or traditional, concerning them, as may yet remain; and in the second,
from the buildings themselves, to an account of the people by whom they were erected, and the
state of society, of which they constitute the memorials. From this point, the Third Part
commences ; its first division, social economy, beginning with the earliest history of the people,
the septs, or clans, whose descendents still may inhabit the district, and the various changes
or improvements which have gradually led to the present establishments for government,
education, benevolence, and justice. This account of the people and their establishments,
leads naturally to the productive economy, which closes the work, as resulting from the means
the people have been shown to possess for calling into beneficial action the natural state at first
described.

This arrangement has been strictly conformed to in the rural parishes, which are by much
the most numerous. When, as in the present case, a city occurs, it belongs, as a work of art, to
the second part ; and its absorbing interest renders expedient a subsidiary arrangement, to make
it complete within itself, by giving with it a portion of the matter which would otherwise belong
to the third part.



ADVERTISEMENT.

The names of parishes are usually printed in Roman Capitals, and those of townlands in Italics.
The distances are given instatute miles, and the contents in statute acres, unless otherwise specified.

The County History is referred to by anticipation. It will comprise those circumstances relating
to the county at large which are of a nature too gereral to be treated in connexion with individual
baronies and parishes,

When Manuscripts or other rare books are quoted, the place of their deposit has been usually
stated in connexion with the first quotation. The MS. called ¢« Docwra’s Narrative,” and that called

Phillips’ MS. are preserved in the Library of this Office.

ORDNANCE SurvRY OFFICE,
Nov. 1837.
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PARISH OF TEMPLEMORE.

[Sheets 13, 14, 20, 21, County Map.]

Naume.—The parish of TEMPLEMORE, sometimes called TempLE DERRY [Teampull Dhome].
and more anciently DErrY [Oome], or DERRY CoLumBKILLE [Doipe Choluim Cille], derives its
first and most usual name—TEMPLEMORE—from the Irish reampull mdép, or ¢“great church”—
teampull [templum] being derived from the Latin, like most other Irish words expressive of Chris-
tian edifices, offices, rites, and ceremonies. This name was originally applied, in a popular sense, to
the cathedral, or ¢ great church” of Derry, in contradistinction from the smaller churches in its imme-
diate vicinity ; and, after the cathedral had become the parish church, its popular name—TEMPLE-
MORE—was in a similar manner transferred to the parish. There is every reason, however, to believe
that the use of this name is not of very ancient standing; for it appears from the Irish annals that the
cathedral, or Templemore, was not erected till 1164, and it is probable that it was not used as a parish
church till some centuries later. Its more ancient appellation—Derry—would therefore still be the
more correct one, and it is generally so called in ecclesiastical records down to recent times.

LocaLiTY.—A division only of the parish, considered ecclesiastically, is ini this county; the
other, which is in that of Donegal, is subdivided into the dependent perpetual curacies of Muﬁ{ Burt,
and Inch,—and both these divisions were included in the ancient canthred, or barony, of Ennishowen.
The former division—to which alone the designation Templemore is here applied—occupies the most
westerly part of the county of Londonderry, and inclu(fes merely the city of that name, with its
North-West Liberties, which district is recognized as a barony, and styled the North-West Liberties of
Londonderry. It is bounded by the county of Donegal on every side, except the E., where it is
washed by the river Foyle (which separates it from CLoNDERMOT), and for a small extent by Lough
Foyle. Its extreme length is nearly 10 miles, and its extreme breadth about 8}. It contains 12611a.
2g. 21p., including 3. 3&. 27p. of water, and the quantity of ground uncultivated is 2228a. 1r. 32p.
The parish is subdivided into twenty-five townlands.

PART 1

NATURAL STATE

NATURAL FEATURES.

HivLrs.—The surface of the parish is undulating, and Kresent.s a succession of hills, generally
cultivated or under pasture. A wide valley, extending from the river Foyle at Pennyburn in a north-
westerly direction, separates these hills into two leading masses, or groups. Of these the southern is
the more prominent, rising at its western extremity into Holywell H‘I;{l, which is the highest ground of
the parish, being 860 feet above the sea. This group is again intersected by a remarkable valley,
which, as it were, insulates the hill of Derry; and its surface is further undulated by ravines, which,
like that valley, conform in direction to the valley of the Foyle.
B
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The northern group, of which the highest point—in Elaghmore—is only 354 feet above the sea,
is subdivided into low but distinct ridges by valleys parallel to that of the Foyle. Of these valleys that
of Ballyarnet assumes, in some positions, an importance little inferior to that of the valley of Penny-
burn. A general view of this tract, as seen from the road to Culmore, combines the characters de-
rived from its moderate height and frequent subdivision: it there appears a wide and undulating plain,
bounded on the S. by the higher land of the parish, and on the N.W. by the southern hills of Ennish-
owen.

Laxes.—The Ballyarnet Lake, the only one in the parish, occupies portions of three town-
lands—Ballyarnet, Ballynashallog, and Ballynagard. It is small, containing only 3a. 3g. 27p., and
fills a shallow basin in the surrounging bog. Its height above the sea is about 100 feet.

Rivers.—The Foyle is formed by the junction of the Mourne and the Finn at Lifford—the former
having previously received the waters of the Derg, flowing from the county of Donegal : the Foyle, also
receives below Lifford the Dale, or Burndale, flowing from the same county, and it empties itself into
Lough Foyle at Culmore. The ancient Irish, however, appear to have applied the name Lough Foyle
to the river up to Lifford, as well as to the present lough ; -but, in the accounts of the early settlement
by the English, they are distinguished as the ¢« harbour of Louih Foyle” (the present lou{lb), and the
«river of Lough Foyle,” by which name the river is called in the « Down Survey,” as well as in some
later documents. . v

The ancient Irish name of the river and lake, thus conjoined, was Lo¢ Feabail ric Léoéin, or

the « Lake of Feval, son of Lodan,” and it is always so written in the  Annals of the Four Masters,” and

other authorities. The origin of this name is explained in the « Oinnpeanéup” —a manuscript anterior to
gt _(r re r p

the 12th century—by a legend of the Tuatha-de-Dananns, who are stated to have been a Greek colony,
importing that at the time when the lake was formed Feval, the son of Lodan, was drowned, and that

its waves cast his body on the shore, and rolled a stone over it, which formed his
ment. The similarity of this |

fail to strike the reader.

The river flows from S. W. to N. E. in a deep and tranquil bed, within the tideway. Its greatest
breadth above Derry is at New Buildings, in CLONDERMOT, where it measures - nearly 4 mile. Be-
low Derry is an expansion of it, called Rosses’ Bay, which is 1} mile broad. At the aty itself it is
narrowest, being only 1068 feet wide at the bridge. Its depth at high-water is 22 feet, opposite Carri-
gaus, near which it enters the county of Londonderry : opposite Prehen it is24, and it gradually increases
to about 43 feet, its deptb at the bridge of Derry. The point where it enters the county is about 4§
miles above the city. Its banks in this parish are bold, except at Pennyburn, where it is met by a
transverse valley ; and their beauty is heightened by ornamental woods, which in many places sweep

ulchral monu-
egend to that of Selim, in lord Byron’s « Bride of Abydos,” will hardly

down to the water’s edge.

Of the rivulets, which are insignificant, the greater number either flow into the river Foyle, or
Lough Foyle: one, which passes by Coshquin, flows into Lough Swilly, in the county of Donegal.

The springs are numerous : witKin a tract of not more than twenty acres, in Spring Hill and Creg-
gan, no fewer than eight occur. These springs, percolating through the detritus of rocks, which
a%;g;n;)d in oxide of iron, become frequently charged with ochreous particles, and are sometimes slightly
c eate.

yBocs.—The bogs are scattered through the parish in insulated patches. [See Geologyﬂ :

- Woops.—In Ballynagalliagh alone there is a small patch of wood, apparently natural. Some
more natural wood may have, however, been preserved in the demesnes beside the Foyle, which are
all rich in ornamental planting.

Coast—The shore of Lough Foyle, where it borders the parish, is low and flat.

CLIMATE.—In the able ¢ Observations on the Climate of Ireland,” &c., by Dr. Patterson, the
mean temperature of the citfy]' is stated to be 49, which is nearly that of the Earth, as indicated by the
mean temperature of six wells in different parts of the city, the extremes being 17 and 71. The range
of the barometer is from 28.6 to 30.6, ami) on an average of twelve years the medium number of fine
days is 126. The hygrometer of De Luc varies from 26} to 524, and the mean annual depth of rain
is 34.2 inches: the latter has, however, been stated by the Rev. Mr. Sampson at 31, in his ¢ Statis-
tical Survey of the County of Londonderry.”” The ratio of winds during nine years was N. 295.—
S. 398—E. 283—W. 1005—N. W. 787—N. E. 265—S. W. 599—S. E. 454.

To estimate with accuracy the presumed variations of this climate long continued and carefully
conducted observations would be necessary. In defect of such it may be mentioned that the farmers
believe, and assert, that a marked amelioration has taken place—the times of seeding and harvest
being both considerably advanced. In support of this opinion may be adduced the extending and
successful cultivation of wheat, and the increased number of quails, a bird now comparatively abun-
dant. However, though the circumstance of a recent improvement in this respect may be probable,
it would be rash to pronounce it, on the present evidence, permanent. ~ :
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On the 19th of January, 1692, a frost commenced, which continued with great severity for five
‘weeks. In the « Annals of Derry,” by Mr. Gillespie, two other remarkable frosts are recorded. The
first was that of 1739-40, commonly called throughout Ireland ¢the year of the hard frost”——a fami-
liar epoch with the lower orders: during this frest the river Foyle was frozen over, and an ox was
roasted on the ice, opposite to the Ship Quay. The other was in 1814, when the ice. on the river was
‘0 strong that carriages were driven over it 1n several places, and—on the 6th of February—a part of
‘the bridge was carried away by masses of ice, floated down the river by the ebb tides and a very high
wind. And, when it is recollected that such unusual and impressive events are more likely to dwell
‘on the memory than the more simple and unobtrusive fact of a peculiarly mild and genial season, it
‘may be reasonably doubted whether the change alluded to is more than a periodical return of warm
_seasons, alternating with others of severe and rigorous cold. o

Dr. Patterson, also, records a remarkable frost, that occurred in 1802, from which, after only six
days of uninterrupted freezing, the Foyle, where it is above 1000 feet broad, was covered with’ ice.
The thaw was succeeded by a tremendous storm, which did considerable damage in Derry, and its
neighbourhood. A large stone, at the summit of the former spire of the cathedral, was displaced
by the vibration of the spindle that supported the vane, by which the spire was surmounted; and a
large sheet of lead was whirled from one of the valleys in the roof of the Presbyterian Meeting-
House, and carried by the wind over a back-yard into another adjoining it. Ten days after this
hurricane there was a very violent gale. o

There are similar instances of hard frost, and other variations of weather, recorded in the earlier
annals of the district, which, however, are not so immediately connected with the parish as to claim
notice here. In 1146, and 1178, violent storms occurred, which did considerable d e at Derry.
[See General History.] The most remarkable circumstance bearing on the subject of Climate was a
Fsete%r)ic ]appearance, ich occurred at the time of the death of bishop Murry O’Coffy, in 1173.

‘deée Lo..

NATURAL HISTORY.

GEoLoGY.—A geological description, founded on the principles of practical utility, naturally
divides itself into two sections:—1. Rotks (including clays, sands;: &c.), as regards their mutual rela-
tions in geological science ; 2. Rocks (&c.), as regards their application to practical purposes.

And the first of these sections may be again divided into two sub.sections, namely :—

1. Rocks ¢n situ (including stratified clays and sands)—Being a consideration of the order of
their geological position, and of the accidents which have affected or modified their arrangement.

2. Detritus—Being a consideration of those accumulated fragments, which now form beds of
clay, sand, or gravel, and have proceeded from the disintegration, removal, and re-arrangement of those
pre-existing rocks, which are now recognized as part of the visible crust of the Earth.

Section 1,—Sub-section 1.—Rocks, &ec., in situ.

The geological structure of the parish is simple; and it may be observed. that it has no exact
eological boundary—the same rocks occurringron the opposite side of the Foyle, and on the W. and
il. of the parish, in the county of Donegal. The great mass of the primary schistose rocks, which
occupies so much of the western part of the county, spreads over its whole surface, with the exception
of a considerable detritic patch at Culmore, in the N. E. of the parish—which probably conceals a
part of the new red sandstone, that rock being visible at the extreme northern end of the parish—and
of several very limited deposits of mud and clay, which, on the S. E., skirt the river Foyle. Within
this space the rocks exhibit a considerable variety of texture, passing through seveéral steps of progres-
sion- from a rough and knotty pseudo-gneiss into a smooth, even, and apparently homogeneous slate.
That these varieties have a definite and regular order of arrangement is improbable, although it does
appear that some of them recur frequently with the same characters, and are' sufficiently persistent
over a large extent of country to be admitted as types of the following subdivisions: — s

L Nf::a Slate, passing into Gneiss. G.m.s. . . . . . . . Specific Gravity—2.65.

- 2. Mica Slate, passing into Clay Slate. G.m.c. . . . . . . . . De. —2.84,

8. Mica Slate, passing into Quartz Slate. G.m.q. . . . . . . . Do. . —269.
~ > The dip varies in direction from N.to N. W, and in amount from 80° to 55°; but here, as in
all the primary slates, much doubt and difficulty must attend the determination (of the dip, and ‘the
very fact of distinct stratification is sometimes questionable. The lamin® o; these schists are usually

B
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(but not always) co-incident with the principal cleavage, or plane of stratification, and they occasionally
project in sharp edges beyond the face of the secondary cleavages, which, were it not for these inter-
ruptions of their continuity, might from their general smoothness be considered planes of stratification.
It is difficult to state any exact ?roportion in quantity as existing between these rocks, but an approxi-
mate estimate may be given as follows :—

1. Mica Slate, passing into Gneiss—This is of small extent, protruding amidst the mere
schistose strata, and exhibiting a ruﬁged aspect, and almost massive structure. In texture also this
slate is remarkable—small isolated lumps of bluish quartz, of the size of, or less than a pea, being
arranged in layers parallel to the lamin® of the schist, and giving to the cross fracture a granular, or
even a conglomerate appearance. The paste in which they are set is common quartz, mixed occasion-
ally with felspar, the crystals of which become frequently Prominent. In this, as in all the other rocks,
the mica can only be discerned on the face of the lamine, and is almost evanescent. The hill of
Ballougry may be cited as a good example of this rock. It there alternates with the common variety,
in beds 30 feet thick, and terminates abruptly on the summit of the hill.

2. Mica Slate, passing into Clay Slate~The distinction of the mineral substances is here
almost, or entirely lost. This principally occurs towards the S. of the parish. Judging by the position
of the localities, where this variety is visible on the surface, it occupies a strip a mile wide, extending
across the parish, It is succeeded by

8. Mica Slate, passing into Quartz Slate—The quartz, in thin layers, is the most conspicu-
ous material, and the mica a mere evanescent parting, which from its frequent recurrence renders the
rock highly lamellar. This is the prevailing rock of the parish, occurring on the S. as well as N., and
occupying at least two-thirds of its surface. In structure it is variable, and also in composition, the mica
being re; %a.ced by talc, and probably by chlorite, though, from the extreme thinness of the partings, it
is difficult to distinguish between them. The undulations of surface, so frequent in mica slate, may
be noticed in the two last varieties, the lamin® being twisted in a very curious manner. Sometimes,
indeed, a break occurs in the middle of one of these minute bends, the general direction of the lamina
being preserved above and below it.

And it is remarkable that such contortions, accompanied by a tendency to break into small angular
fragments, are more frequent at the surface than below it—the continuity of the lamin® extending,
and the quality of the stone for building improving, at the depth of about 10 feet.

Quartz veins are common in the first, or gneiss, variety, rare in the second, and not very common
in the third. A uniform character prevails to a considerable extent in all, namely—that small specks
of oxide of iron are visible on the cross fracture. - None of these rocks attain any great elevation—the
highest point in the parish, Holywell Hill, which is composed of the second variety, being only 860 feet
above the sea. - . .

" Subordinate to the preceding formation are occasional beds of limestone and greenstone. The
limestone appears only on the E. of Mullennan, in a small excavation at the base of the little lime-kiln
on the 8. of the old mill, and close to the river. It is dark in colour, finely granular, and analogous
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in structure to the schist—thin, white, gystalline stripes being visible on the cross fracture, though
they are not sufficiently continuous to affect the cleavage. e greenstone is dense, close-grained,
and homogeneous, and is met with only at Conn’s Hill quarry, whicir (strictly speaking,) is without the
ish. The mode of its arrangement in respect to the schist cannot be seen in this quarry, but will
described in other parishes. It is traversed by several veins of quartz, which have much of the
character of metalliferous veins, though they are thin, and do not eghjbit any important metallic ore.
Specific gravity—3.08.

New red sandstone is seen to a small extent on the little stream, which bounds the parish and the
county on the N. It is too much concealed by the detritus to be traced to its junction with the great
-mass of schist on the W. of it; but, when its ?ﬁeannce in a similarly coufined space is considered—
in CLONDERMOT on the S. E. of the parish, and beyond Muff, in the county of Done‘fnl, on the N,, as
well as on the shore on the N. E.—there can be little doubt that it either does extend along the whole
face of the schist range, though now concealed in detritus, or did so formerly. Near the spot pointed
out the slate has a loose, shaly structure, very similar to that which it possesses in places where it is
decidedly in contact with the sandstone, as will be shewn in subsequent parishes.

Section 1.—Sub-section 2.— Detritus.

Detritus—The consideration of the varied deposits, which come under this head, is always replete
with interest. In this parish they occupy only a small space—the principal locality being a patch at
the north-eastern angle of the Liberties, including Culmore Point. It is bounded on one side by
Lough Foyle, and extends into the county of Donegal on the other—its edge being defined by the
rise of the schist range, the termination of which is concealed by an accumulation of gravel. The inner
portion of this ?acious flat is bog, resting on clay, the surface of which has been to a considerable
extent reclaimed. The edge at Lough l‘goyle is an elevated bank, composed of sand and pebbles,
which often exhibits a very striking regularity of arrangement, horizontal layers of sand being interposed
between others of pebbles—the latter varying in size from 1 to 8 or 9 inches. They are of two kinds :—
1. Rocks not immediately found in the parish, such as granite ; gneiss; primitive greenstone, ap-
proaching to hornblende rock ; and quartz rock :—2. Rocks common in the vicinity, such as the
several varieties of schist. These constitute by far the greater proportion of the whole. The pebbles
are rounded, but usually have flat bases, on which they rest, such being a natural consequence in rocks
of schistose structure. Approaching Muff (in Donegal,) the pebbles are observed to overlie the clay
substratum of the bog, while the resemblance they bear to the pebbles now on the beach is striking,
though, to a certain extent, it might have been expected—the wearing-down of the banks having,
without doubt, supplied many of the latter. :

The central portion of this detritic flat is principally clay of a reddish hue, and so strongly re-
sembling some of the beds, which in FAuGHANVALE alternate with the red sandstone, as further to
corroborate the opinion already stated—that rocks of that formation either extended once over the
whole space, or still underlie it. On the surface of this clay water accumulates, which, percolating the
girdle of sands and gravels that in part surrounds it, supplies the springs, which either trickle from the
bank, or appear in shallow holes made by the country people in the sand on the shore of the lough, a
little above gxigh-water mark.

The only other deposits of this kind are small patches of clay, which here and there border the
Foyle. These have resulted from the decomposition of the slate rocks, and gradual washing-down of
the finer particles: they are of very recent origin, and still augmenting. A drain, cut through one
portion, exposes horizontal logs of oak—while in others, near the surface, there are numerous small
tubular bodies of a conical form, apparently the encrusted roots of plants,—and the rubble of an old
brick-yard, abandoned only about thirty years ago, which was thrown on the shore, is now covered
with 8 inches of soil. However, as might have been anticipated, what is formed at one period is
destroyed at another, according to the direction of the current, which, while the banks of the river are
subject to wear, must be ever varying,—and embankments are, in consequence, found absolutely neces-
sary to secure from destruction the now projecting points.

But, though in other parts of the parish the detritus has not assumed that definite arrangement,
which would entitle it to be considered as a distinct formation, it deserves attention as having-an evident
bearing on the general phenomena of the district. It maz be noticed as gravel and sand, heaped on
the sides of the principal valleys,—or as clay spread over the greater portion of the plains and hollows,
which either were formerly or are now covered withbog. The union of these two forms of detritus
impresses strongly on the present surface the character of ancient water-courses, either lakes or rivers.
The detritus of gravel narrows and defines the boundaries, while the level clalf base contributes to give
the boggy covering that unifarmity of surface which characterizes the tranquil waters of a lake. Along
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the valley, which now contains thebog of Shantallow, and the bog and lake of Balltya.met, a chain of
.isolated sand-hills may be traced, appearing above the bog, while, opposite to ore of them, a remarka-
- ble pinnacle of rock a{ao rises above its surface, and another, at no great distance, is seen just level with
it. Up the sides of these sand-hills the bog is seen to have crept, and, as within the memory of the
existing generation it has covered the summits of some of them, no doubt can exist that the sand-hills
were prior in origin to the bog. In the still more marked depression, which, constituting the valley of
Pennyburn, extends with li;.)ge variation of level towards Lough Swilly, the appearances are equally
illustrative ; for, in advancing towards the W, the valley is narrowed between two beds, or islands, of
rocks, and exhibits a channel so natural and well-defined that it is impossible to resist the feeling of
. being in a river, or strait—an effect which is greatly heilg]:nened by the level, smooth, and now grassy
-bog, which lines the bottom. The channel again swells into an oKen basin, and is again for a short
distance contracted, as it winds round some projecting rocks, which, like those previously described,
seem to attest by their isolated position, limited extent, and low level, that some powerful agent, such
as water, had long exercised on them its abrading influence. .

The curious sand-hill in the county of Donegal, called Dunberry Hill, is in the prolongation of
this valley, and bears the same relation to it, which those described in the preceding paragraph bear to
the valley of Ballyarnet. Similar appearances are observable ‘in the bog of Mullennan, which occupies
the squth-eastern corner of the parish, and extends beyond it—for there also the edge of the bog is
marked by heaps or banks of sand, whilst Conn’s Hill rises like an island from the surface.

. As yet no shells, either fresh-water or marine, have been found in the detritic gravel, or ‘tlay of
this parish. In other parts of Ireland marl, abounding in fresh-water shells, is frequently the substratum
-of the smaller bogs, establishing fully their former lacustrine state, which is further supported by the
occasional discovery of ancient. canoes within them. Under the larger bogs clay, or gravel, without
shells, is more commonly found; but, before the full bearing of this deficiency on the question of
formation can be estimated, the bottoms of existing lakes should be carefully examined in all positions,
.and under all circumstances, and the abundance, scarcity, or total absence of shells in the shingle of
the present sea or lake shores, carefully ascertained at various points, and under varying conditions.
Jndeed, as regards this immediate parish, the insulated valley of Derry, or Mary Blue’s Burn, seems a
.stepping-stone in the inquiry, as it can be nearly proved from history to have been a channel of the
river s and yet it still exhibits a bottom of gravel and clay, without shells—a circumstance in some
-measure to have been expected, as the current running through it was probably strong enough to render
it an unfavourable habitation for molluscous animals: at present, therefore, the subject must be con-
sidered strong in the evidence of external characters, though, as yet, only partially supported by that
.of existing organic remains,

That this valley has probably been a water-course may be judged from the following exca-
vations :—

F. L L

1st Excavation, 2 6—Surface loam, with pebbles of mica slate, and quartz.

2nd Excavation, 2 8—The same result asinthe lst; then bluish tenacious clay, with thin gravel.

3rd Excavation, 2 12—The same result as in the 1st and 2nd ; then coarse gravel.

- Underneath a finer gravel mixed with sand.

, Boulders of primitive greenstone, and of granite, are occasionally found in the parish: they are
of considerable size, and sometimes rest on other more minute detritus, as may be seen at a bluff,
facing the valley which extends from Pennyburn to Lough Swilly, There are several on the shore of
the Foyle, and at Culmore there is also a single boulder of basalt. _—

It is usual to introduce geological descriptions by some notice of the physical features of the
country, but such is more naturally placed at the close.

he direction of the successive ri%es of schist is nearly E. and W. These, as will have been
geen from the preceding notice of ¢ Hills,” have disposed the country in a series of longitudinal
valleys, which, from the tendency of slate rocks to break down on the outcropping side into slopes
similar to that of the strata, are bound on both sides by planes of nearly equal inclination. The valley
of the Foyle,—another which nearly insulates the city of Londonderry,—and a third in the Bishiop’s
Demesne, are good examples. The transverse valleys, resulting from broken and rugged edges of t%e
strata, are of comparatively small extent, and form tge upper surface into gentle undulations.

Section 2.—Rocks, &ec., as applied to practical Purposes.

In this section there is not much to remark upon : it may be noticed under the following heads :—
1. Building Stones.—The schistose rocks are in the harder varieties too coarse, and in the softer
pot sufficiently coherent for roofing slates, but no deep excavations have yet been made : they are,
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however, used extensively as common building stones, and, when selected from a hard variety, are well

fitted for the purpose. _

2. Limestone.—This is probably a very limited deposit, and the limekiln in Mullsnnan, as well
as the quarry, has been abandoned. The limestone used at the kilus in the city is brought down the
river from beyond the limits of the parish.

8. Greenstone.—This is quarried extensively for the roads, and, being carried to the river, is'
transported to Derry, where it is broken up at the gaol by the prisoners. ft is raised for 7d. a ton,
and costs 2s. 9d. at the gaol, carriage included : being exceedingly hard, the people imagine that it is
selected for the mere purpose of increasing the labour of the prisoners. :

4. New Red Sandstone.—This is used occasionally for grindstones, though rather soft for the

urpose.

P rpo5 Clays.—The brick-yards on the Foyle were given up about thirty years ago, in consequence
of the growing scarcity of fuel. Itis desirable that steps should be taken to supply coals to the farmers
on the river, as there can be no doubt that the manufacture would then be resumed, and much valua-
ble time saved, which is now applied to the cutting and making of turf.

6. Soils, —The soils in this parish, resulting from the decomposition of the same class of rocks,
have much uniformity of appearance and composition.. In the higher grounds they contain more of
the silex of the rocks, and are occasionally, though rarely, stony, sandy, and meagre. In by far the’
greater portion of the parish they are light, productive clays, or loams, which in the very low grounds’
become stiffer, though never to an injurious extent. N

7. Bogs.—Though only relics of a much more extensive tract the bogs are of great local im-:
portance. In several townlands they supply fuel to the inhabitants, as well as an important ingredient:
in the composts used for manures. Portions are still occasionally reclaimed, and, when the turf has
been totally cut away, the subsoil is readily brought into cultivation. :

Bogs have been already incidentally cited, to illustrate some of the appearances exhibited by
detritic accumulations. They merit, however, a distinct geological notice, as being one of the most:
recent effects of those modifying agencies, which still continue to operate on the Earth’s surface. The
vast mass of vegetable matter, spread over so large a portion of Ireland, has at all times attracted at--
tention from its magnitude ; and even in this parish, were it possible to restore all that has been cut
away, and to remove the now verdant surface from the parts reclaimed, about one-tenth would be bog. It
is natural that a formation so remarkable should be attributed to other causes than those now operating,
by persons, who, beholding merel{ the accamulated result of ages, do not perceive the steps by whic%l
that result has arisen ; but careful investigation will induce more correct views, by shewing that what-
was once done might be done again—the causes which then acted being equally efficient now, or, if
comparatively inactive, only so in having arrived at natural limits, which arrested the further progress
of their efforts. In the « Bog Reports” Mr. Griffith, from his own observation during twenty years,
states an example of bog having grown at the rate of 2 inches every year—an instance probably of
excessive growth under peculiarly favourable circumstances, yet valuable in its direct testimony to the:
fact that bog, fitly circumstanced, still continues to grow with undiminished vigour.

In the production of bog sphagnum is allowed on all hands to have been a principal agent, and’
superabundant moisture tlte indueing cause. To account for such moisture various opinions have been-
advanced, more especially that of the destruction of large forests, which, by obstructing in their fall the -
usual channels of drainage, were supposed to have caused an accumulation of water. That opinion,
however, cannot be supported,—for, as Mr. Aher remarks in the « Bog Reports”—¢ Such trees as are
found have generally six or seven feet of compact peat under their roots, which are found standing as
they grew, evidently proving the formation of peat to have been previous to the growth of the trees”—
a-fact, which, in relation to firs, may be verified in probably every bog in this parish, turf, from 3 to 5
feet thick, underlying the lowest layer of such trees. Itis, indeed, so strongly marked in the bog, which"
on the Donegal side bounds the road to Muff, that the turf-cutters, having arrived at the last depth of

- turf, find timber no longer, though formerly it was abundant, as is proved by their own testimony from
experience, and by the few scattered stumps, which still remain resting on the present surface. Not so, -
however, with oaks, as their stumps are commonly found resting on the gravel at the base, or on the:
sides of the small hillocks of gravel and sand, which so often stud the surfaces of bogs, and have been-

tly called «islands” by Mr. Aher. He further adds that in the counties of Tipperary, Kilkenny, &c.,

ey are popularly called ¢ derries”—a name deserving attention, whether viewed as expressive of the
existing fact, or as resulting from a lingering traditionary remembrance of their former condition, when,
crowned with-oaks, they were distinguishable from the dense forest of firs, skirting the marshy plains
araund them.. The"strong resemblance to ancient. water-courses of the valleys ang basins, which now-
contain bog, and the occurrence of marl and shells at the bottoms of many, naturally suggest the idea’
of shallow lakes—a view of the subject adopted in the « Bog Reports,” by {‘lessrs. Nimmo and Griffith.’
Such lakes may have originated in the natural inequalities of the ground,—or been formed by the’
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choking-up of channéls of drainage by heaps of clay and gravel,—or they may have been reduced to
the necessary state of shallowness by the giadual wearing-away of obstacles, which had dammed up and
retained their waters at a higher level. Mr. Nimmo describes the mode in which the basin of a bog

has been banked in by the alluvial deposits of a river (during freshets), and, in a similar manner,.

numerous examples might be adduced of bogs separated by banks of clay and gravel, owing to rivers
running at their base, and below their level.

In some cases also clay, which is so frequently found spread over gravel at the bottom of bois.
has produced a kind of puddle, which, by retaining the waters of floods or springs, has facilitated the
formation of muddy pools.

In all such cases the process may be thus stated :—A shallow pool induced and favoured the vege-
tation of aquatic plants, which gradually crept in from the borders to the deeper centre. Mud accu-
mulated round their roots and stalks, and a spongy semi-fluid mass was thus formed, well fitted for the
growth of moss, which, especially sphagnum, began now to luxuriate. This, absorbing a large quantity
of water, and continuing to shoot out new plants above, while the old were decaying, rotting, and
becoming compressed into a solid substance below, gradually replaced the water by a mass of vegetable
matter. In this manner the marsh might be filled up, while the central, or moister portion, continuing
to excite a more rapid growth of the moss, it would be gradually raised above the edges, until the
whole surface had attained an elevation sufficient to discharge the surface water by existing channels of
drainage, and calculated by its slope to facilitate their passage, when a limit wou?’d be in some degree
set to its further increase. Springs existing under the bog, or in its immediate vicinity, might indeed
still favour its growth, though in a decreasing ratio ; and here—if the water proceeding from them were
80 obstructed as to accumulate at its base, and to keep it in a rotten, fluid state—the surface of the
bog might be ultimately so raised, and its continuity below so totally destroyed, as to cause it to flow
over the retaining obstacle, and flood the adjacent country.

In mountain districts the progress of the phenomenon is similar. Pools, indeed, cannot in so
many instances be formed, the steep slopes faci itating drainage,—but the clouds and mists, resting on
the summits and sides of mountains, amply supply their surface with moisture, which comes too in the
most favourable form for vegetation —not in a sudden torrent, but unceasingly and gently, drop by drop.
The extent of such bogs is also affected by the nature of the rock below them. On quartz they are
shallow and small ; on any rock, yielding by its decomposition a clayey coating, they are considerable—
the thickness of the bog, for example, on lZnocklayd, in the county of Antrim, which is 1685 feet high,
being nearly 12 feet. The summit bogs of high mountains are distinguishable from those of lower
levels by the total absence of large trees. :

The general phenomena of the growth of bog having been explained, as clearly as the subject at
present admits, it is necessary to describe in detail the remarkable fact that successive layers of trees
(or stumps), in the erect position, and furnished with all their roots, are found at distinctly different
levels, and at a small vertical distance from each other—a fact which has been noticed by iir. Aher,
and may be verified in the bogs of Mullennan, Shantallow, and Ballymagrorty. On entering into
this inquiry it is necessary to premise—that the firs found in bogs are Scotch firs, which, from numerous
experiments, are now known to grow and flourish when planted in bogs. Walworth Wood, near Bally-
kelly, is an example—the trees having there grown for many years, and attained a large size under
similar circumstances,

Reverting now to the preceding remarks, it appears that the consolidation of the lower portion of
the turf was a necessary preparation for the first growth of timber, and—considering the huge size of
the roots thrown out gy these trees, and the extent of space over which they spread—the mode is
readily perceived, by which they obtained a basis of support sufficiently firm and extensive to uphold
their rising and increasing stems. The first layer of turf was now matted by the roots, and covered by
the trunks of the first growth of timber, but, as the bog still continued to vegetate, and to accumulate
round the growing stem, a new layer of turf was created, to support a second growth of timber, the
roots of which passed over those of the preceding, and so on with a third, or more—until, at length, the
singular spectacle was exhibited of several stages of trees growing at the same time. Such seems a natu-
ral way of viewing the subject—but it is often stated that one stump is found actually on the top of
another, which would imply that the lower tree had been destroyed before the turf had ascended to the
level of the broken stump. In such an instance, using Mr. Griffith’s example of the rate of increase of
recent bog, and sup;l)osing it compressed by growth into one-eighth of its original bulk, little more than one
hundred years would have elapsed between the two periods. However, as but one decided example has
come under actual observation in this parish, though many are spoken of by the countryjpeople, it is
more probable that the evident superposition of roots, and the diﬂ‘;rence of level, have in many cases led
to the idea of one tree being actually over the other—a phenomenon, which, even when it does occur, is
easily accounted for by the decay of some of the older trees in the progress of successive growth, already
explained. This effect is to be naturally expected as the consequence of age, and equnﬁ; so of the ac-

PR
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cumulation of turf over the roots and stumps, tending to facilitate the separation of the trunk by for-
warding its decay at the point of junction with the stum mode of explanation strongly supported
by the following fact, obligingly communicated by sir George M¢Kenzie, bart., and quoted in his
words :—¢ About the year 1798 I built a shooting lodge in Ross-shire, in a glen, on one side of which is
a birch-wood of considerable extent. At that time the wood was in a thriving state. A good many

ears after I observed the trees beginning to decay in considerable numbers, and in the course of years
1t became apparent that a growth of peat had commenced.” It is indeed remarkable that in the lower
and larger stumps this separation of the trunk appears to have taken place close to the stump, which ex-
hibits a jagged edge around its circumference, whilst in the trees of the higher stratum there is usually
a considerable portion of trunk attached to the stump, the tops of the trunks frequently rising above the
surface. The example of tree existing above tree, already referred to, is singular, inasmuch as the
lower one is a prostrate stem ; but it is necessary to bear in mind that as the progress of the growth of
bog commences at the edges of the pools, or marshes, trees might have there grown, fallen, and sunk,
before the internal parts ﬁad been filled and consolidated ; and, also, that the great weight of some of
these trees may have sunk them deeper into the bog than they had stood when first beginning to grow.
A very interesting experiment, by professor Lindley, is detailed in the 17th part of the Fossil Flora,
from which it appears that the conifere are amongst the very few dicotyledonous plants, which, when
dead, resist the action of water: the experiment, however, was continued only through two years, and
it may be doubted whether, as a rule, it would apply to the living tree.

.

In this parish the bog has been so much cut down that it is difficult to estimate its depth: from 10
to 15 feet may, however, be taken as a close approximation in the deeper parts, from whicrl it gradually
shallows towards the sides of the basins, or troughs, containing it. The trees have been of large size.
In Ballymagrorty Bog one may be observed having six principal roots, each of which is 1r. 61. deep,
from 101. to 17. 41. broad, and extends 4r, from the stump, without any marked diminution, at which
distance it bifurcates ; in Shantallow Bog a principal root measured 1r. 101. square—its form approach-
ing that figure: and these were by no means exceptions, nor examples of great size. The largest
Scotch fir at present growing in the parish is at Brook Hall: at the height of 1r. 81. from the ground
it is 10r. 81. in circumference. To estimate the actual size of the bog trunks is difficult, owing to the
decay and wearing-away of the external surface ; but the size of the roots supports the deduction that
many must have Tlreatly exceeded this tree in size, and still more equalled it.

Combining all these phenomena together, the mind is irresistibly led to contemplate that ancient
condition of the parish when its hills looked over an extent of marsh and morass, where waved a noble
forest of lofty firs, the deep green foliage of which was only here and there broken apd enlivened by
clustering oaks.

BotaNy.—The natural vegetation throughout the parish is variable, and presents no peculiarly
marked features, excepting the marine vegetation along the side of the river Foyle, where, on the
muddy shore from Culmore Point to Derry, the more common plants are Elsocharss palustris, Creep-
ing Spike Rush; Juncus compressus (var. 8,)—the J. cenosus of Bicheno—Round-fruited Rush;
glauz maritima, Sea Milkwort ; Statice Armeria, Common Thrift, or Sea Gilliflower; Ccchlearia

inalis, Common Scurvy Grass; C. Anglica, English Scurvy Grass; and Zostera marina, Common

rass Wrack. Near the {ridge of Derry, where the last plant becomes scarce, large patches of Scir-
pus maritimus, or Salt Marsh Club Rush, occur, which, with the others, spreads to the extremity of
c
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the county. Along the dry banks in Termonbacca the Lithospermum officinale, or Common Grom-
well éthiCh is not general 1n this county), is very abundant, together with a flesh-coloured variety of
the Convolvylus septum, or Common Bindweed—a variety of that genus, which does not seem to have
been hitherto noticed in Britain, and only in one place in Ireland, viz. the island of Baffin, or Inishbofin, -
in the county of Galway.

In some of the glens near the county boundary, and by the side of the Foyle near Culmore, a few
stunted natural hazels occur,—but, in general, the interior of the parish is bare and uninteresting.

The old walls of Derry are in many places literally covered with the common Paristaria offici-
nalss, or Pellitory of the Wall : the Acer Pseudo-platanus, or Common Plane Tree, also grows naturally
on them.

This parish possesses no plants peculiar to it, nor even any which can be considered very rare,
although the R rhamnifolius, and Rubus Kochlers, have hitherto been so considered. Those
most worthy of notice are the following :—

Monocotyledonous.

1. Alisma ranunculoides ; Lesser Water Plaintain.
Habitat. Abundant in boggy ground beside the Foyle.
2. Spargamium simplex ; Unbranched Bur Reed.
3. S. natans ; Floating Bur Reed.
Hab. Both in Ballyarnet Lake.
4. Blysmus rufus ; LINK—Schenus rufus—ENG. B O T.—Narrow-leaved Blysmus.
ab. Side of the Foyle, near Brook Hall.
5. Rhynchospora alba; Vaur. White Beak Rush.
ab. Bog at Culmore Point.
6. Iris fetidissima ; Stinking Iris, or Roast Beef Plant.
Hab. Banks at Culmore Point. )

Dicotyledonous.

7. Circea lutetiana ; Common Enchanter’s Nightshade.
Hab. Bushy places beside the Foyle.
8. Utricularia vulgaris ; Greater Bladderwort.
9. U. minor ; Lesser Bladderwort.
Hab. Abundant in holes on the Race-course Bog.
10. Pinguicula vulgaris ; Common Butterwort.
ab. Moist banks on the side of the Foyle.
11. Erythrea Centaurium ; Common Centaury.
ab. Side of the Foyle.
12, Samolus Valerandi; Brookweed, or Water Pimpernel.
Hab. Side of the Foyle.
18. Drosera rotundifolia ; Round-leaved Sundew.
14. D. longifolia ; Long-leaved do,
15. D. Anglica ; Great do.
Hab. All three in the bog at Culmore.
16. Solanum Dulcamara ; Woody Nightshade.
Hab. Walls of Derry.
17. (Enanthe crocata ; l'l'-Yemlock Water Dropwort.
Hab. Side of the Foyle : abundant from Culmore to Pennyburn.
18. Sium latifolium ; Broad-leaved Water Parsnip,
Hab. Marsh near Culmore Point.
19. Rosa tomentosa ; Downy-leaved Rose.
Hab. Common in many places.
20. Rubus cesius ; Dewberry.
21. R. Kochleri; WeinE, and NEEs.— R. glandulosus ; ENG. FL O.—Kochler’s Bramble.
Hab. Both on banks at the side of the Foyle, above Derry.
22. R. rhamnifolius ; WeiHg, and NeEs.—Buckthorn-leaved Bramble.
“ 23, Nuphar lutea ; Yellow Water Lily.
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Nymphea alba ; Great White Water Lily.

Ifab. Both in Ballyarnet Lake.

25. Galeopsis versicolor ; Large-flowered Hemp Nettle.
Hgb. In Killea.

26. Chnicus pratensis ; Meadow Plume Thistle.
Hab. Meadows in Killea.

27. Ceratophyllum demersum ; Common Hornwort.
Ha? n a marsh by the side of the Foyle, above Derry.

The patural meadows in this parish are moderately extensive, principally on the sides of the
bo ound in Ballyarnet, Shantallow, and Ballynagalliagh. The grasses and other plants, of
wh?ghyt ey are chiefly composed, are :—the Agrostis alba, or Fiorin, or Marsh Bent, Grass; (gynoams
oristatus, or Crested Dog’s-tail Grass; Holcus mollis, or Soft Grass ; Asra cespitosa, or Turfy Hair
Grass; and, on wet ground, the Juncus , or Soft Rush; J. conglomeratus, or Common Rush;
and J. acutiflorus, or Sharp-flowered Jointed Rush. The average produce of these meadows is
generally rated at 2} tons the Cunningham acre.

The Alopecurus pratensis, or Meadow Fox-tail Grass, and the Bromus Mollis, or Soft Brome
Grass, are also very common in the neiﬁhbourhood of Derry.

The mountain pasture is general g aﬁoor. The most abundant plant on the top of Sheriff’s
Mountain (552 feet in height—)is the una vulgaris, or Ling, or Common Heath. The pasture
grasses are :—the Festuca ovina, or Sheep’s Fescue Grass; Agvostis vulgaris, or Fine Bent Grass;
Anthoxanthum odoratum, or Sweet-scented Vernal Grass; and the Nardus stricta, or Mat Grass.
The following plants, likewise, are abundant :—the Eleocharis caspitosa, or Scaly-stalked Spike Rush ;
and the Juncus squarrosus, or Heath Rush. The productions of Creevagh Hilr, and of all the mossy

ound in that neighbourhood, are similar, with the addition of the Melica carulea, or Purple Melic
rass, on the low ground.

In most of the corn fields throughout the parish the Sinapis arvensis, or Wild Mustard, or
Charlock—generally known here by the name of Prashach—is velz common, and is, in many in-
stances, accompanied by that still more troublesome weed the Chrysanthemum segetum, or Corn
Marigold—known here by the name of Guil, or Guilgowans. The Spergula arvensis, or Corn
Spurrey, known here by the name of Yare, is also very abundant : of boggy ground, lately reclaimed,
it often takes almost exclusive possession. In some places the tall oat-like grass, here known by the
name of Pearl—the Avena elatior—is but too frequent in the corn-fields,—as are also the Rumes
obtusifolius, or Broad-leaved Dock, and the Cnicus arvensis, or Creeping Plume Thistle.

ZooLoGy.—It is probable that a first view of this parish would lead an observer, totally unac-
quainted with its localities, to anticipate a full harvest of rich and interesting facts in zoological
science—and such, assuredly, must have been the result of research in those remote times, when the
surface of the land was covered with forests, its inmost recesses occupied by swamps or lakes, and the
waters of the expanded Foyle still silent and undisturbed. The scene is changed: the small lake of
Ballyarnet aﬂ'orSs no shelter for water fowl; the plantations on the sides of the Foyle are narrow
stripes, which abound in small birds, but produce few of large size, amongst which are probably two
species of owls.

The bare and exposed surface of the interior of the parish is even less favourable ; and the hills;
though rocky, are too low to tempt the larger predaceous birds to linger among them, when the
mountains of Ennishowen,—and, beyond the Foyle, the lofty summits and heathery sides of Sawel,
Dairt, and Muinard, with the wild and gloomy precipices of Benyevenagh—invite them to more
sequestered and fitting positions for nidification and repose. Nor have the lough and river of the
Foyle been unaffected by the influence of advancing civilization, and extending commerce,—though
in more retired parts, beyond the ordinary track of vessels, they are still resorted to in winter by
numerous flocks of water fowl, for some of which the lough has long been celebrated. Among these
are the Bernicle Goose, or Anser Bernicla ; the Brent Goose, or A. Brenta P—a species which is
sold as bernicle in the Derry market ; the Common Teal, or Anas Crecca (LINN2&US) 3 and the Com-
mon Wigeon, or A. Penelope (LinN&Us). Pennant notices the common error, in the north of
Ireland, of applying the name Bernicle to the Brent Goose. The spécimens examined were all Brent
Geese ; but, as well informed persons believe the Bernicle also to be a visitant of Lough Foyle, it is
still left on the list.

On reviewing these circumstances, it is evident that this branch of the Natural History of the
parish requires only a brief notice of some leading facts,—and may, in the more general details, be
allowed to merge in the description of the Zoology of the county at large.

c?2
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MAMMALIA.
Cheiroptera.

Plecotus auritus ( Vespertilio auritus—LiNNZuUs); Eared Bat.

A colony of these interesting little animals was discovered in June, 1835, under the slates
of the dwelling-house at Foyle Hiﬁ, above the city. More than ten were secured,—and the specimen
examined, having escaped from its confinement in the room, was seen for afew minutes hanging by its
hind legs from the cornice, when, insinuating itself into a hole, it disappeared.

Fera.

Lutra vulgaris ; Common Otter. Occasionally met with in the Foyle.

Aves (Birds).
Raptores (Birds of Prey).

1. Accipiter fringillarius ; Ssarrow Hawk. Not unfrequent.
2. Otus vulgaris ; Long-eared Owl. Rare in this parish. The specimen procured was shot in
the plantations of Brook Haﬁ.

Insessores (Perchers).

8. Alcedo Ispida ; Common King’s-fisher. Occasionally met with on the banks of the Foyle.

. 4. Muscicapa (?) Grisola ; Spotted Flycatcher. Shotin the demesne of Brook Hall. It has been
but little noticed by the country people, who, however, speak of its regular return in May. The spe-
cimen obtained is less distinctly marked than is usual with this bird.

5. Merula viscivora ( Turdus viscivorus—LiINNZEUS); Missel-Thrush. This bird, till within the
last few years, was rare : it is now more common, and is on the increase.

. 6. Saxicola rubetra (Motacilia rubetra—LINNZUS); Whinchat. Rarely seen before May. The
inhabitants think of this, as of many other migratory birds, that it sleeps during the winter.

. Sylvia cinerea —LaTHAM, and TEMMINCK ( Curruca cinerea—SELBY) ; White Throat. This
bird was immediately recognized by M. Agassiz, as one equally familiar to him in his neighbourhood—
Neufchatel—as the Domestic Sparrow. It is frequently met with in this parish.

8. Sylvia trochilus (Motacilla trochilus—LiNNz£uUs); Yellow Wren. A tolerably abundant species
in this parish. The great difficulty of distinguishing between the Yellow Wren and{he Lesser Petty-
chaps, in a dead state, is well known to all ornithologists, and the confusion into which even Temminck
has fallen in the application of the synonymes has been pointed out by Fleming. He has described
the Yellow Wren of English writers under « Bec-Fin @ poitrine jaune,” and attached to it the syno-
nymes Sylvia Hippolais, and Lesser Pettychaps,—the Lesser Pettychaps of English writers under
“ Bec-F?n Poutllot,” with the synonymes Sylvia trochilus, and Yellow Wren. A specimen was
obtained in July, 1835, having the dusky legs and the whitish breast of the Hippolais, and agreeing also
in size with that bird,—but, as a secoudy specimen was sought for in vain, it may be suspected that the
limits of these two species so closely approach each other that the single one is only a variety of
the Sylvia trochilus,—and, on that account, the Sylvia Hippolais will not be for the present inserted
amongst the birds of this parish.

9. Regulus auricapillus (Motacilla regulus—LINN&US) ; Golden-crested Wren. Not uncommon.

10. Parus ceruleus ; Tom-tit. Not uncommon ; and here, as in other places, driven to the houses
by the frosts of winter.

11. Sturnus (£) vulgaris, or Turdus solitarius ; Brown Starling, or Solitary Thrush. The uncer-
tainty, which hangs over the history of this bird, is well described by professor Rennie in his edition of
Montagu’s Ornithological Dictionary. Selby speaks of it as the young bird of the Common Starling,
prior to its first moult. Mr. Knapp, quoted by Rennie, considers it in every respect distinct from the
* Common Starling, his concluding words being :—¢ I scarcely know any bird less consiicuous for beauty

than the Solitary Thrush ; it seems like a bleached way-worn traveller, evenin its youth.” The specimen



NATURAL HISTORY. 13

under consideration affords a good example of this weather-beaten aspect. It was killed on the 16th
of July, 1835, whilst feeding in company with the Ringed Plover on the shore of Lough Foyle,
and has every appearance of an old bird—its claws being worn and blunted. The legs are of a dark
red-brown, as described by Mr. Knapp, and the bill black, but faintly edged with white.

Rasores (Scl;atchers).

12. Perdix Coturnix (Tetrao Coturniz—LiNN&Us); Common Quail, This bird has now become
tolerably abundant, though hitherto considered rare in the parish.,  *-

Grallatores (Waders).

18. Numenius ta (Scolopax arquata—LiNNEvUs); Curlew. Abundant.

14. Totanus calidris &Scolopax calidris—LiNN&US) ; Redshank. Frequent.

15. Crex pratensis ; Meadow-crake, or Corn-crake. Very common. Selby observes of the peculiar
note of this bird :—¢ It is continued until a mate be found, and incubation commenced, after which
it ceases :” such also is the opinion of Montagu. It was heard, however, during the summer season,
on the 15th of July, 1835; and in a corn field oEposite Boom Hall its note was, prior to that
period, frequently repeated, especially in the evening before sunset. Bewick, therefore, is probably
correct in his assertion—that it is heard till the grass is cut, or, in other words, till the bird is deprived
of shelter.

16. Sguatarola cinerea ( Tringa cinerea—LINNRUS); Grey Plover. Large flocks are sometimes
seen in the latter end of September.

P 17. Charadrius Hiaticula ; Ringed Plover. Common; frequenting the pebbly shores of Lough
oyle.

Pisces (Fishes).

On arriving at the next great class of the Animal Kingdom the peculiar position of the parish in
reference to the waters of the Foyle, both lough and river, should arrest attention. It is in such
situations (estuaries,)—and here especially, where river, lake, and sea combine—that fishes, varying
in their ordinary habits and-places of abode, may be exgected to congregate together, either drawn by
the impulse of nature to a more quiet region for the deposition of their eggs, or spawn, or led by a
similar instinct to the common rendezvous—that they may prey upon others of less size and strength.
To facilitate inquiry into a subject of such curious speculation a list will here be given of those fishes
alone, which are taken in or above the salmon nets of Culmore, on Lough Foyle—that is to say within
5 miles of Derry—a little below the junction of the river and lake, and about 20 miles from the main
ocean. The time of experiment also has been short—not exceeding a month, and the list itself will
be continued, on the same principle, in the next parish. To facilitate comparison, the arrangement of
Fleming is in this class adopted—the work containing it being easy of access, and in popular use.

Cartilaginous.

1. Scyllium Catulus, male—.S. stellare, female (Squalus, vel Scyllium Canicula—Cuvier); Spotted
Dog-fish. In the application ofthe synonymes and history of this fish, there is much confusion. Pennant
describes two species—the Spotted, Squalus Canicula (LiNN&US), and the Lesser Spotted, Squalus
Catulus (L1NN£US),—considering the Catulus maximus of Willoughby, Squalus stellaris of LiNN&US,
or « Squale rochier” of Lacépdde, a mere variety of S. Canicula, of larger size. It is singular
that in this arrangement he makes no allusion to the reasoning of Lacépede, who has totally reversed
the order of separation. That writer (Histoire Naturelle des Poissons—Tome 1. 223), after remark-
ing on the supposed analogy between sharks and birds of prey, exhibited in the superior size of the
female, thus expresses himself :—« C’est principalement dans Pespéce du squale roussette que se montre
cette inégalité de dimensions entre le male et la femelle. Elle y est méme assez grande pour que
plusieurs auteurs anciens et plusieurs naturalistes modernes les atent considérés comme formant deux
espéces distinctes, dont on a nommé une le grand chat de mer ou chien marin (canicula vel catulus
major), et Pautre le petit chat de mer ou petit chien marin (canicula vel catulus minor).” He there-
fore advocates the union of S. Canicula and S. Catulus, and in his next article recognizes Catulus
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mazimus (S. stellaris,) as a distinct species, under the name of ¢ Squale rochier.”—Again, Cuvier
(Régne Animal—Tome 2.) admits two species, but places the line of separation in a still different posi-
tion, making S. Canicula a synonyme of his ¢ Grande roussette,” and S. Catulus, and S. stellaris,
synonymes of the « Petite roussette,”—to which he also adds Lacépdde’s name « Rochier,”—thus
uniting the species in size supposed to be the smallest with that considered by Pennant and Lacépé
to be the largest. He also cites the plate given by Lacépéde for the « Rochier” as the « Grande
roussette,” and vice versd.

Fleming also describes two species, but, overlooking Lacépéde’s description of the ¢ Sguale
rochéer,” quotes him as authority for uniting these two species into one. Such, however, was not the
meaning of Lacépéde, who contended against thres, and not against two species: his words, in
describing the « glochier”, are :—¢ Ce s%auale a été souvent confondu avec le male ou la _femelle de la
roussette, que l'on a pris pour le méle ou la femelle du rochier.” This curious confusion in terms will
be rendered intelligible by the following summary :— ’

! Ay
PENNANT. i LACEPEDE.

Lst Species. 2nd Species. | lst Species. 2nd Species.
Catulus major. Catulus minor. . Catulus maximus. Catulus major.
Squalus Canicula. Squalus Catulus. ' Squalus stellaris. Catulus minor.
Le Squale Roussette. Le Squale Roussetle. " Le Squale Rochier. Squalus Catulus.

i Le Squele Roussette.
Catulus maximus.
‘Squalus stellaris.
Le Squale Rochier.
CUVIER. FLEMING.

1st Spectes. 2nd Species. 1st Species. 2nd Species.
Squalus canicula. Squalus stellaris. Catulus maximus. } { Catulus major.
La grande Roussette. Squalus catulus. Squalus stellaris. Squalus Catulus.

La petite Roussette.
Le Squale Rochier. I

The confusion is one of terms only as regards the three first writers, though it has doubtless been in
part the cause of Fleming’s mistake, in his quotation of Lacépéde’s opinion.

In placing the specimen under consideration in the species Scyllsum Canicula of Cuvier, or Spotted
Dog-fish, the position of the fins, as compared with the plates of Lacépéde, and the oblique truncation
of the ventral fins (¢ @ ventrales coupées obliquement”—CuviER), have been the leading guides. It is
a female: and, when its small size is considered, the impossibility of forming any specific determination
on a character so uncertain, in the present limited state of knowledge either of growth or maturity in
fishes, must be admitted. In form it agrees entirely with the plate given by Lacepéde of the « Squale
vochier” Tts ventral fins are disjoined, and the spots are small and numerous—agreeing in that point
with Cuvier’s description of the Great (“d petites taches nombreuses”), and with Fleming’s of the
Small, Scylliun. On the whole—it may be fairly stated that a new consideration of this genus is
necessary, and that, in such consideration, size should be left entirely out of view. It may be added
that Fleming’s description of the position, in his Great Spotted Dog-fish, of the 1st dorsal nearly over
the ventrals corresponds with the plate of Lacépéde, cited by Cuvier under « La petite Roussette.”

Dimensions, &c. :—Extreme length 2F. 41.; between root of pectoral fins and root of anal fin 1r. ;
ventral fins half-way between pectoral and anal, reckoning from the root, or beginning of each ; anal
fin half-way between ventral and caudal; 1st dorsal half-way between ventral and anal; 2nd dorsal
half-way between anal and caudal ; from lip to snout 11 ; nostrils one-third 1. from lips, with each a
valvular lobe ; under the nose 4 regular rows of pores; colour dusky grey; belly white; form slender.
The tendrils of one of its purses, or eggs, were seen protruding from the belly ; and, when pulled, two
of these singular bodies were extracted, having between them a length of tendril equal at least to 1r. 61.,
and the same quantity attached to the opposite end of the inner one. Eggs of various sizes, but
without their horny covering, were found within the animal, and a small portion also of unattached
tendril, perhaps broken from that extracted. The stomach contained fragments of crustaces, and
valves otP shells, The eggs, commonly called «sailors’ purses,” have in Ireland the poetic name of
“mermaids’ purses.” A male of this species has been obtained since. Its length is 2r. 41., and in the
position of its fins, size of spots, and colour, it exhibits an equal degree of accordance with the corres-
ponding characters of the female. In this specimen, however, the ventral fins are united, and pro-
vided with elongated apgendages, similar to those of the male Ray. It is, therefore, evident that the
division of the ventral fins is merely a sexual distinction, and does not, of itself, constitute a specific
difference. Whether the mode of truncation of those fins, namely, straight or oblique, as suggested by
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Cuvier, is a certain specific character, cannot be decided without a far more extended examination,—
and it may be here suggested to all engaged in such inquiries that nothing tends more to embarrass
Natural History than the use, in description, of ambiguous words—such, for instance, as nearly—respect-
ing which, probably, no two persons would hold the same comparative opinion, and which, in themselves,
must vary according to the proportions and size of the animal described.

Since the above remarks were written, the Rev. Leonard Jenyns has published his Manual of
British Vertebrate Animals, in which the division of the genus Scyllium is effected on the principle
laid down by Cuvier, and referred to above—namely, the mode of truncation of the ventral fins. It
may further be remarked—that the union, or separation, of the ventral fins is not a sexual characteristic
in the genus Spinaz éCUva), though so nearly approximated to Scyllium.

2. Raia rubus ; Rough Ray. ’I%’ne stomach contained numerous fragments of crustacea. This spe-
cimen, a female, is referred to the species rubus, as defined by Cuvier, on consideration of the following
characters :—Tail fully armed with 3 rows of large spines, the central one being continued upwards to
withinlinch of the eyes: the lateral rows extend tﬁe whole length of the tail, but not in single lines—the
lower half of each being nearer the centre of the tail than the upper, and continued past it by a parallel
line of much smaller spines; the points of the lateral spines are turned backwards. The eyes have on
their inner margin spines—4 to each eye. The snout is provided with 2 large, and 3 small spines.
Upper surface rough, with small but distinct spines; and there are also 4 detached and symmetricall
arranged large spines on the upper portion of the back. Colour, light, yellowish brown, with blac
blotches and irregular rings, giving the whole an ocellated appearance. Belly white; has several large
spines, and feels rough when rubbed in the direction from tail to head.

The cousideration of this genus, beset as it is with difficulties, will be resumed in a future parish.

Osseous.

S. Syngnathus : Pipe-fish. Syngnathus Acus; Sea Adder, of Cornwall ? This fish is abundant in
Lough Foyle. The largest yet met with measured 1r. 81. It was a female, and contained in its
stomach several shrimps, some broken, some whole. In June and July, 1835, these fishes were rare:
in September and October they were abundant, of large size, and full of ova. In December the fry—
2,3, or 4 inches long—were abundant, but the large fish had entirely disappeared: in February the
small fish had also disappeared.

Malacopterygwus

4. Salmo Salar ; Common Salmon. Mr. Daniells, long employed as a clerk on the Foyle
fishery, has collected much valuable information on the habits of this fish. From numerous ex-
})eriments he has ascertained that the male Salmon is the sole labourer in the arduous operation of
orming the spawning trough. Of many, taken for trial, the males were found with snouts scratched
almost to bleeding, and with bellies and sides nearly denuded of scales by the violent rubbing they had
undergone, while the females bore no mark of injury. The sharpened form of the snout in the male
Salmon, as well as in the male of the Sea Trout, is consistent with this theory ; and the peculiar condition
of the female, laden with spawn, affords a satisfactory reason why such should be the law of nature. It
excuses, likewise, the apparent apathy, with which in some sheltered pool she awaits the return of the
male, whom she then accompanies to the prepared furrow, that they may together deposit their milt
and roe. The great disproportion in number between the males and females, taken 1in the nets, has
also been noticed by NK‘ aniells—the males perhaps not exceeding in number ‘one-third of the fe-
males,—but it is probable that this arises from a partial separation of the sexes in the ascent of the
river, the males keeping the central and more rapid part of the stream. The economy of this fish, not-
withstanding the interesting evidence given before a committee of the house of commons, requires
further elucidation ; and it is therefore here stated with much gratification—that Mr. Buist, principal
clerk of the fisheries, has directed the water-keepers to note down with the utmost precision the times
and mode of appearance of the Salmon, at each particular stage of every stream they frequent, in order
to bring the facts of their history to the test of careful observation, and accurate dates.

5. Salmo Truita; Sea Trout. These accompany the Salmon in considerable numbers, and are
probably very conformable to them in habits.

6. Salmo Fario ; Common, or River, Trout.

7. Clupea Alosa (Alosa communis—CuviER, and YARRELL); Shad. By no means uncommon.
It attains a considerable size—the extreme length of the specimen examined being'2r. 21.

8. Esox Lucius ; Common Pike. Taken between Derry and Culmore: length 2r. 101.  An
interesting example of a fish, whose usual habits are fluviatile and lacustrine, found in salt water.
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9. Belone vulgaris ; Common Gar. Numerous after the middle of June.

10. Molva vulgaris (Lota Molva—Cuvier, and JENYNS); Common Ling. A specimen, 4r.
long, was taken in July, 1885. Dark oblique streaks along the dorsal fin.

11. Merlangus vulgaris; Whiting. A specimen was taken on the 9th of July, 1835. The first
dorsal fin has only 13 rays. :

12. Pleuronectes mazimus; Turbot. The specimen obtained is small and remarkable, having
no tubercles on the body.

The true Brill, or {’earl, has since been procured from Lough Foyle.

13. Pleuronectes : species nearly allied to Megastoma, but without tubercles on the lateral line.
The retral portion of the dorsal fin is widest. Body translucent.

14. Platessa vulgaris; Plaice. Very common. ,

15. Platessa Flesus ; Flounder. The sinistral variety very frequently met with.

16. Anguilla vulgaris; Common Eel. Caught with hook and line, at the quays of Derry, as
early as the 9th of June, 1835.

Acanthopterygious.

R

17. Gunnellus vulgaris (Murenoides guttata—LACEPEDE, and YARRELL) ; Spotted Gunnel, or
Butter Fish. Well described by Yarrell in the 5th part of his History of British Fishes (now pub-
lishing), though the spots should be on the back rather than on the dorsal fin. Though rare, this fish
has a considerable range, specimens having been since obtained from Larne, on the coast of Antrim.

18. Lophius piscatorius ; Angler, Frog-fish, or Sea Devil. Many of this species are met with
in Lough Foyle, where they are called Herring Hogs. A specimen of this unsightly fish was recently
stranded near Derry, having been previously wounded, but still alive. The extreme length of the
specimen examined was 3F. 91., and the expanded jaws measured 121. by 101. A second specimen has
been since obtained. The admirably characteristic representations o{ this fish, in the 6th part of
Mzr. Yarrell's work, exhibit all its peculiarities, and give a vivid notion of the formidable armature of
strong, curved teeth, with which its huge jaws are amply provided. A recent accident, noticed in the
Dublin journals, demonstrates still more clearly their egiciency as weapons of offence. A man, bathing
near Kingstown, was seized by the leg, and severely lacerated by one of these fishes. It was after-
wards captured, and the man is still suffering in hospital from the wounds he received.

19. Twigla Gurnardus ; Grey Gurnard. Taken on the 15th of July, 1885.

20. Cataphractus Schoneveldii; Common Pogge. Several specimens obtained—the largest
6 inches long. The angular form is preserved in the upper surface of the tail, though it is rounded
below. The number of rays in the pectoral fins is 16 : Fleming says 18, Yarrell—15. In November
and December, 1835, this fish was a most abundant species in Lough Foyle.

21. Mugil Capito (CuviEr and YARRELL; M. Cephalus—FLEMING); Common Mullet. It is
frequently of considerable size : one taken on the 30th of June, 1835, measured 2F. 11.

22. Zeus Faber ; Doree. This was taken on the 9th of July, 1835. Inthe lst dorsal fin there
were 9 rays,—in the pectoral 13—both numbers agreeing with those of Yarrell.

MOLLUSCA.

Cephalopoda.

Loligo vulgaris ; Calamary : the Great Cuttle of Pennant. Taken in the Culmore net. The
fins were in this specimen narrower than is usual, and much thickened at the edges. The spots were
principally on the right half of the animal—an arrangement traceable even on the arms and feet
Length of sac—91.

Conchifera.

Mya arenaria ; Abundant—buried in the sand, near low-water mark at Culmore Point. This is
sometimes called Brallion, but the same name seems to be applied to other shell-fish.

From the position of the parish little variety could be expected in shells,—and few, indeed, there
are—the above-mentioned, together with the Turbo littoreus, or Periwinkle, and small specimens of
the Mytilus edulis, or Common Mussel, constituting by far the greater portion.

Here then may cease this slight sketch of some of the leading features of the Zoology of the
parish, which will be filled up in its details, and completed, in the zoological description of the county.
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PART IL

ARTIFICIAL STATE.

MODERN.

Towns.—The CiTY of LONDONDERRY is included within this parish.

NaMe.—DERRY, in Irish Doine—the popular name of the place—means literally a « place of
oaks,” but is also used to express a ¢ thick wood:” it is so explained by Colgan (1645)—an Irish
topographer of the highest authority—in his Acta Sanctorum: p. 566 [recté 562]. This word,
however, was not topographically used by the ancient Irish without the addition of some distinctive
epithet, as in Doine dpopcais, Doine Lopam, &c. : thus the original Pagan appellation of this place
was Ooipe Cal;alé, or Derry-Calgach—the ¢ oak wood of Calgach,”— Calgach, which si 'f?es a
“ fierce warrior,” being the proper name of a man in Pagan times, and rendered illustrious as ﬁgacm
in the pages of Tacitus. In su7p ort of this etymology may be adduced the high authority of
Adamnan—abbot of Iona, in the 7th century—who, in his Life of his predecessor, St. Columbkille,
invariably calls this place ¢ Roboretum Calgagi,” in conformity with his habitual substitution of Latin
equivalents for Irish topographical names. For a long period subsequent to the 6th century, in which
a monastery was erected here by St. Columbkille, the name of Derry-Calgach prevailed; but, towards
the latter end of the 10th century, it seems to have yielded to that of Derry-Columbkille—no other
appearing in the Irish annals after that period. In subsequent ages, when the place had risen in
importance above every other Derry, the distinctive epithet Columbkille was dropped as no louger
necessary ; and such is the effect of long established usage that the English prefix zfmdon—impera-
tively imposed by the original charter of James L., and preserved with pride by the colonists for a lo
time after—has likewise fallen into popular disuse. Indeed this mode of abbreviation is usual in Irelan?
whenever the name of a place is compounded of two distinct and easily separable words: thus, in the
counties of Antrim and Down, Carrickfergus is shortened into Carrick, Downpatrick into Down,
Iniscourcy into Inch, &c. .

It may, perhaps, not be unworthy of remark that the English prefix London, and the original Irish
name Derry, are equally traceable to a Celtic—or, more correctly, Scythic—origin; and that, by a curious
coincidence, the word LoNDON seems as graphically descriptive of the modern locality as DERRY was of
the ancient. By Lruyp, and other British etymologists, it is interpreted the ¢ town of ships,” from
long in British, and Irish, ¢ship,”—and dinasin British, or oun in ﬁish, <« fortress,”—(the dunum of
the Romans,) which is the root of the word ¢« town.” This derivation is, however, merely conjectural;
and the Celtic compound Lonn-ohn, signifying a ¢ strong fortress,” is as likely to have been the original
signification of LoNpoN. Either explanation is, however, curiously applicable to Londonderry, or
Connotin-voipe, which would mean in Irish what the English have really made the city—the ¢ship
town,” or «fortified town, of Derry;” and it may be added that an etymology similar to the former
may be found in the name of an ancient fortress, a few miles higher up the river, called Dtn na long—
«fortress of ships,” or ¢town of ships,” as it has been preserved to the present time.

Locarity.—The city of Derry, or Londonderry, is in latitude 54° 59’ N., and longitude 7°-19’
W. Its distance from Dublin by the present mail-coach road is nearly 144 miles. It is in the diocese
of Derry, and the N. W. circuit of assize.

The citg' is placed on the western or Donegal side of the Foyle, about 5 miles above the
junction of that river with Lough Foyle, and 14 below Lifford. This situation is equally remarkable
for its distinguished local advantages and picturesque features, being a hill nearly insulated by a broad
and navigable river, and commanding on every side views of a country, rich in natural and cultivated
beauty.  This hill, which in troubled times was selected as the natural acropolis of the North,
comprised till lately within its limits the whole of the city and suburbs; but Londonderry, in its
days of prosperity and peace, has spread beyond its natural military boundary, and is now rapidly
.extending northerl}f towards the lough, along the bank of the river. The « Hill,” or ¢ Island, of
Derry,” as it is still usually called, which is og an oval form, ascends to an elevation of 119 feet, and
contains 1994. 3r. 30rp.

D
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HISTORY.
BEFORE THE REIGN OF ELI1ZABETH.
Section 1.—GENERAL.

THE history of Derry, anterior to the close of the reign of Elizabeth, is almost wholly ecclesias-
tical ; and in relation to its state in Pagan times nothing certain is recorded, except its name—Oo1pe-
Calgaié,—and the fact of its being a pleasant eminence covered with oaks. The erection of a
monastery here by the celebrated thaumaturgus and apostle of Scotland—St. Columb—is assigned by
the best authorities to the year 546, at which period that distinguished person was about twenty-five
years of age ; and it is said that this was the first of the saint’s  ecclesiastical foundations, from the
great number of which he received the cognomen Cille, or Kille—that is «of the cells,” or
¢ churches,”—usually appended to his name. The exact era of this foundation, as well as the various
circumstances connected with that event, are, however, involved in deep obscurity. According to
O’Donnell, prince of Tirconnell, who wrote the Life of St. Columb in 1520, the locality of Derry was
bestowed upon the saint by Aid, the son of Ainmirach, at that time a very young prince, who had there
his residence. This Aid and the saint were of the same Connellian stock—the former being descended
in the fifth, and the latter in the fourth degree from Connell Gulban (a son of Niall the Great), from
whom the country of Tirconnell received its name.' But it appears certain that Aid, if he were in
existence, could hardly have beena powerful prince at the period assigned to this donation, as it is
known from authentic sources that his father Ainmirach, who was cousin-german to the saint, did not
ascend the Irish throne till 568 —that is, twenty-two years later,—and he was himself slain in battle in
598-9, two years after the death of Columb, who died at the a%e of 76, or 77. 'The foundation of the
monastery of Derry must have therefore taken place at a mach later period, as Colgan acknowledges, or
the statement of O’Donnell must be regarded as a groundless legend. Warving this objection, however,
which has been already advanced by Colﬁan and Lanigan, there is another of greater weight, which has
not hitherto occurred to investigators of Irish history, namely—that it is contradictory to all authentic
Irish authorities to allow that Aid, or any other Tirconnellian prince, possessed the gower to make any
gift of Derry, or the lands adjacent, which, as shewn in the County History, were then, and for nearly
a thousand years after, within the territory of the Kinel-Owen, or descendants of Eogan, another son
of Niall, —to whom, according to the Book of Lecan (f. 70), the Clilea¢ Tip, or country of Aileach,
which included Derry and the barony of Inishowen (now popularly Ennishowen), was given as a patri-
mony for his descendants. Indeed, as not even a shadow of ancient authority has been found to sup-
port O’Donnell’s statement, there is reason to believe that it was fabricated by ti;at bioErapher, or some of
the bards of his house, to support those claims to the possession of Derry and Inishowen, which had
been fiercely contested by t{:e Kinel-Connell with the Kinel-Owen for upwards of a century before.

Of the history of the saint himself, as connected with Derry, but little is recorded. he village
of Gartan, in Donegal, has, according to O’Donnell, the honour of being his birth-place. In 563 he
sailed to Iona from Derry, accompanied by twelve associates, or disciples, for the purpose of preaching
Christianity to ¢ the northern Picts, who were still in a state of Paganism, and forthe better instruction
of his countrymen who were settledin Argyle and ‘other adjacent tracts.” (LaNIGAN.) He returned
to Derry in 590, when he assisted at the great national council of Drumkeat ; whence, after visiting
some neighbouring monasteries of his own foundation, he sailed back to Iona, where hé died on the
morning of Sunday, the 9th of June, 597. ' '

The ancient records of the Irish churches, as preserved in the brief notices of the annalists, pre-
sent but little to interest the general reader: they are merely records of their misfortunes, and
obituaries of the most distinguished men connected with them. {Infortunately even such notices are,
in respect to the church of Derry, unusually barren, in consequence of the destruction of its local
chronicle—the Leabon Doipe—as well as of all the other chronicles connected with the county : but,
meagre as they confessedly are, they aré' yet valuable to the serious investigator, as evidences of the
progress of society, and of the origin of family names still commonly found in the district; and, as
tributary to these legitimate objects of statistical inquiry, use shall be made of them in the pre-
sent Memoir. It is chiefly by attending to such evidences, in connexion with the ancient written

enealogies, that the families of Irish origin in the district can now in many instances be distinguished
ftom those of the English and Scottish settlers, to whose names they usually assimilate their
own, whenever it seems practicable, and thus cause an utter confusion in respect to the origin
of the three races, leaving them only distinguishable by their characteristics of habits, religion, and
physiognomy. Thus O’ Criochain becomes Creighton,—Mac Cathmhaoil Camphill, Campbell, and
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Caulfield,— O’ Brolchain, or Brollaghan Bradley,— O’ Caireallain Curland, Carleton, &c. &c. It may
be proper tostate that in all instances, where the authority is not cited throughout the following notices,
they are to be considered as taken from the Irish originals of the Annals of“tie Four Masters.

783. ¢ Derry-Calgach was burned.” : :

832. « Niall Caille and Murchadh defeated the foreigners at Derry- h, with great
slaughter” :—that is—the Danes and Norwegians, by whom Ireland was first infested in 795.

989. « Derry-Calgach was plundered by the foreigners.”

997. « Derry-Calgach was plundered by the foreigners.”

1095. -« The abbey was consumed by fire.”—(Annals of Munster.) .

1100. « A large fleet of foreigners was brought by Murtagh [O’Brien] to Derry:. however,
they were unable to execute vengeance, or commit aggression, being opposed by the son of Mac
Loughlin, who defeated them with great slaughter, both by the sword and drowning.”

1121. « Donnell, the son of Ardgar Mac Loughlin, monarch of Ireland, the most distinguished of
the Irish for personal form, nobility of birth, wisdom, feats of arms, wealth, and prosperity, for bestow-
ing riches and food, died in Derry-Columbkille, in the 38th year of his reign, and 77th of his age, on

ednesday night, the 4th of the 1des of February, on the festival of Mochuarog.”

1124. « Ardgar, the son of Hugh, heir apparent to the throne of Aileach, was killed by the people
[that is—the ecclesiastics] of Derry, in defence of [the ehurch of ] Columbkille.”—(See also the Life
of Gelasius, in CoLcaN’s Acta Sanctorum : c. 5.)

1135. ¢« Derry-Columbkille, with its churches, was burned on the 30th of March.” Colgan, in
respect to this fire, states that ¢ as some conjecture, it was caused by a person desiring to revenge the
death of the chief [ Ardgar], who had beeu lately slain there.”—(Zb. c. 6.) .

1146. « A violent tempest happened on the 8rd of December, which prostrated much timber
throughout Ireland. It threw down sixTY TREES [“ sexaginta robora,” according to Colgan], in Derry-
Columbkille, by which many persons were killed and disabled in the church.” This interesting record
establishes the existence at so late a period, of the oak wood, from which the place had originally re-
ceived its name.

1149. « Derry-Columbkille was burned.”

1150. « The visitation of Kinel-Owen was made by Flahertach O’Brolchain, coarb [successor] of
Columbkille, and he received a horse from every taoipeac¢ [nobleman], a cow from every two biararg
-Pictuallers, officers somewhat similar to the Roman parochzbl, a cow from every three freemen, and one

rom every four of the common people. He received from Murtagh Mac Neill O’Loughlin, king of Ire-
land, twenty cows, a gold ring weighing five ounces, and his own horse and dress.”

1151. «Flahertach O’Brolchain, coard of Columbkille, made a visitation throughout Siol-Cathasaigh
Pn the countﬁ of Antrim], and received a horse from every nobleman, and a sheep from every dwel-

ing-house. He also received from Cu-uladh [Cooley] O’Flynn, the lord of the territory, his own
thorse, his dress, and a gold ring weighing two ounces. :

1153. « Flahertach O’Brolchain, coarb of Columbkille, made a visitation throughout Dal-Carb
[perhaps Dal-Riada, from Cairbre Riada, in the county of Antrim], and Iveagh [in the couut{ of Down],
and received a horse from every nobleman, a sheep from every dwelling-house, a pepeapall [scruple ],
;illor.sfg, :ud five cows from O’Donslevy [Donlevy], lord of the territory, and an ounce of gold from

wife.

The receding notices present some curious particulars relative to the constitution and state

" of society in Ireland at this early period, as well as to the mode sometimes resorted to by the clergy
for procuring funds to raise any expensive sacred edifice—a purpose, which, as will presently appear,
was the chief, if not the sole cause of these remarkable visitations. It is evident from the term paop-
€ué, or « freemen” (translated by Colgan « liberis personis”), which is applied by the annalists to
‘distinguish persons of property from the oiothomneié—the « plebeians,” or “ common people”—
that the latter were still no better than serfs, or slaves, as they existed among the Saxons in Britain,
as they exist in Russia at this day, and as they continued in the Scotch collieries to so recent a period
.as the year 1775. (See the New Statistical Account of Scotland: no.7; p. 225. Note *.) To
establish this fact much additional evidence might be adduced. It is also clear that minted money
was as yet unknown as a circulating medium, at least in the north of Ireland, and that . the value of
the precious metals was estimated only by weight. ,

Gold as well as silver rings, of the kind mentioned above, are frequently found, and are sometimes
of elegant, but generally of the rudest workmanship. They are of various sizes, and are graduated
regularly according to the scale of Troy weight, from half a penny-weight, the lowest hitherto dis-
covered, to a pound, and upwards. The rings, most commonly found in Ireland, are, however, of
bronze, but sometimes of jet and stone. Ring-money must be of great antiquity, and is probably of
_eastern origin. (See WILKINSON'S Thebes.) Casar records the use of iron gingvmoney among the

: D . .
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Britons. Links (zinoe), or rings, of metal are mentioned in the Book of Rights—a work anterior to

the 10th century—as paid to the king of Aileach, by one of his tributary dynasts. To those ae-

quainted with northern literature the phrase ¢ exacter of rings” (that is—tribute,) will be familiar.

gee the very valuable essay on this subject, by Sir William Betham, in the Transactions of the
oyal Irish Academy : vol. 18.)

Thus far these brief notices relate exclusively to the abbey of Derry, and its dependent town;
or village : those which follow will include the cathedral and bishopric, concerning the foundation
of which it will be proper to give some account in this place.

That there were any fixed episcopal sees, or uninterrupted successions of bishops in Ireland, pre-
viously to about the year 1118—when, at the council of Rath-Breasail, by the influence of the ﬁapal
power, the island was regularly partitioned into dioceses, and their boundaries fixed—may be, perhaps,
doubted,—though somet%ling approaching to a regular succession is supposed to be found in the successors
of St. Patrick, at Armagh, and the general fact of the existence of more ancient fixed bishop-
rics has not ‘been hitherto questioned. This, however, is not the proper place for entering on the
evidences of a question of so much importance, and magnitude. It is enough for the present to
state that the greater part, if not the whole, of the church property in the modern ' county of Derry
appears from the charter, and the several Inquisitions relative to church property, first taken by the
English in the county, to have been anciently of the nature of termon or erenach lands, enjoyed by
the several septs in course of gavelkind, without being sul()iject to any episcopal jurisdiction, or
control. Thus, in the Inquisition taken in the city of Londonderry, on the 1st of September, 1609,
the jurors find that « touchinge the severall names of herenagh, termon and corbe, the said jurors
doe uppon their oathes finde and present that all termon and herenagh land within the said countie
was att the first given by Collumkill and the succeeding abbotts unto the severall septs before any
busshops were knowne to be in this countrie ; and that the said land was free and had the griviledges
of sanctuarie and other liberties, and was enjoyed by the sept in course of gavelkynde.” This is
further corroborated by the Inquisition taken at Limavaddy, on the 80th of August, in the same
year, by a jury composed of fifteen gentlemen of the dpriqcipal septs of the country, viz:—¢ and further,
touchinge the originall and difference of corbes and herenaghes, and of the termon lands of the said
countie of Colrane, the said jurors doe, uppon their oathes, finde and say, that Donell Mc. Hugh
O’Neale, kinge of Ireland {in 635], did, longe before any bushopps were made in the said king-
dome of Ireland, give unto certaine holy men, whom they call Sancti Patres, severall portions of
land and a third parte of all the tiethes, to thend [the end] they should say praiers and beare a third

arte of the c,harSge of repairinge and mainteyning the parishe church, thother twoe third parts beinge
rne by the parson and viccar to whom the rest of the tiethes is yerely paied, and alsoe for their owne
honor and sustentation; and that afterwards the said holy men did give unto severall septs severall
roportions of the said lands, and placed one or more of them in everie parishe, and withall gave unto
Eim a third parte of the tiethes of that parishe, to hould both the said land and the third parte of the
tiethes, for ever, accordinge to the course of tanistrie, free from all exactions, and that for that cause
the land was called termon or free, and the tennant thereof some tymes called corbe and sometymes
herenagh, and that the said corbe or herenagh was to beare a third part of the chardge in repairinge
-and maynteyninge the parishe church, and that the said portion of land, and the thirde parte of the
tiethes soe contynued free unto the corbe or herenagh, for many yeres, untill the church of Rome
established bushopps in this kingdome, and decreed that everie corbe or herenagh should give unto
the bushopp (witl':m whose dioces he lived) a yerely pension, more or less, accordinge to his pro-
portion out of his entire erenachie, consistinge of the said land and the said third parte of the tiethes,
and that thereunto the said corbes and herenaghes submitted themselves, but held their herenaghie
free for ever, and could not be removed by any of the temporall or spirituall lords, oy [or] other
person whatsoever.”

As these Inquisitions, then, clearly refer to a period anterior to the existence of any fixed episcopal
jurisdiction in this county, as well as to the subsequent time in which the bishopric was established,
and its revenues settled and defined, there is solid ground for the conclusion—that this important innova-
tion was an immediate result of the decree of the Rath-Breasail council, above spoken of. Keating,
from the Annals of Clonenagh (a work now lost), recards that at that synod—over which, in corrobora-
tion of the Inquisitions, it may be well to state that Giolla Easpuic, or Gillebert, the first papal legate sent
to Ireland, presided—it was settled that the bishopric of Raphoe, or Derry, as it is improperly called,
should extend from €ap Ruad (now the cataract at Baﬁyshannon,) to 8pub bpém (now Sroove
Point in the north-east of Inishowen), and from Cépn glap to Spub bpéin:—the bishopric of Ard-
straw, or Rathlury, from Shiab Lépgo to Cépn glar, and (northward) from Lo¢ Cpur to Heann
Fhoibne (now Benyevenagh, in Magilligan) :—the bishopric of Connor (eastward) from &eann Fhoibne
to Top dhuipg (now Tor Point in the county of Antrim)—(southward) from Mupboly, (now
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anln
Murloug‘? Bay,) to the harbour of Snérh Cligm inow sm Lough), and from Hleann Rige (the
vale of the Newry River,) to Colba ﬁeapmumn. t appears from the Annals of the Four Masters
that Carn-glas was situated between the churches of Raphoe and Donaghmore ; and it will be seen in
Beaufort’s Ecclesiastical Map that the common boundary of the dioceses of Derry and Raphoe still
runs nearly midway between these two churches—It is difficult now to ascertain the modern names
of all these ancient places—but for the present purpose there is sufficient known to shew that
the portion of the modern diocese of Derry, situated to the west of the river Foyle, belonged to the
bishopric of Raphoe, or Tirconnell, and that the portion east of the Foyle had been divided between
the bishoprics of Ardstraw, or Tyrone, and Connor—the former, as nearly as can be ascertained,
comprising the district west, and the latter the district east of the river Roe. Shortly after this settle-
ment the seat of the bishopric of Tyrone, which comprised the greater portion of the modern county of
Derry, appears to have been removed from Ardstraw to Rathlury, the present Maghera, but the exact
time of this change has not been ascertained.

The subsequent establishment of a distinct episcopal see at Derry, as now constituted, is supposed
lg all the modern ecclesiastical historians of Irerand to have taken place in 1158, when Flahertach

Brolchain, the then abbot of the monastery, was undoubtedly raised to the episcopal dignity by a
decree of the council held at Brigh-mac-Taidhg, in the north of Meath. The circumstances connected
with this event are thus related by the Four Masters :— :

¢ An assembly was held b tl{e Irish clergy at Brigh-mac-Taidhg, in the territory of Hy-Laoghaire,
at which were present twenty-five bishops, together with the apostolic legate, for the purpose of esta-
blishing ecclesiastical discipline and the improvement of morals. In this assembly the clergy of Ireland,
and the coarb of St. Patrick Earchbishop of Armagh], decreed by common consent that a bishop’s chair
g;caéuom €appoicc”], and the supreme superintendence of all the abbeys in Ireland [that is—of the
lumbian order], should be given to the coarb of Saint Columbkille, Flahertach O’Brolchain. The
bishops of Connaught set out on their way to this synod, but they were robbed and beaten, and two of
their people killed, by the soldiers of Dermot O’Melaghlin, king of Meath, at the wooden bridge at
Clonmacnoise, after they had passed through the town : they then returned home.”

The promotion of O’Brolchain to the episcopal dignity was the result of the friendship of the
celebrated primate, Gelasius, or Gilla-mac-Liag, who was distinguished not less for abilities and virtues
than for the zealous assistance which he renmgered in establishing the discipline and influence of the
church of Rome in Ireland. Gelasius was himself of a Derry sept, as it appears that he had been coard,
or erenach, of the monastery of Derry, previously to his promotion to the archiepiscopal chair of
Armagh. These facts are ascertained from the Lié of Gelasius, as quoted by Colgan.—(See Triadis
Thaumaturge, &c.: p. 504.)

¢ Blessed Gelasius, an indefatigable undertaker of pious labours, presided over an assembly con-
vened in the territory of Meath, in which, after enacting many sacred and wholesome institutes
eoncerning morals, and the discipline of the clergy and people, he caused Flahertach O’Brolchain, a
student of Derry, and formerly his disciple whilst he presided over that community, and the brother,
(as I suppose,) .of blessed Maolbrigid O’Brolchain, P;uﬂ‘ragan] bishop of Armagh, not only to be

romoted to the episcopal dignity, but also to be placed as chief director over all the abbeys in

land.”—(See the Life of Gelasius, in CoLGAN’s Acta Sanctorum : c. 31.)

But, though the authorities now cited leave no doubt as to the fact of O’Brolchain having been
raised to « the episcopal dignity,” they are far from being so conclusive as is generally supposed in
respect to the establishment of a new see at Derry ; and there is much, if not satisfactory evidence to
shew that this event did not take place for a century later. In the first place, it is no where stated (as
it most probably would, if it had been the fact,) that a bishopric, with its limits or boundaries defined,
was fixed here at this period; and, if the elevation of the abbot be held sufficient to imply the esta-
blishment of a bishopric, there would be equal reason to conclude that there had been one two centuries
earlier, as several of O’Brolchain’s predecessors in the abbacy had been of the episcopal order. Next,
it is certain that O’Brolchain did not résign his abbacy on his promotion, but retained it till his death.
And, lastly, no successors of that abbot in the bishopric can be found for an entire century—his sup-
Eosed successors being, as will be proved in the notices of the prelates, not properly bishops of Derry,

ut of Tyrone—that 1s of Ardstraw, or Rathlury. However, be this for the present as it may, it appears
from the Annals that the new bishop lost no time after his elevation in collecting funds, and making
other preparations to erect a church in Derry, more worthy of his rank and power than that already in
existence.

1161. « O'Loughlin led an army into Meath, to hold a conference with the men of Ireland, both
clergy and laity, at Ath-na-Dairbrighe, and he received hostages from them all. It was on this occasion
that the churches of Columbkille in Meath and Leinster were liberated by Flahertach O’Brolchain,
coarb of Saint Columbkille, and their tributes and government given up to him. These churches were
under slavery till then.”
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1161. « The visitation of Ossory was made by Flahertach O’Brolehain, and his due was seven
score of oxen; but in their place he chose to receive four hundred and twenty ounces of pure silver.”
1162. ¢« Flahertach O’Brolehain, coardb of Columbkille, and Muirchertach O’Loughlin,. king of
Ireland, removed the houses from the abbey church of Derry. On this occason eighty houses, or
‘more, were removed from their places, and the coard of Columbkille erected Caweal an Uplém
the enclosure of thelevel], and he left a curse on him that should ever come over it.” This cashel was
‘the circular wall, or fort, which surrounded the Abbey Church, &c.

1168. « A lime-kiln, seventy feet every wa{, was built by Flahertach O’Brolchain, coard of
Columbkille, and by the congregation of Columbkille [ecclesiastics of Derry], in twenty days.” Colgan
states that this kiln was erected to burn lime for the repairs of the abbey, which was destroyed by
fire in 1149, but erroneously : its true purpose will be seen in the following account of the erection of
the Temple More :—

1164. « The Temple More [or Great Church,] of Derry, extending eighty feet [or paces
—¢ passus”,—as Colgan supposes], was erected by Flahertach O’Brolchain, coarb of Colambkille, and
by the congregation of Columbkille, assisted by Muirchertach O’Loughlin, king of ireland, and they
completed it in forty days”—or, as Colgan with more accuracy states, eighty days.

Henceforward the original abbey church of 8t. Columb -%pe-rs in these Aunals distinguished
from the Ten;Fle More, or cathedral, by the appellation of Duib Regler (Dwv-Regles,) i.e. Black
Abbey Church.

1y166. « Derry-Columbkille was burned as far as the church called Duv-Regles,” by Rory Mac-
kanny Macgilmory O’Morna, according to the Annals of Muanster.

1168. « The chiefs of the Kinel-Owen [ Tyronians], and the coard of Derry, went to the house
of Rory O’Conor, king of Ireland, to Athlone [to make submission], and brought home with them
gold and elothes, and many kine.” :

1177. « Niall O’Gormly, lord of Moy-Iha and Kinel-Enda, was slain by Donogh O’Caireallain,
and the Clan-Dermot, in the middle of Derry-Columbkille. They first burned the house in which he
was, and Niall, in endeavouring to escape, was killed in the door-way of the house. Donogh O’Cai-
reallain then made his perfect peace with God, Saint Columbkille, and the clergy of Derry, for himself
and his posterity, and he promised his own mancine ;ﬂﬂ.ﬂ;oand those of his sons and posterity for
ever, to 8aint Columbkille and the clergy of Derry. made over to them a townland in the
parish of Donaghmore, and delivered up to them the most valuable goblet at that time in Ireland
[ which goblet was called Mac Riabac), as :nfle(:ﬁf for a gift of sixty cows. There was also & house
erected for the clerk in lieu of that of O’Gormly, which had been burned, and he ﬁO’Caireallain] made
reparation for all damage caused by the burning. The Clan-Dermot also gave ful

of the damage.”

1178. ¢« A violent storm occurred in this year, to the great destruction of trees. It tore up large
oaks by the roots, and among the rest one hundred and twenty trees were prostrated in Berry
Columbkille.”

1180. « Randal O’Caireallain was killed by the Kinel-Moen [ O’Gormlys], in the middle of Derry-
Columbkille.”

1188. ¢ Donnell O’Canannain wounded his foot with an axe at Derry, as he was cutting a piece of
wood, and died of his wound. The accident occurred in consequence of his having received the curse
of the clergy of Derry.” :

. ¢ Edaoin, daughter of O’Quin, and queen of Munster, died on her pilgrimage at Derry, vic-
torious over the world ang the devil.”

1192. « The door of the refectory of the church of Saint Columbkille, called Duv-Regles, was
made by O’Catdn na Cpaoibe [O’Kane of the Creeve—a district nearly identical with the barony
of Coleraine ], and by the daughter of O’Inneirghe”—now O’Henery, a family name of the Kinel-Owen,
located about Ballynascreen.

1195. ¢« Conor Mac Facbtna died in the church of Derry.”

. % The church of Derry was plundered by Rury, the son of Donslevy, and the English ; but
soon after his whole armi: was cut to pieces at Armagh.”’—{(Annals of Inisfallen.)

1196. « Murtagh, the son of Murtagh O’Loughlin, lord of Tyrone, heir presumptive to the throne
of Ireland, tower of the valour and achievements of Lec ¢uinn, destroyer of tg: cities and castles of the
English, founder of churches and sanctuaries (newneada), was killed by Donogh, son of Blosgadh
O:‘ﬁane, at the instigation of the Kinel-Owen, who had pleﬂged themselves before the three shrines
aud the canons of Saint Patrick to be loyal to him. His body was caeried to Derry, and there in-
terred with honour and veneration.” : . :

1197. « John de Courcy, and the English of Ulidia [the county of Down], marched with an army
to Eas Craoibbe [now the Cuts’ Fishery] : they erected the castle of Kill-Sanctain [near Colersine}, and
plundered and laid waste the territory of Kianachta, In the castle they left Rotsel Pyton [Paytoa],

satisfaction for their
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together with a large body of forees, who, issuning from the castle, commenced plundering and destroy-
ing the country and churches. Rotsel Pyton soon after set out upon a predatory exeursion, and
coming ta the harbour of Derry he plundered the churches of Cluain-i, Eanach, and Dearg-bhruach,
but he and his party were overtaken by Flahertach O’Maoldoraidh, lord of Tyrone and Tirconnell,
sad some of the northern Hy-Niall. A battle ensued on the shore of Ua-Congbhala [ Faughanvale),
in which the English and the son of Ardgar Mac Loughlin were dreadfally slaughtered through the.
miracles of Saints Columbkille, Caineach, and Brecan, whose churches they had plundered.”

1197. « Mac Etig, one of the Kianachts, robbed the akar of the Temple More of Derry, carryi
away the four richest goblets in Ireland, viz.—one called Mac Riabag, [see 1177]; a second calle
Mac Sotarp; the goblet of O’Maoldoraidh [O’Muldorry]; and the goblet of O’Doherty, called Cam
copamn Ecrooked ioble‘t]. He broke them and took off their jewels. On the third day after this
robbery these jewels and the robber were discovered. He was hanged at Cpop na piag [the cross of
executions], for his profanation of the altar of Saint Columbkille.” .

. % Eachmarcach O’Doherty, surnamed Hrolla rpén maoil [the youth with the flat nose],
immediately after O’Muldorry’s death, assumed the government of Tirconnell. A fortnight after his
election John de Courcy, at the head of a great army, crossed the ferry of Tuaim [now Toome
Bridge,] into Tyrone, thence proceeded to Ardstraw, and afterwards marched round to the town of
Derry, where he and his troops remained five nights.” According to the Annals of Boyle, « O’Dohert

after a reign of one month was slain with many others by John de Hunt”—most probably on this
oocasion. , :

1198. «John de Courcy made an incursion into Tyrone, to plunder the churches. Ardstraw and
Raphoe were plundered and destroyed by him. He afterwards arrived at Derry, where he remained a
week and two days, plundering Inishowen and all the adjacent country. While John de Courcy was
thus engaged Hugh Boy O’Neill sailed with five ships to Kill-Latharna [ Larne], burned a part of the -
town, and killed eighteen of the Elr:flish. The English of Moylinny and Dalaradia mustered three
hundred men, who marched against Hugh. Hugh had no intimation of their approach until they sur-
rounded him, while in the act of burning the town [Larne], and a battle ensue«f in which the English
were defeated. The English were routed five times before they took to their ships. Hugh lost only
five of his people. As soon as John de Courcy had received intelligence of this he left Derry.”

1208, ¢« Derry was burned from the burial ground of Saint Martin to the well of Saint Adamnan.”

1211. « Thomas Mac Uchtry, with the sons of Randal, who was son of Samhairle [Mac Don-
nell], came to Derry with a fleet of seventy-six ships; and, after hsving plundered and destroyed the
town, passed thence into Inishowen, and destroyed the whole peninsula.” . :

1212. ¢« Donnell O’Davine [now Devine,i' was slain by the sons of Mac Loughlin, in the porch
of the church of Derry.”

1218. « Thomas Mac Uchtry, and Rory Mac Randal, plundered Derry, and from the middle of
the church of Derry carried off with them to Cuil-raithen [Coleraine] all the jewellery of the people of
Derry, and of the north of Ireland.”

rr}i'his Thomas Mac Uchtry, [Mac Uchtred, or Gothred], who was the brother of Allan de Gal-
loway, got a grant from King John, in the following year, of O’Neill’s countrg‘of Tyrone, excepting the
canthred of Tullaghog, retained by the king. In the charter he is styled Thomas de Galloway, earl
of Athol.—(Rot. ex. Joh ; xv. 1214.) E;See County History.]

——. « O’Kane, and the Fip na Cpaoibe Pnen of the Creeve], came to Derry, to storm the
house of the sons of Mac Loughlin. The vicar of the church of Derry, who interposed to make peace
between them, was killed. God and Saint Columbkille wrought a miracle upon this occasion, for
Mahon Magaithne, the person who collected the army, was killed in the porch of the church, called
Duv-Regles, in defence of Columbkille.”

1214. « A depredation was committed by Hugh, the son of Melaghlin Mac Loughlin, upon the
coarb of Columbkille ; but Hugh himself was slain by the English a year after, through the miracles of
God and Saint Columbkille.”

1215, « Donogh O’Duibhdhiorma,u[lDoo iarma, now corruptly written Mec. Dermott,] chief of
Breadach, died at Derry, in the church called Duv-Regles.” :

1222. « Niall O’Neill plundered Derry, and the daughter of O’Kane. God and Saint Columb-
kille took revenge for this crime, for O’Neill did not live long after the perpetration of it.”

1250. « The upper end of the great church fell to the ground, on-the 8th of February.”

1259, « Hugh 8’Conor went to' Derry to espouse the daughter of Dubhgall [ Dugald], the son of
Somhairle [Mac Donnell].”

1261. « Sixteen of the most distinguished of the clergy of Tyrone were slain at Derry by Conor
O’Neill and the Kinel-Owen, together with Conor O’Firgil [now O’Freel]). Conor O’Neill was slain soon
afterwards by Donn O’Breslen, chief of Fanad, through the miracles of God and Saint Columbkille.”

1281. « Donnell Oge Q’Donnell, lord of Tirconnell, Fermanagh, Oriel, and the greater part of
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the Irish of all Ulster, and nearly all Connaught, and the entire of Breifny—the most illustrious man
of the Irish for hospitality, feats of arms, pre-eminence, and nobility, in his time, and the most
distinguished warrior of western Europe, was slain in the battle of Oireape v& épfoé [Desertcreat, in
Tyrone], in the 4lst year of his age, and interred in the monastery of Derry, after gaining victory
in goodness until that time.” -
. 1806. « Goffridus [Mac Loughlin] bishop of Deré sued Henry [Mlc-an-Crossan;‘ bishop of
Rapho for a messuage and 10 carucats of land, and 1000 acres of pasture sn Dere- Columbkille, which
he claimed as the right of his church of St. Columba of Dere, to which he [Henry] had no riﬁht except
by the gift of Dovenald [Oge] O’Dovenald, who had unjustly deprived Germanus [ O’Caireallain] late
bishop of Dere, and given it to Florence [O’Ferral, or, correctly, O’Firghil], late bishop of Rapho.”—
(Kot. Plac. com. Banco Regis Hib. 34 Edw: I:, Trinity Term. Richard de Exzon. Justiciar. no. 56.)

1310-11. « The king [ Edward IL.] appoints the bishop of Connor to inquire on the oaths of proper
men of the vicinage of Derry, Bothmen, Moybyle [Moville], and Fathun-murra [Fahan], and the
Crosses of Ulster, whether or not the king or any other person would be prejudiced if he should grant
to Richard de Burgo, earl of Ulster, that he might retain to himself and his heirs for ever the city of
Derry, 2 townlands in Bothmean in Inchetum [Inch Island], 2 messuages, and 8 carucats of land in
Moybyle and Fathun-murra, and the advowson of the moiety of the church of Inchetum, which are
held of the king, ¢n capite, as aforesaid, and which the said earl has obtained in fee from Goffridus
{Ma.c Loughlin]g, bishop of Derry, with the consent of his chapter, but without the license of. Edward

. 8th Feb.”—(Rot. Pat. 4 Edw : I1.)

1311, « The king grants the towns of Derrecolumkille and Loughlappan [in Inishowen,] to
Richard de Burgo, earl of Ulster.”—(Rot. Pat. 8 ¢t 4 Edw : I I.?

These three last notices indicate that, previously to the revolt of O’Neill, in 1333, Derry, as well
as Antrim, was under tolerable government. {See County History.]

1818. ¢ John, the son of Donnell O’Neill, was slain by O’Donnell (Hugh, the son of Donnell
.Oge), at Derry; and Mac Donnell, and many others, were slain and drowned.”
' 1587. « The son of O’Doherty (Niall (’,:aoch, the son of Gerald, who was son of Donnell, who
was son of Felim,) was slain in a nocturnal aggression, by Rory, the son of Felim O’Doherty, at
baile na g-candnac [the town of the canons), in the termon of Derry.”

- The Irish annals of Derry, preceding its occupation by the English, terminate here. Meagre,
-as already acknowledged, these notices are,—but they afford striking evidences of the continuation
in this part of the island, to so recent a period, of the original institutions of the country,
and saddening illustrations of the insecurity of life and property, and the amount of misery
and confusion, which were the inevitable results of such a social system. The town, if such it might
be called, was entirely ecclesiastical, and consisted almost exclusively of churches, and the habitations
of the monks and clergy. The former were evidently structures of stone, and the latter of wood, or
mud ; for in those days a stone house was called a castle,—and the only structure of that kind, recorded
-to have been then erected in Derry, was a small square tower, built by O’Doherty, in the 15th or
-16th century, for O’Donnell, on a spot of ground purchased for the purpose from the erenach Mac
Loughlin. Of this castle some remains are supposed still to exist in the old magazine—but of none of the
ancient ecclesiastical buildings is there a vestige to be found: they have shared the fate of the vene-
.rable oak grove, in the midst of which they were originally erected, and which, as has been shewn, had
been preserved through many successive ages with an equally religious veneration.

S1. CoLump’s CHURCH, or Duv-REGLEsS.—A passage in the Life of Saint Columb, written in the
16th century by O’Donnell, prince of Tirconnell, defines the position and form of the original church
of Derry, and shews that the preservation of the surrounding trees was considered by the clergy
as a sacred duty, imposed upon them by the patron saint himself. He writes thus:— Many other
signs and miracles were wrought by this servant of Christ in the same place, in which he himself dwelt
for a long time, and which he loved above every other; and particularly that beautiful grove very near
the monastery of Derry, which he wished should be always left standing. And he gave orders that,
should any one of its trees be prostrated by a storm, or by decay, it should not be removed until after

-the expiration of nine days, after which one-tenth part should be given to the poor, one-third be
reserved for the hearth og the guests, and the remainder be distributed among the people. From
this veneration for the grove, when the holy man was about erecting the church, commonly known by
the name of Duibh Regles, he preferred tﬁat the foundation of the building should be laid in a trans-
verse position, leaving the grove untouched, which by its density and contiguity rendered the place
narrow, rather than that the building should, according to the usual custom, be made to look to the east, by
clearing away part of the grove for that purpose. But, that he might not appear to deviate entirely
from the usage of the church, he ordered that the sacred altar, upon which he himself offered sacrifice,
should be erected at the eastern side of the building. The ruins of that church, remaining at this day
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15207, demonstrate that such was its situation.-—§See O’DonneLL’s Vita Columbe. Triad : Thaum:
p- 398.) It is probable that this original church of St. Columb did not receive the popular appellation
of Duv-Regles till after the erection of the Temple More, or Cathedral : Regles is constantly used in
the Irish annals to denote an abbey church, in contradistinction to Teampulf—a word of more exten-
sive, signification, but mostly applied to a church of the secular clergy.

’f:un.n Moge, or CaTHEDRAL and Rounp TowEr.—The peculiarity of position alluded to by
O’Donnell was, it is probable, the only feature which distinguished tﬁ'e v-Regles from the
cotemporaneous churches of the country, many of which still remain, and are remarkable for the
simplicity of their form and architecture. The Temple More, however, or Cathedral Church, erected
in 1164, was evidently one of the most distinguished ecclesiastical structures built in Ireland, previously
to the settlement of the Anglo-Normans, and was 80 feet in length, or, as Colgan conjectures, 80 paces.
According to the Four Masters this church was built in forty days, but the Annals of Ulster state that
¢ the stones were finished” in that time, and that the church was 90 feet in length.

These two churches, with the accompanying buildings, were situated adjacent to each other outside
the present citﬁ wall, on the ground now chiefly occupied by the Roman Catholic chapel and ceme-
tery; but, with the exception of the round-tower belfry, were partly destroyed by an explosion of
gunpowder in 1568, and finally by Docwra in 1600, for the purpose of employing their materials in the
new works he was erecting. This tower survived till after the siege, being marked on the maps, or
plans, of that time as the ¢ Long Tower or Temple More ;” and its site is still indicated by the name
of a lane, called the Long Tower. In the charter of Derry it is called ¢ Columb-kille’s Tower.”
In Raven’s plan of the city, in 1621, it appears as a very high and slender belfry ; but it is incorrectly
represented as square—a common error in the plans made by English artists in Ireland in that and
earlier times, as appears from many old maps among the manuscripts in the library of Trinity College.
In the popular traditions of Derry and its vicinity this tower is still invariably spoken of as a lofty round
tower, built by St. Columb himself, and 'many legends are current of its miracle-working silver bell. It
has been erroneously supposed by the Rev. Mr. Sampson that ¢«the old windmill,” so memorable
during the siege, and still existing as a ﬁigeon-house at the Cassino, was the remaios of this tower.

%unumw.—The Registry of the Honor of Richmond, according to Harris, states that an abbey
for nuns of the Cistercian order was founded at Derry in 1218, and Allemande says that the founder
was Turlogh Luinagh O’Neill: there was, however, no O’Neill of that name but the celebrated chief
of the 16th century—and it would axpear that the foundation of a nunnery must have been earlier than
that assigned, from a notice in the Annals of the Four Masters, which mentions the death of Bebinn, the
daughter of Mac Conchaille, female erenach of Derry, who died on the 23rd of March, 1134. It is

ossible that the nuns adopted the Cistercian rule in 1218, but the evidence is scarcely strong enough
o warrant the conclusion ; nor is it quite certain that there were any nunneries in Ireland of that order.
This nunnery was situated on the south side of the city, and its property is described in the Inquisitions.
"~ DominicaN ABBEY and CHURcH.—These buildings were foundedin 1274; but Archdall makes a
strange error in attributing their foundation to a request made of O’Donnell, prince of Tirconnell, by
St. Dominick himself, asit is certain that this saint, who established his order in 1216, died in 1221. De
Burgh, or Burke, properly treatsthis statement of St. Dominick’s request, which rests solely on the aythority
of Allemande, as a silly fable; and it is by no means certain that the O'Donnells had any claim to the
merit of this foundation. Nicholas ¢ the Loughlinnagh,” or Mac Loughlin, was prior in 1897.. The
number of friars in this house, previously to the suppression, was generally 150. It had the honour of
supplying two bishops to the see of Derry, and, according to O’Daly and De Burgh, of sending forth
five martyrs, namely—Donagh O’Luiny, prior of the order, and his brother, William O’Luiny, in 1608 ;
John O’Mannin, about 1637 ; John O’Laighin, prior, about 1657 ; and Clement O’Colgan, in 1704.
A convent of the order was maintained in Derry till a late period, which in 1750 contained nine brothers.

This church and abbey appear to have shared the fate of the other ecclesiastical buildings of Derry:
even their site is not now accurately known. It is certain, however, that they were on the north side
of the city, outside the present walls. '

AucusTINIAN CHURCH.—This church appears to have been the only religious house preserved on
the erection of the new city. It was repaired and used by the Londoners, previously to the erection
of the present cathedral, after which it was known as ¢ the little church.” This church was situated
within the walls, on the spot now occupied by the bishop’s garden; and, though Bishop Downham
complains, in his account of the diocese of Derry in 1625, that it was not capable of containing half
the auditory, it appears from the plans of the time to have been a large as well as somewhat elegant
structure of its kind. The erection of this church is not noticed in the annals, from which it may be
concluded that its date was not earlier than the close of the 18th century, for some time previously to
which the records of Derry are minute and accurate. It might, indeed, ﬁe supposed, from Ware, that
the Augustinians, or Canons Regular, had been established in Derry at an earlier period, as he speaks

of St. Gelasius as being an Augustine canon of the monastery of Derry before his promotion to
E .



26 CITY OF LONDONDERRY.

the primacy in 1137. This, however, is obviously an error of that usually most accurate investigator,
and apparently originated in his supposition that the Columbian monastery was of that order, though
it is certain that it did not exist before the 11th century, and there is no reason to suppose that any
establishments of the order were formed in Ireland before the arrival of the English.—(See LaNiGaN.)

FranciscaN Friary.—De Burgh states that there was a monastery of the Franciscan order
at Derry, but gives neither the name of its founder, nor the date of its erection. It appears
from the Inquisition of 1609 that this monastery belonged to the order of Begging Friars, or Friars
Mendicant, and was situated on the north side of the bog near the island of Derry, and had attached
to ita churchyard containing three acres, or thereabout. The site is now occupied by Abbey-street,
William-street, and Rosville-street, and the foundations of the church were discovered a few years ago
by workmen employed by Mr. Horner.

St. CoLump’s WELLS.—As connected ‘with the ancient history of Derry the sacred springs, called
St. Columb’s Wells, claim some notice in this place. They are, or rather were, three in number—for
one has been dried up, or diverted from its original locality,—and are situated near the Roman Catholic
chapel, outside the wall. It appears from the Irish annals that each of these wells had its peculiar
name, one being called Tobap &t’xuimém, another Tobap Méapeamn, and the third Cobap Coluim,
—but the two former names are now quite forgotten, and the springs are popularly called St. Columb’s
Wells. They are regarded with much superstitious veneration by the Roman Catholic peasantry, but
no celebration of St. Columb’s festival is now held at them.

St. CoLump’s SToNE.—In the centre of St. Columb’s Lane, adjacent to the Wells, there is a re-
markable stone, called St. Columb’s Stone, which is popularly regarded with a still higher veneration
by the aboriginal Irish of the district. It is of an irregular form, about three feet long, and ten inches
wide: the height above ground is one foot and a%nlf, and it has two oval hollows on each side,

artificially formed. Many foolish legends are current among the peasantry respecting the origin of these
hollows, which, it is supposed, are the impressions made by the saint’s knees when leaped from the
wall of the city. It may, however, be worth observing, that stones of this description are found in the
vicinity of most of the Irish churc!les, and usually bear the name of the founder, or patron saint: they
are always held sacred, and the rain-water, deposited in their hollows, is believed to possess a mira-
culous power in curing various diseases.

Section 2.—BioGrarHICAL.
Abbots, and other distinguished Persons, connected with the Churches of Derry.

TrE annalists are silent as to the successors of Columbkille in the abbacy of Derry, for more
than two centuries. This silence, as Colgan remarks, can only be accounted for by the fact that its
ancient chronicle has been lost, as well as those of the several religious houses in its vicinity, in which
notices of the distinguished men connected with it would have probably been preserved.

In connexion with this establishment Colgan enumerates thpe twelve associates and disciples of St.
Columba, who accompanied him from Derry to Iona, with their festival days, as recorded in the Irish
calendars. Their names, which occur in an appendix to the manuscript copy of the saint’s Life, by Adam-
nan, preserved in the Cottonian Library, were first published by l?sher, as an extract from that work.
They are as follows :— .

1. BAITHEN, who, according to the Genealogies of the Irish Saints, was the son of Brendan, the
son of Fergus, the son of Connell Gulban, the son of Niall of the Nine Hostages. He was also called
Comin, and was the immediate successor of St. Columb in the abbacy of Iona, where he was interred.
He died on the 9th of June, 595, on the anniversary of which day his memory was venerated, both
at Iona and at Teaghbaithin, or Taughboyne, in Tir-Enda, county of Donegal, of which church he
was the reputed founder.
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'

2. CoBTHACH, the brother of Baithen.—80th of July. . '

8. ErNAN, the maternal uncle of St. Columba. He became prepositus, or abbot, of Himba,
inthe Hebrides, and died in Iona, where he was interred.—18th of August—( T'riad: Thaum: p. 371.)

4. DiermiT, the minister of St. Columba.—6th, or 15th, of Januarj'.

5. Russ, or RussEN, the son of Rodan. He was abbot of Innisfreil.—7th of April.

6. FETCHUO, the brother of Russ.—23d of July.

7. ScANDAL, the son of Bressal, the son of E’;'lda, the son of Niall of the Nine Hostages.—
Srd of May.

8. Ifucun MoOCU-THEIMNE, or “the son of Teimne.” His paternal pedigree is thus given in the
Genealogies of the Irish Saints :—S. Lugaid, mac Eochaid, m. Illan, m. Eolﬂn, m. Niall Naigiallaigh (or
—of the Nine Hostages.)—His festival was kept in the church of Cluainlaogh, or Cluainlacidh, now
Clonleigh, in Donegal.—24th of March.

9. EocHob, who is supposed to have written a Life of St. Columba.—25th of January.

10. TorANNAN MocU-FIRCETEA.—29th of October. [?;

11. CAIRNAN, the son of Brandub, the son of Melgi.—31st of January.

12. GRELLAN.—15th of April, or 13th of July.

To this period belonged two other distinguished ecclesiastics, also noticed by Adamnan, as having
been interred at Derry, viz :—

St. BRaN, the son of Degill, and nephew of St. Columba by his sister Cumenia. His festival
was celebrated in the church of Claonadh, now Clane, county of Kildare.—18th of May.—( Triad :
Thaum : p. 467.)

St. BarTAN, of the race of Niadhtalairg.—29th of November.—(lb.z

St. ODpRAN, monk of Derry, died on the 27th of October, 563, at Iona, and was interred there.
He was the son of Aingin, who was the grandson of Connell Gulban.—27th of October.—(Zb. p. 482.)

The Annals of Ulster and of the Four Masters record, at the years 705 and 704, the death of St.
Mochonna, or Dachonna, abbot of Derry—a very distinguished man of his age—who, at a synod held
in 695, by Flann, archbishop of Armagh, and St. Adamnan, subscribed to the acts thereof under the
signature of ¢ Antistes Dorensis.” But, though Colgan, Dr. O’Conor, Dr. Lanigan, and other distin-
guished ecclesiastical antiquaries, took for grantes that I&ochonnawas abbot of Derry-Columbkille, it is ma-
nifestly an error. There were, as has been already remarked, many other places in Ireland, in the names
of which the word Derry formed a part, and among others was one called Doipe Moconna, or Derry
of Mochonna, and Doipe vipipe vaconna, or Derry-disirt of Dachonna, evidently from this saint, who was
the founder of a religious house there, and who is consequently in the Genealogies of the Saints, in the
Book of Lecan, styled patron of Derry—an appellation applied only to the founder of a religious house—
and it is certain that he was not the founder of the abbey at Derry-Columbkille. Thus he is properly
called by the annalists simply abbot of Derry, because it would have been superfluous, and contrary to
custom, to have repeated ﬁis name In connexion with the place ; and it is also certain that the De
of St. Columbkille was invariably called Derry-Calgach for some centuries later than that in whic!
Mochonna flourished.

Colgan had better evidence for connecting with Derry, either as a monk or abbot, a still more
distinguished man of this period—the eelebrated Adamnan,r:{)bot of Iona and Raphoe, who died in 703.
It is certain that his memory was venerated here, and, what is more conclusive, that his name was con-
nected with a holy well, called Toban, or Tioppaio, Adarmndin, which was held sacred for many ages.
In reference to the following individuals, however, there is no room for doubt.

724. « CAOCHSCUILE, scribe of Derry-Calgach, died.”

852. « INDREACHTACH O’FINACHTAIN, coarb of Columbkille, an eminent sage, suffered martyr.
dom from the Saxons, on the 12th of March.”

879. « MUIRCHERTACH, the son of Niall, abbot of Derry-Calgach and other churches, died.”

908. « DieErMoT, abbot of Derry-Calgach, died.”

919. « CINAETH, the son of Donnell, abbot of Derry-Calgach and Drumhome, the head of the
religious of Kinel-Connell, died.” For Drumhome, in the county of Donegal, Colgan has written
Drumcliffe, in the county of Sligo. His memory was venerated on the 19th of November.

925. ¢« MAOLBRIGHDE, the son of Tornan, coarb of Patrick, Columbkille, and Adamnan [abbot
of Armagh, Derry, and Raphoe], head of the piety of all Ireland, and of the greater part of Europe,
died, on the 22nd of February, at a venerable old age.” His festival, according to the Calendar, was
kept on the anniversary of his death. Colgan gives a notice of this eminent man in his Acta Sanc-
torum, from which it appears that he was of the same royal stock as Columbkille himself, being the
twelfth in descent from Connell Gulban, son of Niall of the Nine Hostages, monarch of Ireland.
He was promoted to the coarbship of Armagh in 885.

927, « CAONCOMHRAC, son of Maoluidhir, abbot and bishop of Derry-Calgach, and keeper of the
canons of St. Adamnan, died,” This abbot also was descended in the twelft gegree from Connell

' E
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Gulban, as appears from the Genealogies of the Irish Saints. He was much venerated in his time, and
his festival was kept on the 6th of September, according to the Martyrology of Donegal.

936. « DuBuTHACH [the son of Dubhan], coarb of Columbkille and Adamnan, in Ireland and
Scotland [that is—at Derry and Raphoe, and Iona], died.” He was the nephew of his predecessor, and
thirteenth in descent from Connell Gulban. His festival was celebrated on the 7th of October.

937. « FINACHTACH, the son of Kellach, coarb of Derry, a bishop and a sage, skilled in the old
language of Ireland, died.”

948. ¢« MAOLFINNEN, the learned bishop of. Derry-Calgach, died.”.

U 949. ¢« CLEIRCEN, the son of Conallan, erenach of Derry-Calgach, rested in peace.”—(Annals of
Ister.)

950. « ApLAND, the son of Egneach, who was the son of Dalach, coard of Columbkille, the

gumpe Qone of the Irish Clergy, died.” This Adland, as appears from the Genealogy of the

"Donnells, was of the royal family of Tirconnell, being the brother of Donnell, from whom the
name O’Donnell originated, and thirteenth in descent from Connell Gulban. From the above pro-
verbial phrase it is to be understood that Adland was as distinguished among the religious orders in
Ireland of his time, for hospitality and generosity, as Guaire Aidhne was among its kings : this prince
reigned in Connaught in the 7th century.

952. ¢« ROBHARTACH, the grandson of Steaphan, coarb of Columbkille and Adamnan, died.”

957. « DuBHDUIN, coarh of Columbkille, died.” He was of the Kinel-Fergus, a branch of the
Kinel-Owen.—(Book of Lecan : f. 64.)

962. ¢« DuBHSCUILE, the son of Cionaodh, coarb of Columbkille, died.”

967. « AENGuUS, the grandson of Robhartach, anchorite of Derry-Calgach, and CiNaETH, the
grandson of Cathmaol, erenach of Derry-Calgach, died within the same month.” Both these indi-
viduals were of the Kinel-Owen.—See 952. .

973. « FoGgArTACH, abbot of Derry-Calgach, died.”

983. « UrssINE [Ossian], the grandson of Lapan, erenach of Derry-Calgach, Edied].”

985. ¢« MAOLCIARAN, the grandson of Maighne, coarb of Columbkille, suffered martyrdom from
the Danes in Dublin.” The O’Maighnes were hereditary erenachs of Inniskeel, in Donegal, and are
still a numerous tribe. They now usually write their name Mooney, and Moyney.

988. ¢ DuNcHADH, the grandson of Robhacan, coarb of Columbkille and Adamanan, died.”

—. “ DUBHDALETH, coarb of Saint Patrick, assumed the coarbship of Columbkille by the
suffrage of the Irish and Scots”—that is, as Colgan explains it, he became supreme moderator of the
monasteries of the congregations of Columbkille in Ireland and Scotland.

998. ¢« DuBHDALETH, the son of Kellach, coarb of Saint Patrick and Columbkille, died on the 2nd
of June, in the 83rd year of his age.”

1006. ¢« MUIREADHACH, the son of Criochan, resigned the coarbship of Columbkille, to apply him-
self more sedulously to devotion.”

1010. ¢« MuiREADHACH, the son of Criochan, coarb of Columbkille and Adamnan, a learned doc-
tor and bishop, a son of purity, lecturer of divinity at Armagh, and intended coard of Patrick, died in
the 75th year of his age, on the 5th of the calends of January, [ﬁonectly 10117, on Saturday night,
and was interred with honour and veneration in the cathedral church of Armagh, before the high altar.”

1022, « MaoLEoIiN O’ToRNAIN, coarb of Columbkille, was present at the death of Malachy the
Great, the son of Donnell, king of Ireland, at Cro-inis, an island in Lough Ainin}now Lough Ennel).”

1025. « MaoLEoIN O’ToraIN, or O’ToRNAIN, coarb of Derry-Columbkille, died.”—See 925. e
family of O’Tornan, or Dornan, still exists. They were erenachs of Drumhome, in the county of
Donegal, till the plantation of Ulster. This is the first notice in these Annals, in which the name of
Derry appears as Derry- Columbkille.

1040. « MaoLmuireaDHAICH [ Malmurry] O’OcuralN, coarb of Columbkille and Adamnan, died.”

1057. ¢« ROBHARTACH, the son of Ferdomhnach, coarb of Columbkille and Adamnan, died.”

1061. ¢« MuireapuacH O’MaoLcoLuiM [now Malcolm], erenach of Derry, died of the plague.”

1062. « GroLra-CHRr108T O’MAOLDORAIDH,? coard of Columbkille, both in Ireland and Scotland,
died.” The O’Muldorrys were princes of Tirconnell, preceding the O’Donnells. :

——. “ MaoLruaNAIDH [Malrooney] O’DoI1GHRE, chief confessor of the north of Ireland, died.”

1066. « DuncuaDH O’DAiMHIN [now Devine], coard of Derry, died.” The family of O’Daim-
hin, or Devine, was one of the tribes of the Kinel-Owen, and is still numerous in the counties of Derry

. and Tyrone. :

1096. « EocaN O’CearNAicH [now Kearney, and Carney), erenach of Derry, died on the18th of
the calends of January [15th of December].”

1098. ¢« DomuNALL O’RoBHARTAICH, coarb of Columbkille, died.”—See 967. The family of
O’Robhartaich, now O’Rafferty’and O’Roarty, were erenachs and coarbs of Tory Island till the plan-
tation of Ulster, and are still numerous. The Mac Roartys, who were erenachs of Ballymagrorty, in

.
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Tirhugh, county of Donegal, and hereditary keepers of the celebrated relic of Columbkille called
the cathach, were probably a branch of the same family.—(See Inquisitions.)

1112, « CoNGALACH, the son of Mac Conchaille, erenach of Derry, died, after great penitence, in
the 94th year of his age.” The family of Mac Conchaille was of the Kinel-Binny, a tribe of the Kinel-
Owen. ‘

1120. «GiorLa Mac Liag, the son of Rory,” better known by the latinized name of Gelasius, be-
came, at the age of thirty-three, erenach, or—as Colgan and others suppose—coard, or abbot, having
been previously erenach. But it has been already shewn that these terms were frequently synonymous ;
and in all the ancient Irish authorities Gelasius is invariably called erenach, though it appears certain
that he exercised the authority of abbot: hence Dr. Lanigan had no authority to state that erenach
meant ¢ archdeacon,” and that Derry was conse«txently then considered as an episcopal see. It may
not be improper also, in this place, to correct another erroneous assertion of this learned and usually
accurate writer, namely—that Colgan was mistaken in stating that Niell, or Nigel, had again obtruded
himself into the abbacy, or, as Dr. Lanigan has it, « archbis%wpric," of Armag%r, on the retirement of
Malachy, and previously to the elevation of Gelasius to that dignity. Had Dr. Lanigan carefully con-
sulted the Annals of the Four Masters he would have found that Colgan had authority for his state-
ment, viz. :— 1187, Caémélid Abbad i Apomaca a. Aipénoveac Ohoipe 1 n-tonao Nell thic
(eda—¢ a change of abbots at Armagh, that is—the erenach of Derry, in the place of Niall, the son
of Hugh.”

“8Gelasius filled the episcopal chair of Armagh 38 years, and died in the 87th year of his age, on
the 27th of March, 1174, on the anniversary of which day his festival was kept.”

1122. « MaorcoLuim O’BROLCHAIN, bishop of Armagh, died on his pi grimage in the desert [or
hermitage, ] of Derry, after having gained the victory of mortification and penance.”

1126. « FioNN O’CoNAINGEN, erenach of Derry for a time, died.” He was probably the pre-
decessor of Gelasius.

1134. « BEBINN, the daughter of Mac Conchaille, female erenach of Derry, died on the 23rd
of December.”— See 1112.

1147. ¢« ERCHELAID was abbot.”—(Book of Lecan : f. 193.)

1150. « MaoLriosa O’BRANAIN [Brannan], erenach of Derry-Columbkille, who was the most
rosperous and munificent man in the north of Ircland, died.” The O’Branans were of the Kinel-
[ierny, a tribe of the Kinel-Owen : they are still numerous in the province of Ulster.

1162. ¢« CaTHusacH, the son of Comaltan, professor of divinity in Derry-Columbkille, died. He

was a distinguished sage.” :

1175. « FLAHERTACH O’BROLCHAIN, coarb of Columbkille, tower of wisdom and hospitality, to
whom, for his wisdom and great virtues, the clergy of Ireland had given a bishop’s chair [see], and
‘offered the superintendence of the monastery of Iona, after having borne the pains of a long infirmity
with patience, died most piously in the monastery of Derry.”—See 1112,

Colgan says of the family of O’Brolchain, which supplied so many eminent ecclesiastics to the
abbey of Derry—that they were of ancient nobility, and formerly of distinguished name, but then quite
plebeian. They are still, however, a numerous family in the neighbourhood of Derry, and in the
southern parts of the county ; and, though they call themselves O’ Brollaghan in speaking Irish, they
generally adopt the name of Bradley in Eng{;sh. The Irish popular allusion to their fallen state—
« He is a gentleman of the Brollaghans”—commonly applied to persons poor and ?roud, has probably
influenced them in this change of their name to that of an Englisrl family. The O’Brollaghans were a
family of the Kinel-Ferady—a tribe of the Kinel-Owen, originally seated in the southern part of the
county of Tyrone, to which it gave name.—(See Book of Lecan.)

—— “GroLLa Mac Li1ag, or GELASIUS, O’BRANAIN succeeded to the government of the monastery.”

1180. « MacraTH O’DoIGHRE, erenach of Derry, died.”—See 1062. The family of O’Doighre
were also a very noble branch of the Kinel-Owen, und were hereditary erenachs of Derry till the plan-
tation of Ulster. They still exist, and are called Deery.

1185. « MaoLiosa O'MuireapHAICH [Murry], lecturer of divinity at Derry-Columbkille, died at
a venerable old age.”

1189. « MaorcaiNNiGE O’FEARcoMals, professor of divinity at Derry, was drowned between
Aird [ Ardmagilligan,] and Inishowen.”

1195. « ConcoBHAR [Conor] Mac FacnTNa died in the church of Derry.”—(See 1150.)

1198. ¢« GrorLa Mac Liac, or GELAsius, O’BRANAIN resigned the abbacy.”

. “ Gicriost O’CEARNAICH was elected abbot by the consent of the clergy. He was after-
wards advanced to the see of Connor, and died in 1210.”

1202. ¢« MaoLFININ Mac CoLMAIN was elected arch-prior, but died the same year.”— (Annals of’
Munster.)

———. ¢« O’BRroLcHAIN, the prior and great senior, died on the 27th of April. He was in high
estimation for his many virtues and extensive learning.”—(Zb.)
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1208. « AMHALGAIDH [ Awley] O'FERGHAIL”, [or FIRGHIL,] who seems to have succeeded Flaher-
tach O’Brolchain in the abbacy, was elected abbot of Iona, as appears from the following entry in
the Annals of the Four Masters :— _

« Ceallach, without any title from law or justice, and in despite of the family of Iona, erected a
monastery in the middle of Iona, and did considerable damage to the town. The clergy of the north
[of Ireland] assembled together, to pass over into Iona. They were as follows :—Florence O’Caireal-
lain, bishop of Tyrone [that is—Ardstraw]; Maoliosa O’Doighre, bishop of Tirconnell [that is—
Raphoe], and abbot of the church of SS. Peter and Paul, at Armagh; Amhalgaidh O’ Ferghail, abbot
of the church of Derry; Ainmire O’Cobhthaich; many of the clergy of Derry; and numbers of the clergy
of the north of Ireland. They passed over to Iona, where they pulled down the monastery erected by
Ceallach, in accordance with the law of the church; and Amhalgaidh was elected abbot of Iona by the
suffrages of the Scots and Irish.” :

1206. ¢« DomuNALL O’MUIREADHAICH, chief professor of divinity at Derry, died.”—See 1185.

1218, « AinMIre O’CoButHAICH [ Coffey, the successor of Amhalgaidh O’Ferrall], abbot of the
church of Derry, a clergyman of noble birth, and distinguished for his piety, meekness, charity, and
every other good quality, died.” .

1218. « Maovriosa O’'DoOIGHRE, erenach of Derry, died on the 8th of December, after having
been erenach of Derry for nearly 40 years, and having done all the good in his power, both for
church and state.” This appears to be the same person noticed above as bishop of Tirconnell, in 1208 :
the offices were not incompatible in those days of pluralities.

1219. « FaNacHTAN O’BRANAIN, abbot of Derry, died.”—See 1198.

——. “ FLANN O’BRroLCHAIN succeeded.”

1229. <« GERARD O’CATHAN, the canon, esteemed the most learned of the whole order, died.”

1233. « GEorrrY O’DOIGHRE, erenach of Derry-Columbkille, died.”

1397. « REGINALD O’HEGARTY resigned the abbacy.”—(Ware’s MSS. vol. 34.)

——. « Opo [Hugh] Mac GiLLIBRIDE O’DoHERTY was chosen in his place.”—(1b.)

1475. « DoNoGH, the son of Hugh M¢Sweeny, prior of Derry, died.”

1581. ¢« CucoNNAGHT O’FRAGHILL [more correctly FirGHIL, now Freel,] was abbot; for Sir Odo
O’Donnell, lord of Tirconnell, being prevented b¥ sickness from personally renewing his oath of alle-
giance, did appoint the said abbot and Richard O’Grayhan, of Tredagh [Drogheda], to perform his
bounden fidelity to the king, which they accordingly did on the 5th o;gMay this year, before the lord
deputy Skeffington, at Tredagh.”—(ARcHDALL, from WARE.) The O’Firghils, a family of the Kinel-
Connell, were hereditary erenachs of Kilmacrenan, and performed the ceremony of inaugurating the
chiefs of Tirconnell.

Bishops.

FraHERTACH O’BROLCHAIN was elected in 1158, and died in 1175.

A sufficient notice of Flahertach O’Brolchain, the first bishop of Derry, has been already given
among the abbots. His successor, according to Ware and Harris, was Muireadhach O’Cobhthaich
[Murry O’Coffey], whose death is thus recorded by the Four Masters :—

1173. « MuireaDpHACH O’CoBHTHAICH, bishop of Derry and Raphoe, a son of purity, a precious
stone, a transparent gem, a brilliant star, a freasury of wisdom, and conservator of the canons of the
church, after having bestowed food and raiment upon the poor and needy,—after having ordained
priests and deacons, and men of every ecclesiastical degree,—after having repaired many churches,
consecrated many temples and burial-places, and performed every ecclesiastical duty,—after having
gained the palm of piety, pilgrimages, and penances—resigned his spirit to heaven in the Duv-Regles of
Columbkille, at Derry, on the 10th day of February. g eat miracle was performed on the night of
his death : from twilight to day-break the firmament was illuminated, and all the neighbours beheld
the light ; and a large globe of fire arose over the town, and moved in a south-easterly direction; all
arose from their beds, imagining it to be day. This light was in motion, and was perceived as far as the
sea, at the east of Ireland.”

In the preceding passage, this distinguished ecclesiastic is called bishop of Derry and Raphoe.
Harris, however, shews from satisfactory evidences that Muireadhach could not have been bishop of
Raphoe, unless as a suffragan, and there is equal reason to doubt of his having been bishop of Derry.
For, in the first place, as O’Brolchain survived him two years, he could only have succeeded by the
abdication of the former, for which supposition there is not the slightest evidence ; and, in the second,
itis to be observed that O’Coffey is called bishop of Derry by the Four Masters only ; in all the earlier
annals heis either called bishop of Ardstraw, or, more generally—as in the very original, in the Annals
of Connaught, of the passage given by the Four Masters—bishop of Kinel-Owen, or Tyrone, whicn was



HISTORY. 31

but another name of the same see. O’Coffey held this bishopric at the council convened by Cardinal
Paparo, in 1152, six years before Derry is supposed to have been raised to the rank of an episcopal see,
and his name is signed as a witness to the foundation charter of Newry, about 1160, as ¢ bishop of
Tir-Eogain [ Tir-owen, or Tyrone].” Against such evidences the unsuEported authority of the P‘:mr
Masters must be considered as of no weight, or—if it be not a mistake of the transcriber—must, at most,
be understood as applying in a loose way to the bishopric of Ardstraw, which originally, as already
shewn, comprised tgle greater part of the present county of Derry. It must, indeed, be confessed that
the early history of this bishopﬁc is, as already stated, involved in much obscurity ; and it is extremely
difficult to fix with exact precision the time when the ancient bishopric of Ardstraw, or Tyrone, was
transferred to, and thoroughly incorporated with the new see of Derry. The ancient authorities appear
to be wholly opposed to the conclusions of Ware, and others, who suppose a succession of bishops to have
been preserved at Derry from the death of Flahertach O’Brolchain, whereas there is no record to be found
in the Irish annals of a bishop of Derry—that of Murry O’Coffey, now noticed, excepted—till Fogartach,
or Florence, O’Caireallain, who died in 1298. The four bishops, who are placed Ey Ware and Harris
in succession between O’Brolchain and him, are always called Eishops of Kinel-Owen, or Tyrone, the
seat of which see was at that time Ardstraw, or Rathlury, the present Maghera. The fact appears to be
that O’Brolchain had episcopal jurisdiction over the monasteries of the Columbian order alone, and that,
on his death, Derry reverted to the bishopric of Raphoe, or Tirconnel, to which it properly belouged,
and remained annexed to it for nearly a century, till the increasing power of the O’Caireal{ains, chiefs
of the Clan-Dermot, aided by the otlZer branches of the Kinel-Owen, or Tyronians, enabled Gervase,
or Gilla-an-Choimhdhe O’Caireallain, the bishop of Tyrone, to annex it for a while to his own bishopric,
and constitute it the seat of his diocese. Harris states, from the Registry of Clogher, that « this bishop
took many things by 4 high hand from David O’Brogan, bishop of Clo%] er, and annexed them to his
own see, particularly the church of Ardstraw, and many other churches of O’Fiachra. He is said
also to have taken away from Carbry O’Scopa, bishop of Raphoe, some parts of the diocese of Raphoe,
and to have united them to his own bishopric.” The former event, according to O’Flaherty, occurred
about 1266, and the latter must have taken place about 1274, as it appears that the bishop of Raphoe,
who took ajourney to Rome to solicit the interference of the church in this matter, died there in 1275,
exactly a century after O’Brolchain’s death. This attempt of Germanus to establish himself in Derry
seems clearly referred to in a record given in the preceding annals at the year 1310-11; and it 1s
worthy of remark that, so late as the close of the last century, Dr. Coyle, titular bishop of Raphoe,
protested against the right of the titular bishop of Derry, in the barony of Inishowen. After Ger-
manus O’Caireallain the bishops of Kinel-Owen cease to be so called by the annalists, and a regular
‘succession of bishops of Derry follows. The other supposed successors of O’Brolchain, prior to this
period, as given by Ware, are as follows:—

AMLAVE, or AwWLEY, O’CoFrEY succeeded in 1173, and died in 1185. This bishop, who
is usually styled by the annalists bishop of Kinel-Owen, or Tyrone, but never bisho%of Derry, died
at Dun-Cruithne, now Duncrun, in Magilligan, whence his body was conveyed to Derry, where it
was buried in the Duv-Regles, or Saint Columb’s abbey church, at the feet of his predecessor, Murry
O’Coffey, near the wall. The notices of this prelate in the annals fully corroborate the remarks already
made on the early history of the bishopric: in those of the Four Masters his death is thus recorded :—

1185, « AMLavE O’MURRY, bishop of Armagh [correctly Ardstraw,] and Kinel-Ferady, a bril-
liant lamp that had enlightened clergy and laity, died, and Fogartach O’Caireallain was consecrated
his successor.”

That the person here called Amlave O’Murry was the same as the Amlave O’Coffey of the other
annalists cannot be doubted—though it did not occur to either Ware or Harris, who have him among
the archbishops of Armagh under tie former name—for all the circumstances, related of the one, are
also ascribed to the other. The title of bishop of Kinel-Ferady, given him by the Four Masters,
more distinctly points to his bishopric of Ardstraw, which comprised within it the territory of Kinel-
Ferady, but not Derry; and the notice by the same annalists relative to the consecration of his suc-
cessor, Florence O’Caireallain, must be unquestionably understood as applying solely to that bishopric,
which, as appears from undoubted evidences, he filled, and not to the see of Armagh, to which it is
equally certain neither he nor his predecessor ever succeeded ; for the Four Masters have obviously fallen
into an error of transcription in writing Armagh for Ardstraw—a mistake very easily made from the
resemblance of the words, as written in the Irish character, thus:—QIpoppata—pomaca.

FoGARTACH, or FLORENCE, O’CERBHALLAIN [properly CAIREALLAIN,] succeeded in 1185, and died
in 1230. The death of this bishop, whose Christian name is generally written Fogartach by the
annalists, is thus recorded by the Four Masters :—¢ Florence O’Caireallain, bishop of Tyrone, a noble
select senior, died in the 86th year of his age.”

GERMAN, or GERVASE, O’CAIREALLAIN succeeded in 1230, and died in 1279. Some account of
this bishop, who was a Dominican Friar, has been already given. His death is thus recorded in the
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Annals of the Four Masters:—« Gilla-an-Choimdhe [servant of God] O’Caireallain, bishop of
Tyrone, died.” In him terminates the succession of the bishops of Tyrone, or Ardstraw, distinct from
those of Derry.

FocarTacH, or FLORENCE, O’CAIREALLAIN succeeded in 1279, and died in 1293. This was the
third and last bishop of the same sirname and family, who held the bishopric of Tyrone in succession,
after the manner usual among the powerful Irish families. The establishment of the episcopal chair at
Derry seems to have been fixed during his time, as the annalists, who recorded his death, expressly
call him ¢ bishop of Derry.” ¢ He died in July, 1293, and, on the 25th of October following, the kin,
issued a ¢ conge de eslier [congé d'élire]’ to proceed to the election of a successor.”—(HARRIS’s WABE.%
- Of the powerful family, to which these bishops belonged, some historical notices have been given in
the preceding annals of Derry, and still more will be found in the parish of CLoNDERMOT. After
this period the power of the British crown appears to have had, for a time, a dominant influence in this,
as well as in the other Irish ecclesiastical sees, and the election of its bishops to have proceeded in a more
orthodox manner. It is certain that henceforward fewer traces are found of that exercise of power in the
local aristocracy, which previously constitutes so remarkable a feature in the history of the Irish church.

HENRY of ARDAGH succeeded in 1295, and died in 1297. This bishop, who was ¢ a Cistercian
Monk, was lawfully elected by the dean and chapter of Derry, and obtained the royal assent on the third of
March, 1294, reckoning the year to begin from the lst of January; but he had not restitution of
the temporalities until tﬁe 16th of June following.”—(HaRR1S’s WaRE.) His proper name was Mac
Oipeacaig, or, as it is now called, Geraghty—a distinguished Connaught family. He was the first
person elected to the bishopric of Derry, who did not belong to any of the powerful families of
the district; and it may, perhaps, be doubtful that he was ever permitted to exercise ecclesiastical
jurisdiction within the diocese, as in the records of his death, given by the annalists, he is not called
bishop of Derry, but bishop of Connor : thus, in the Annals of the Four Masters:—

1297. « HENRY Mac OIREAGHTY, bishop of Connor, died, and was buried in the monastery of
Drogheda. He was a monk.”

And, in the Annals of Connaught :—

1297. « HENRY Mac OIREAGHTY, bishop of Connor, and a Grey Friar of the Cistercian order, died.”

Ware and Harris have also placed him among the bishops of Achonry, but erroneously, while they
have omitted him among those of Connor.

GopFRID, or JEFPRY, Mac LoueHLIN succeeded in 1297, and died in 1815. He ¢ was conse-
crated bishop of Derry, and had his writ of restitution to the temporalties, on the 26th of June, 1297.
He governed this see about 17 years.”—(WaRE.) The family of Mac Loughlin, as well as that of
O’Neill, was of the blood-royal of Ireland, and long seated in the neighbourhood of Derry.—{See
Grianan of Aileach, and County History.]

Ono, or HugH, O’NEILL succeeded in 1316, and died in 1319. ¢« He was a secular priest of the
diocese of Derry, was clected in the year 1316, and died in June, 1819..... Onthe thE of August
followin%‘tyhe king’s licence issued to the dean and chapter of Derry, to go to the election of a succes-
sor.”. ARE.) ¢ And they elected Michael Maghlaghelyne.” —(Pip: Rot: 18 Edw: 11. No. 91.)

MicHAEL Mac LouGHLIN succeeded in 1319. This bishop ¢«was elected in August, 1319, and
about the beginning of October following was confirmed by Dennis, dean of Armagh, in the absence of
Primate Roland, who then lived beyond sea. He sat in this see in the year 1324, but I do not find
how long after.”—(WARE’s Bishops.)

SimoN, «a Frier (but I do not know of what order), governed this see in the year 1367, and 1369.
I have not yet discovered either when he was consecrated, or when he died.”—(WaRre’s Bishops.

Joun DoNGaN, ¢a Benedictin Frier, was translated [by the provision of Pope Boniface IX.]) from
this see to that of Down in 1295 [in which see he died in 1412]. " The see continued afterwards vacant
six years.”—(HARRIs’S WARE.)

. Joun succeeded in 1401. ¢« John, abbot of Magh-coscain, or de Claro Fonte, was promoted to
the see of Derry by the provision of Pope Boniface IX. on the 4th of the calends of September,
_ and died in 1419.”—(WaRrg’s MSS. vol. 75.)

WiLLiAM QUAPLOD, ¢ an Eniglish Carmelite Frier, succeeded. He had his education at Oxford,
and was the M®cenas of Bertran Fitz-Allen, who was also a Carmelite, and a man of profound learning,
as Leland says.”—( WARE’s Bishops.)

DoNALD, or DoNAT (as some call him,) sat in this see in 1423, and died in 1433. It is uncertain
how long he held the bishopric, as he was called to task in 1426 by Archbishop Swain, on his visitation,
for incontinence and other crimes, which being proved against him, he was obliged to do penance : and
on another visitation, in 1429, he was obliged to submit to further ecclesiastical rigour, in consequence of
which Harris conjectures that he resigneg in that year, as Archbishop Swain was guardian of the see in
1430, and 1431. But, though he was suspended, it is by no means certain that he resigned, or was
removed in that year, as it appears that the bishop of Derry was, in 1430, fined £100 for not attending
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the parliament held in Dublin, and that the see was vacant in 1433, the year in which he died.—(Pip:
Rot. Birmingham Tower. 6 Hen: VI.; and WARE's MSS. vol. 75; p. 179.)

JouN succeeded in 1434, and died in 1456. <« find in the registry of John Prene, archbishop of
Armagh, a citation issued against this John, bishop of Derry, dated the 17th of October, 1441, for homicide
and other crimes; but no further proceedings are there mentioned against him.”— (WARE’s Bishops.)

BarTHOLOMEW O’FLANAGAN, « a_Cistertian Monk, was promoted to the bishoprick of Derry by
the provision of Pope Calistus [ Calixtus] I11. on the 27th of May, 1458. He sat not full five years, for
the see was vacant on the 14th of April, 1463, as appears in the registry of John Bole, archbishop of
Armagh, who was on that day guardian of the spiritualties and temporalties during the vacancy of the
see. It seems it was not filled for three years after.”—(Jb.) ~

Neither Ware nor Harris was able to ascertain the year in which this bishop died, and indeed the
annalists are wholly silent respecting any bisho? of Derry of the name. But at the year 1462 they
record the death at Lough Derg, of Bartholomew (the son of Hugh) O’Flanagan, the prior of
Devenish, who, there is every reason to believe, was the same person; and, if so, it may perhaps
be conjectured that he never had restitution of the temporalities, or was allowed to exercise epi-
scopal jurisdiction in this bishopric. This Bartholomew was the founder of the abbey church in
Devenish, as appears from the inscription on it, which still remains: he was distinguished also for
illustrious birth—his father, Hugh, having been chief of his name, and lord of Clan-Cahill, in
Fermanagh.

NicnoLas WESTON, (or BosTON, as he was called by the Irish,) succeeded. ¢ Nicholas Weston,
batchelor of the canon-law, and canon of Armagh, was consecrated in 1466. He assisted at a
provincial synod convened at Drogheda, in St. Peter’s church, in July, 1480, by Octavian, archbishop
of Armagh.”—(HaRris’s WARE.) His death, as bishop of Derry, is recorded by the annalists, in 1484.
Of this bishop—who was, as his name indicates, an Englishman—O’Donnell, prince of Tirconnell, in
his Life of St. Columbkille, relates a circumstance, which equally shews how little this prelate understood
the peculiar prejudices of the Irish, over whom he was appointed, and their dislike to receive an Eng-
lishman among them. O’Donnell—after stating that Columbkille, when erecting the church of Cluain-i
(now Saint Columb’s, in Clooney), near Derry, prophesied that it should be destroyed by the English
in future times—proceeds to relate that the prophecy was fulfilled not long before by Nicholas Boston,
an English bishop, who pulled down this church for the purrose of using the materials in the erection of
a palace in its neighbourhood, but that God and St. Col umbkille did not permit him to carry his
sacrilegious project into effect.—( Triad : Thaum : p. 399.

DonaLp 6’FALLON succeeded. This bishop was advanced to this see by the provision of Pope
Innocent VIIIL on the 17th of May, 1485, and consecrated in the following year. His death is thus
recorded by the Four Masters:—

- 1500." < Donnell O’Fallon, bishop of Derry, a Friar Minor, ¢ de observantid,’ who had been for the
space of thirty years before industriously teaching and preaching throughout Ireland, died of an inward
disease, and was interred at Trim.”

« In the archives of Christ Church there is a letter of indulgence and plenary pardon of all sins,
however enormous, granted by this Donald O’Fallon to Rich. Skyrret, then canon, but afterwards

rior of that cathedral, for contributing to the crusade. He entitles himself deputy of the order of
inors, and on the seal is called the guardian of Yoghill, dated A.D. 1482.” The see was vacant on
the 30th of May, 1502.—(WaRE’s ngS. vol. 75; p. 179.)

JaMes Mac MaHon succeeded. ¢« He was consecrated in 1507, and died a little before Christmas,
in 1519. He was commendatory prior of the abbey of Saint Peter and Saint Paul, of Knock, in the
county of Louth.”—(WaRe's MSS. Ib.) He was of noble birth, as appears from the Annals of
the Four Masters, which give his pedigree, with a notice of his death, viz:—¢« James, bishop of
Derry, the son of Philip, Wﬁ’lo was son of James, who was son of Rory Mac Mahon [lord of Oriel],

died.

WiLLiam Hoceson, bachelor of divinity, and a Dominican Friar, was advanced to this see by the
bull of Pope Leo X., dated the 8th of August, 1520. Of this bishop, who has been omitted by
Ware and Harris, nothing more has been ascertained : he held the bishopric but a few years, as another
is found in his place in 1529.—(See DE Burcn’s Hibernia Dominicana : p. 484.

Rory O’DoNNELL succeeded in 1529, and died in 1551. But little is inown of this prelate more
than: that he was some time dean of Raphoe, and that he filled the see of Derry in S8eptember 1529,
as appears from the Registry of George Cromer, archbishop of Armagh. According to Ware, he died
on the 8th of October, 1551,—but the Annals of the Four Masters record his death in 1550, adding
that he took on him the habit of a friar, and was interred in the Franciscan monastery of Donegal. He
was the son of Donogh, the son of Hugh Roe O’Donnell, prince of Tirconnell. .

The annexed wood-cut is taken from an impression of this bishop’s seal, preserved in the
records of the Augmentation office, Westminster. The inscription, which is abbreviated, may be

F



34 CITY OF LONDONDERRY.

read as follows :—*¢ Sigillum Yomint rurict Vet gratia epigcopi Verencigs.” 1. e. ¢« The seal of the Lord
Rury, by the grace of God, bishop of Derry.”

EuGENE MAGENIS is placed next in succession by Ware, but without quoting his authority ;
and he states that he was not able to discover either when he was consecrated, or when he died. 'If
appointed to the bishopric it is probable that he was never restored to the temporalities, or there
would scarcely be wanting further notice of him in connexion with Derry. There can be little, if any,
doubt that he was the same person who was appointed to the see of Down and Connor by provision
from Pope Paul IIL in 1541, and who cominue(f in possession of those sees in 1559, The year of his
death has not been ascertained.

REDMOND O’GALCHOR, or O’GALLAGHER, died in 1601. Of this bishop, who appears to have
been the last Roman Catholic prelate in possession of the see, no notice is found in Ware, or Harris,
and but little is known, except the unhappy circumstances relating to his death. De Burgh states that
in 1604, after the death of Elizabeth, O’Galchor at about the age of seventy (or, according to some
accounts, eighty) years, being taken by a predatory heretic band of the soldiers of the garrison (“pre-
sidiariis excursoribus heareticis’), received from them many mortal wounds: but this account appears to
be erroneous in two important circumstances, which, for the sake of humanity, should not be left uncor-
rected,—namely, the reign of the monarch, and the year in which the unhappy event occurred—circum-
stances, which, if correctly stated, wanld give a much higher colour to the transaction than it deserves, as
the period to which it is assigned was, comparatively, one of peace and law in the country, and which could
offer no palliation for an act of this nature. The fact, however, seems to be that the unfortunate prelate
met his fate three years earlier, during the period of the Tyrone rebellion at the close of the reign of
Elizabeth, and that his death was one of these unhappy occurrences so characteristic of the horrors of a
desolating civil war. In the accurate Annals of the Four Masters, compiled in the adjacent county of
Donegal but a few years after the event, his death is recorded as follows, at the year 1601 :—¢ Redmond
O’Gallagher, bishop of Derry, was killed by the English in O’Kane’s country [Opeace Ui Chatéun],
on the 15th of March,”—and this date seems to be verified by a letter written by Sir Henry Docwra,
the governor of Derry, to the lord deputy on the 7th of April in the same year, in which, among other
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things, he states that Sir John Bolles, (the second in command in that garrison,) in a journey recently
made upon O’Kane, had killed 50 of his people, and burned man{ houses and much corn.

In this prelate terminates the succession of the Roman Catholic bishops of Derry, anterior to the
introduction of the reformed religion into the diocese. Previously to the reign of James I. no regal
investiture of prelates of the established church had ever been effected, or perhaps attempted, in any
of the three sees of Derry, Clogher, and Raphoe, owing to the weakness of the royal power in the
remoter fastnesses of the northern Irish.—(See WaRE's Bishops.)

AFTER THE REIGN OF ELIZABETH.

Section 1.—GENERAL.

The preceding portion of these annals shews that, down to the middle of the 16th century, the
city, as well as the district now forming the county of Londonderry, was still in the hands of the native
Irish, and governed by their chiefs, with at best but an occasional and doubtful acknowledgment of
subjection to British power. In the subsequent period, now to be treated of, the city of Derry be-
came the scene of many of the most important events connected with the history of Ireland; but these
events are so inseparably interwoven with the general history of the county as to render their incorpo-
ration with this local history impracticable, without either destroying the clearness of both, or repeating
that which has been necessarily told already. It has therefore been thought most proper to confine
the minute notices of Derry, in this place, to matters exclusively connected with tﬁe city, and give
merely an abstract of the more important events, which are fully detailed in the County History.

1566. The rebellion of the celebrated Shane, or John, (;’Neill, earl of Tyrone, gave the first
occasion for the presence of an English garrison in Derry. « To check the increasing boldness
of this man,” says Camden, ¢ Lord Deputy Sydney advanced with an army against him, having
prudently sent ward Randolph [or Randoll], an experienced officer, with seven companies of
foot, and a troop of horse, by sea, to the north coast of Ireland, where they encamcred at Derry,
upon Lough Foyle, in order to fall on the enemy in the rear. Shane fearing this, had drawn all his
forces that way to dislodge him; but Randolph immediately gave him battle, and, though he lost his
life honourably in the cause of his country, he gave him such a defeat that he was never after able to
make any resistance.” This action, according to Cox, took place in October, 1565: but this date
must be erroneous, as the patent of Randoll’s appointment as commander of the forces, and provost
marshal of and within the province of Ulster, is dated September the 16th, 1566.—(LoDGE’s Patentee
Officers.) [See also County History.] Colonel Edward St. Low, or Seyntlowe, succeeded Randoll
in the command of the garrison, but, in consequence of the accidental explosion of the powder maga-
zine, on the 24th of April [1568], by which the town and fort were blown up, the provisions destroyed,
and a great number of lives lost, the place was found to be untenable, and the foot embarked for Dublin,
whither also the horse returned, passing through Tirconnell and Connaught to avoid O’Neill.

1598. The important project of securing Derry, though for a time defeated by this accident,
was not abandoned by the queen’s government. rf)uring the deputyship of Adam Loftus, arch-
bishop of Dublin, and Sir Robert Gardiner, lord chief justice, 2000 foot, and 100 horse, under
the command of Sir Samuel Bagnall, were designed to effect this purpose, but were remanded
on the defeat of Marshal Bagnall by the earl of Tyrone, and sent into Lecale to strengthen the
queen’s forces ; and one of the chief articles of complaint against the earl gf Essex was his neglect
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of fulﬁlling the instructions given him to plant a garrison here. ¢« How often,” writes the queen-to him,
in 1599, %have you resolved us that until Loughfoyle and Ballyshannon were planted there could be.
no hope of doing service upon the capital rebels ?” .

1600. This important object was at length effected early in this year, under the government of
Lord Mountjoy. On the 16th of April Sir Igemy Docwra, with a British force of 4,000 foot and 200
horse, entered the harbour of Lough Foyle, effected a landing at Culmore, and in six days afterwards
took Derry without opposition. The circumstances connected with this most important event are thus
told by the commander himself in his manuscript, entitled ¢« A Narration of the Services done by the
Army ymployed to Loughfoyle, under the leading of mee, SR HENRY DocwRa, Knight,” &c.:—

«The army, consisting in list of 4000 foote and 200 horse, whereof 3000 of the foote and all the
horse were levied in England, the other 1000 foote were taken of the old companys about Dublin, and
all assigned to meete att Knockfergus [Carrickfergus], the first of May : that part levyed in England
was shipt at Helbree neere vanto Westchester on the 24th of Aprill 1600. And of these a regiament of
1000 foote and 50 horse were to be taken out imediatelie vpon our landing, and assigned to Sr Mathew
Morgan to make a plantation with att Ballishannon.

« The provisions wee carried wth vs at first were a quantetie of deale boards and sparrs of firr
timber, a 100 flock bedds, wth other necessaries to furnish an hospitall wthall, one peece of demy can-
non of brass, two culverins of iron, a master gunner, two master masons, and two master carpenters
allowed in pay wth a greate number of tooles and other vtensiles, and wth all victuell and munition
requisite.

h Soe wth those men from England and these provisions aforesaide on the xxvth day of Aprill wee
sett saile, and on the 28th in the evening put in att Knockfergus, where wee staide the space of 8 dayes
before the companyes from Dublin came all vnto vs. .

¢'The last of them coming in by the 6th of May, on the 7th wee sett saile againe, and the winde
often faylini and sometimes full against vs, it was the 14th before wee could putt in to the mouth of
the bay at Loughfoyle, and noe sooner were wee entred but wee fell on ground, and soe stucke till
the next day, then at a full tide wee waighed our anchors, sayled a little way, and rune on ground

e.

¢ On the 16th in the morning wee got loose, and about 10 of the clocke (100 men lying on shoare,
and giuing vs a volie of shott and soe retyring,) wee landed att Culmore, and wth the first of our horse
and foote that wee could vnshipp made vp towards a troupe of horse and foote, that wee sawe standing
before vs on the tog{) of a hill, but by ignorance of the wayes our horses were presentlie boggt, and soe
of that day wee made none other vse, but onelie to land our men. The next day, the place seaming to
my judgement fitt to build, wee beganne about the butt end of the old broken castle, to caste vp a forte,.
such as might be capable to lodge 200 men in.

«Sixe dayes wee sgent in %a.bour about it, in wch meane space, makeing upp into the countrie wth
some troupes (onely wth intent to discouer), wee came to Ellogh a castle of O’Doghartyes, wch he had
newlie abandoned and begunne to pulle down, but seeing it yett tennable, and of good vse to be held, I
put Captaine Ellis Floudd into it and his companie of 150 men. ‘

« On the 22th of May wee put the army in order to marche, and leauing Captaine Lancellott
Atford at Culmore wth 600 men to make vp the workes, wee went to the Derry, 4 myles of vpon the
river side, a Ylace in manner of an iland, comprehending wthin it 40 acres of ground, wherein were the
ruines of a old abbay, of a bishopps house, of two churches, and at one of the ends of it of an old castle,
the riuer called Loughfoyle encompassing it all on one side, and a bogg most comonlie wett, and not
easilie passable except in two or three places, dividing it from the maine land.

“ This peece of ground we possest our selves of wthout resistannce, and iudging it a fitt place to
make our maine plantation in, being somewhat hie, and therefore dry and healthie to dwell vpon, att
that end where the old castle stood, being close to the water side, I presentlie resolued to raise a forte
to keepe our stoore of munition and victuells in, and in the other a litle aboue, where the walls of an
old cathedrall church were yet standing, to erect annother for our future safetie and retreate vanto vpon
all occasions.

« Soe then I vnloaded and discharged the shipping that brought vs, all but those reserued for Sr
Math: Morgan and two men of warre vnder comaund of Captaine George Thornton, and Captaine
Thomas Fleminge, wch were purposlie assigned to attend vs all that sommer, and the first bussines I
setled myselfe vnto was to lay out the forme of the said two intended fortes, and to assigne to euery
companfve his seuerall taske how and where to worke.

« I know there were some that presentlie beganne to censure mee, for not sturring abroade, and
makeing iourneyes vp into the countrye, alleadging wee were stronge enough and able to doeit, I deny
not but wee were, but that was not the scope and (girift of our coming, wee were to sitt it out all winter,
prayes [preyes] would not be sett wthout many hazards and a great consumption of our men, the
countrie was yet vnknowne vnto vs, and those wee had to deale with were [sucg] as I was sure would
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chuse or refuse to feight wth vs as the(f sawe theire owne aduantage ; these considerations moued me to
resolue to hould an other course, and before I attempted any thinge els, to setle and make sure the
footing wee had gayned. ,

« The two shipps of warre therefore (the countrie all about vs being wast and burned) Isent wth
souldiers in them to coast all alonge the shoare for the space of 20 or 30 myles, and willed wheresoeuer _
they found any howses they should bring away the timber and other materialls to build wthall, such as
they could. And O’Cane hauing a woode lying right ouer against vs (on the other side of the riuer);
wherein was plentie of old growne birch, I daylie sent workemen wth a guard of souldiers to cutt it downe,
and there was not a sticke of it brought home but was first well fought for. A quarrie of stone and slatt
wee found hard at hand, cockle shells to make lyme wee discouered infinite plentie of in a little iland in
the mouth of the harbour as wee came in, and wth these helpes, togeather wth the provisions weebrought,
and the stones and rubbidge of the old buildings wee foumr, wee sett our selves wholie, and with all the
dilligence wee could possible, to fortefying and franing and setting vpp of howses such as wee might be
able to liue in, and defend our selves when winter should come, and our men be decayed, as it was appa-
rant it would be: and whether this was the right course to take or noe let them that sawe the after
euents be the judges of. .

« My lord deputie att the time wee should land, (to make our discent the more easie,) was drawne
downe to the Blackwater, and gaue out that hee would enter the countrey that way, wherevpon Tyrone
and ODonell had assembled theire cheifest strength to oppose against him: but his lo? lor({ship]
now knowing wee were safe on shore, and possest of the ground wee ment to inhabite, wthdrewe hix
campe and retourned to Dublin, and then, being deliuered of that feare, those forces they had brought
togeather for that purpose being now encreased by the addition of more, and estimated (by common
fame) to be about 5000 in all, they came downe wth vpon vs, and placing themselues in the night
wthin little more then a mile from where wee lay, earelie in the mqgning at the breaking vpp of the
watch, gaue on vpon our corps de niaurd of horse, chased them home to our foote sentynells, and made a.
countenance as if they came to make but that one dayes worke of it, but the alarume taken, and our
men in armes, they contented themselues to attempe noe further, but seeking to draw us forth into the
countrey where they hoped to take vs at some aduantages, and finding wee stoode vpon our defensiue
onelie, after the greatest pte of the day spent in skrimish a litle wthout our campe they depted
[departed] towards the eueninge whither did wee thinke it [not] fitt to pursue them.

« And now did Sr Mathew Morgan demaund his regiament of 1000 foote, and 50 horse, wch at
first (as I saide before) were desi neg him for a plantation att Ballyshannon, but vpon consultation
held how hee should proceed, and with what probabilitie he might be able to effect that intended bus-
sines, there appeared soe many wants and difficulties vuthought on, or vnprouided for before, that it was
euident those forces should be exposed to manifest ruine, if at that time, and in the state as things
then stoode, hee should goe forwars, the truth whereof being certified both by himselfe and mee to the
lords of the councell in England asalsoe [as also] to the qord deputie and councell of Ireland, wee
receiued present directions from them both to suspend the proceeding in that action till annother time,
and soe I discharged the rest of the shipping reserved for that iourney, and not long after the companys
growing weake, and the list of the foote reduced to the number of 3000, that regiament was wholie

dissolued, and made as a part onelie of our army.”
L » *

» * L * * * » *

« On the second of July I put 800 men into boates and landed them att Dunaloung, Tyroune (as
wee were tould) lying in campe wthin two myles of the place, where I presentlie fell to raiseing a forte:
his men came downe and skirmisht wth vs all that day, but perceiuing the next wee were tilted, and
out of hope to be able to remoue us, they rise vp and left vs quietlic to doe what we would, where, after
I had made it reasonable defensible, I left Sr John Bowles in garrison wth 6 companyes of foote, and
afterwards sent him 50 horse.”

It will not, perhaps, be uninteresting to the reader to see the cotemporaneous Irish account
of Docwra’s transactions, as translated from the Aunnals of the Four Masters, particularly as they
throw some additional light on the character of the works, erected by the English on this occasion.

1600. < The English fleet, thAt was ordered by the queen and the gEnglish parliament to be'
sent to Ireland against the province of Ulster, when {.ord ountjoy was lord justice of Ireland, which
was about the festival of St. Patrick, as we have alread{ mentioned, was preparing in England, and all
necessary apparatus procuring with the greatest possible expedition; because it was great vexation of
mind to the queen, and her councils in England and Ireland, that the Kinel-Cannell, Kinel-Owen,
and all Ulster, besides those chiefs who were confederated with them, had made so long and successful
a defence s%'ainst them. They also remembered, yea, it secretly preyed like a consumptive disease
upon their hearts, that so many of their people had been lost, and so much of their money and wealth
consumed in carrying on the Irish war untiF this period; wherefore they were determined to send
the aforesaid fleet to Ireland.
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« They put into the harbour of Dublin in the month of April this year, whence they sailed in
the beginning of summer, by the advice of Clanricarde and Thomond, by whom they were ordered to
go to the lake of Feval, the son of Lodan [Lough Foyle]. They sailed, keeping ﬂ-elnnd to the left,
until they landed at the place they were ordered. Afier landing they evected about the harbour three
Jorts, with trenches, .mng tn the earth, as they had been instructed in England. One of these, called
Dun-NA-LONG, was onO’Neill’s portion of the country in the neighbourhood of O1REACHT-UI-CHATHAIN,
and the other two in O’Donnell’s territory. One of the latter was at Culmore, in O’Doherty’s
country, in the territory of Inishowen,—the other in Derry, to the south-west of the former.

“ The English immediately commenced sinking fosses around them, and erecting a strong wall
of earth [mip cmao], and a rampart [oiinélad], so that they were able to hold out a defence against
their enemies. There were many other fortifications and preparations of defence, and also courts
[large houses] of lime and stone, and a city, on the erection of which much time and labour were
bestowed. They immediately tore down the monastery and cathedral [oawliag], and destroyed all
the ecclesiastical buildings of the town, and with the materials thus obtained erected houses and apart-
ments. Henry Docwra was the name of their gengral: he was an illustrious knight of wisdom
and prudence, a pillar of valour and prowess. Six thousand was the number that came to that place.
When they arrived at Derry they made little account of Culmore and Dun-na-long.”

These accounts, it will have been seen, agree substantially : the only discrepancies worth notice
are in respect to the number of men that came to Lough Foyle, and the destruction of the cathedral
and other religious houses. The first is of little importance, as the Four Masters probably included in
their amount not only the followers of the army, but the seamen, who must have been very numerous,
as, according to Peter Lombard, the number of ships employed on the expedition was sixty-seven.
At all events the annalists could only have given their estimate from common report, and their error, if
it were such, was more excusable than that of Moryson, the secretary to the lord deputy, who states
officially that the number of horse was one hundred, though it is evident from the testimony of Docwra
himself that it was twice that number.

The statement of the Four Masters, relative to the destruction of the cathedral, &c., appears to be
a greater error, unless by destruction, or tearing-down, they merely meant that of the ruins left by the
explosion in 1568 ; and it is certain that the cloig-teac, or round-tower belfry, escaped on both
occasions, as already shewn, and that Docwra preserved one of the churches for a place of worshaif.

Of the forts erected by Sir Henry Docwra at Derry, Culmore, and Dunnalong, the original plans
will be found in connexion with their Kistory in a succeeding portion of this Memoir.

1601. The subsequent operations of the garrisons of fough Foyle are detailed in the County
History. It may be proper, however, in this place, to correct an error of Ware and Cox, who state
that the castle of Dery was regained in this year by Sir Henry Docwra, having been betrayed to the
rebels by some of his Drish soldiers. It was not « the Castle of Derry,” but ¢« Castlederg,” in Tyrone,
that was thus betrayed, as appears from Docwra’s ¢ Narration,” and the Irish annals.

1603. The termination of the war at the commencement of this year rendering the presence of a
large body of troops at Derry no longer necessary, the garrison was reduced to 100 horse, and 150
foot, under the governor, Sir Henry Docwra,—and 200 foot, under Captain Richard Hansard. ~ There
were also left at Culmore 20 men, under Captain Hart. The origin of the present city may, pérhaps,
be properly dated from this period. The governor, whose vigorous mind was equally fitted for
distinction in the arts of war and peace, lost no time in laying the foundation and promoting the
rrosperity of a commercial town, which has since risen to a rank so considerable, and which, from its

ocal advantages, may yet assume a high station among the cities of the empire.

For these services the name of Docwra has not received its just meed of celebrity, even on the
sKot which is reaping the benefit of them ; but that his memory is well entitled to be revered, as that of
the true founder of «the Derrie,” will abundantly appear by the following abstracts of charters, from
the patent rolls of James I.

1603, September 12. « A grant was made to Sir Henry Docwra, Knt., governor of Lough Foyle,
and privy councillor, to hold two markets on Wednesday and Saturday, and a fair for six days (viz. on
the vigil, day, and morrow of St. Lawrence [9th, 10th, and 11th of August, N.S.}, and for three days
following), at Derrie every year, with horse races, there to be held during the same markets and fairs,
together with the issues, profits, and emoluments, belonging and appertaining to the said markets and
fairs. Rent 2s. 6d. English, at Michaelmas.”—(1 Jac: 1. 2 pars. f. 332

1604, July 1. « The town or borough of Derrie is, by reason of the natural seat and situation
thereof, a place very convenient and fit to be made both a town of war and a town of merchandize,
and so might many ways prove serviceable for the crown and profitable for the subject, if the same
were not only walled, entrenched and inhabited, but also incorporated and endowed with convenient
liberties, privile%es, and immunities; and Sir Henry Docwra, Knight, during the reigns of Queen
Elizabeth and King James, having, by his extraordinary valour, industry, and charge, repossessed,
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repaired, and repeopled that town, being utterly ruinated and laid waste by the late rebellion in those
parts, and having begun and laid a good foundation there for the planting of a colony of civil and
obedient people in that place, the king (for the better progress therein, and more fully establishing
of the same in perpetuity, and for a memorial and recompence of the good service and charge which
Sir H. Docwra had employed and bestowed as aforesaid,) did, pursuant to letters dated at Westminster,
22d March, 1603, (inrolled anno 2, 3 pars. d. memb. 7.) give, grant, and confirm unto him, and the
inhabitants of the Derrie, and [?] all the circuit and extent of land and water within the compass of three
miles, to be measured from the circumference of the old church walls, directly forth in a right line,
every way round about, every mile containing 1,000 geometrical paces, and every pace five feet in
length, [which] shall be for ever a free, entire, and perfect city and county of itself, to be called the city
and county of Derrie, and shall be a corporation and body politic, made and created of the inhabitants of
the same, consisting of one provost, twelve aldermen, two sheriffs, twenty-four burgesses, and as many
freemen as the said Sir H. Docwra, during his life time, and as the provost, aldermen, sheriffs, and
burgesses, should think good to admit, gir Henry to be provost for life, as fully as the lord mayor of
London had in the city of London, and to appoint a vice provost. The sheriffs to hold a county court from
three weeks to three weeks,and another court called the Sheriffs Turne, at the two usual times of the year,
according to statute; to build a hall or town house, to be called the council house of Derrie, to
assemble in; to nominate a recorder during behaviour; the provost or vice provost, recorder, and two
senior aldermen to be justices of the peace, oyer and terminer, and gaol delivery. A gaol to be buikt
at the expence of the inhabitants; two coroners, a town clerk, a chamberlain or treasurer, a water-
bailiff, a sword-bearer, a competent number of serjeants of the mace, and other inferior officers. The
several trades to distinguish themselves into several companies or guilds, each to erect a common hall,
and to make bye laws. The provost to be clerk of the market, escheator, and the king’s admiral and
mayor of the staple. The corporation every Tuesday to keep courts, and to hold plea of all actions,
and to have all the fines and amerciaments of the said courts, all waifs and estrays, felons’ goods,
deodands, wrecks of the sea, all kind of tolls (not formerly granted to any other by the crown), at
the fee-farm rent of 6s. 8d., licence to purchase lands to the amount of £300 a-year.”—(2 Jac : 1. 2
rs. f. R. 9. :
i Aout th?s period Sir Henry Docwra received still further marks of his sovereign’s favour, in re-
ward of his services.

¢ Having received from Queen Elizabeth and King James a pension of 10s. a day as colonel of the
army in Ireland, and, in augmentation thereof, 3s. 4d. a day, as governor of Lou%h Foyle, during plea-
sure, the king by letter of privy seal, March 22nd, 1603-4, and by patent, June 14th, 1604,] increased
the same to 20s. a day, during life.”—(2 Jac: 1. 2 pass. f. R. 89.)

——. The connexion of Sir Henry Docwra with Derry, which, it might be supposed, was thus
destined to terminate only with his life, was however, unfortunately, of but short duration. From a
variety of causes, which are detailed in his ¢ Narration,” and cited in the County History, he was
induced in this year to conclude a bargain with Mr. George Pawlett, a gentleman of Hampshire,
selling him his house which he had built, with ten quarters of land he had bought and laid to it, all with
his own money, and his company of foot, altogether for less, a great deal, than the very house alone
had stood him in; and, after conferring upon him the vice-provostship of the town from the time of his
absence, he returned to England, and never after resumed the government of Derry.

1608. The connexion of the vice-provost, Sir George Pawlett, with Derry was of still shorter
duration, and had a far more disastrous close. Having, by insulting language and personal chastise-
ment, exasperated Sir Cahir O’Doherty, who at that time considered himself badly treated by the
government, the young chief of Inishowen rushed madly into rebellion; and, after taking the fort
of Culmore, as it is said, by treachery, and Derry by surprise, he put the governor, Pawlett, with
his lieutenant, Corbie, and the garrison, to the sword, plundered the town, and reduced it to ashes.
This event occurred on the morning of the lst of N&y, and on the 18th of July following the
career of Sir Cahir and his followers was closed by his death in the field. This daring revolt,
together with the flight of ¢ the Earls,” in the preceding year, smoothed the way for the general
confiscation of the six northern counties, and their plantation with British and Scottish subjects,
professing the reformed faith—an object which the king had long had at heart.

The general history of the plantation, as applicable to the county of Londonderry, having been
already given in the County History, it is only necessary here to pursue such of its details as are
more immediately connected with the city. 'l'yl'lese are mostly condensed and quoted from the Con-

rcise View of the Irish Society, which is to be understood as the authority throughout the subsequent
historical notices when no other is cited by name.

1609. By the agreement concluded, on the 28th of January, between the lords of the Privy
Council and the committee appointed by the Corporation of London, it was determined, among other
things, that two hundred houses should be built at the Derry, and room left for three hundred more ;



40 CITY OF LONDONDERRY.

.and that four thousand acres, lying on the Derry side, next adjacent to the Derry, should be laid
thereunto, bog and barren mountain to be no part thereof, but to go as waste for the city; the
.same to be done by indifferent commissioners,—that the bishop and dean of the Derry should have
convenient plots of ground for the site of their houses at the Derry,—that the lands of the city
should be holden of the king in free burgage,—that the liberty of the city should extend three
miles every way,—and, lastly, that sixty houses should be built in the Derry by the 1st of November
.then next following, and the rest on the 1st of November, 1611.

. 1612-13. On the 29th of January this year the Irish Society was formed, who received their charter
of incorporation on the 29th of March, under the name of ¢ the Society of the Governors and As-
sistants, London, of the new Plantation of Ulster,” the preceding charter having been surrendered.

By this charter it is granted that the city or town of Derry, and all the castles, lordships,
manors, lands, and hereditaments, and all others lying within the precinct or circuit of the same,
are hereby united, consolidated, and for ever made and created an entire county of itself, distinct
-and separate. It is granted that the city or town of Derry should be called the city of Londonderry,
and all lands within the circuit of three Irish miles, to be measured from the middle of the city,
to be within the liberties and jurisdictions thereof. That the citizens be incorporated by the name of
mayor, commonalty, and citizens, consisting of a mayor, 12 aldermen, 2 sheriffs, a chamberlain,
and 24 chief burgesses. The mayor and sheriffs to be elected on the 2nd of January, and sworn
in on the 2nd of February before the preceding mayor; to appoint a sword-bearer, serjeants-at-mace,
and other inferior officers during pleasure. The king b tfnis charter grants to the said London
Society and their successors the entire island of Derry, and all the lmgs next adjacent to the city,
on the west side of the river of Lough Foyle, containing by estimation 4000 acres, besides bog and
barren mountain, to be used by them as waste acres belonging to the said city. The Society, within
one year, to assiFn to the bishop and dean of Derry, and their successors, 2 acres of land a-piece next
adjoining to Columbkille’s Tower, to build houses for their residence. The Society for ever at their
own charge to find and.maintain a ward in Culmore Castle, of so many men well armed, and
officers, as shall be necessary for the defence thereof, and to acquit and exonerate the crown from
the same for ever. Provided that the city be enclosed and fortified with stone walls, except that
part next the river of Lough Foyle, within ten years; to hold weekly markets on Monday, Wednes-
day, Friday, and Saturday, and a fair on the feast of Saint Bartholomew, and for eight days
next following. The city to exercise the office of packer and gauger, and to return two members
to parliament.

—— July 6. The Society sent over two of their assistants, Mr. Alderman Smithes and Mr.
Matthias Sprinﬁham, to take an exact survey and account of the various operations and concerns of the
plantation. They brought with them the new charter of Londonderry, and had the old charter sur-
rendered to them. On the 8th of November, on their return, they reported to the common council,
that among other things, they had presented a silver-gilt communion-cup to the church of Derry. They
also reported that « with respect to the city of Londonderry, and the town of Coleraine, with the
territories, ferries, and fishings belonging to the same, they were of opinion that a division could not
be fully made of them, but the rents and profits of them might be divided amongst the several com-
panies.”  Agreeably to this recommendation, they were retained by the Society, who received the
rents and profits, and accounted for them to the twelve chief companies.

1615. An additional sum of £5000 ordered, towards finishing the walls of Derry.

. » April 9. A conspiracy to seize and” destroy Derry and the other principal towns of the
plantation was discovered by Sir Thomas Phillips. It was confined to a few of the principal Irish gen-
tlemen of the North, who were apprehended and sent to the lords deputy, and after their examination
sent back to receive their trial at the Derry assizes, when six of them, «who were near kinsmen of
Tyrone, were found guilty, and executed.”—(PuiLLIps’s MS.)

: » November 9.  Directions were given by the Irish Society, “in order that Derry might
not in future be peopled with Irish; that twelve Christ'’s Hospital and other poor children should be
sent there as apprentices and servants, and the inhabitants were to be prohibited from taking Irish
apprentices.”

1616. Mr. Alderman Proby and Mr. Matthias Springham were again sent over to Derry to
take a survey of the plantation. On the 27th of July tfuey reported ¢ that the twelve children sent
from Christ’s Hospital to be apprenticed, had arrived safe at Derry, and they had caused ten to be
apprenticed in Derry, and two in Coleraine. They considered it would be proper, that, in future, a
market house and town house should be erected in Derry, by which the city of London would gain
the rent of three houses, then used for a town house there.” « They continued Thos. Raven as
surveyor for two years, holding his service necessary for measuring and setting out the fortifications at
Derry and Culmore.” « They stated the allowances made to the burgesses of Derry and Coleraine
by the city of London, for their attendance in parliament.” ¢« The commissioners granted five hundred
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acres of land, which had formerly belonged to Rory O’Kane, (who had incurred a forfeityre of his
land by a criminal conviction,) to Mr. Carey, recorder of Derry during his life, paying the usual rent
of £5. 6. 8d. he having no salary ; which they conceived to be the best way of gwingiim satisfaction,
without charge to the city. They caused Mr. Goodwin, town clerk of Derry, to be reinstated in his
office, he having been suspended therefrom. They examined the fortifications at Derry, and found
that the ditch round the fortification was a dry ditch, eight feet deep and thirty broad, and extended
from the Prince’s Bulwark, being at the west end of the city, along tie south side of that fortification,
unto the water side, being more than half the circuit of the wall, as would appear by the plan they had
made. They found that the quay at Derry was sufficient for the trade of tﬁi place, and they thought
when the fortifications were ﬁnis{led, the city might either enlarge the same, or make a new one.
They discharged one Humphry Wetherley from his employment as water-bailiff and searcher, at Lon-
donderry, for misconduct. ~They granted leases of most of the houses at Derry for thirty-one
years, and allotted to every house a portion of land according to the rent, and distributed the 1sland
(except the bog,) for gardens and orchards, as belonging to every house, in ease of the rent; and the
bog they leased out to sundry persons for small rent, in hope that the same might be made firm and
good meadow, in time to come. And they stated, that whereas the city had nothing for the bog
before, they had procured a profit of £7 yearly for the same. They delivered swords as presents from
the city to the several mayors of Londonderry and Coleraine.” ¢ The commissioners allotted three
hundred acres for a free-school, when it should be finished, which Mr. Springham promised to erect
at his own expense, the next year. They made estimates of the expense o% repairing the churches
and fortifications. They represented, that out ef the four thousand acres of land to be laid to Derry,
;lhree thousand two hundred and seventeen acres had been -granted to the mayor, or otherwise laid to
ouses.”

1617. ¢« During this year, the crown being dissatisfied with the city of London, by reason of
various representations which had been made, suggesting that the city had not performed the
original conditions of plantation, appointed commissioners in' Ireland to inquire into the affairs of
the plantation, to whom the mayor and corporation presented a petition, complaining of many griev-
ances, which they suffered by the conduct of the Society.”

1621. July 31. The city received a charter of incorporation of a mayor, two constables and mer-
chants of the staple, with the like immunities and privileges as are expressed in the charter of the staple
of Youghal.—(19 Jac : 1. 4 pars. d. 34.)

1624. . A second commission was issued by the crown, to inquire into the defects and abuses in
the Londoners’ plantation. The commissioners were the Lords Grandison, Carew, and Chichester, to
whom the chancellor of the exchequer was subsequently added by the king’s letter of the 6th July.—
(PuiLuirs’s MS.) :

» September 24. After many meetings, the commissioners, upon mature deliberation, for
the full securing of the kingdom, set down 23 articles, which the Londoners were to perform under
the direction of Sir Thomas Phillips.——(1b.)

1625, September 2. The sbove 23 articles not being attended to by the London corporation,
the lords of the privy council in Enfland gave orders that the rents and revenues of the plantation
should be sequestered, till the articles should be fulfilled. This order was repeated on the 19th of
October following, and, on the 30th, Sir Thomas Phillips was appointed to receive the rents, &c., and
employ them on the fortifications of Londonderry and C‘::lenine.-—(lb.)

626. « A commission for a court of justice to be held in the city, directed to, and authorizing
the mayor, vice mayor, recorder or his deputy, and all such aldermen as, according to the tenor of the
commission of King James the 1st, under the great seal of England, dated 2d J uly, 1618, (119,) are, or
shall be made justices of the peace within the city, to hold the said court of justice, according to such
instructions as in certain schedules were annexed to the said commission, and were thereby limited and
appointed, and according to the tenor of his now majesty’s letters, dated in March 1625, for the
granting of new letters patent of all officers of public justice, whose commissions were determined by
the decease of James the 1st.”—(2 Car : 1. 3 pars, d. 89.)

1627, July 31. The sequestration by order of the privy council in 1625 was dissolved by the
lords in England, through the representation or interest of the corporation of London. On the 16th
of August, in this year, a new commission was issued by the king to the lord deputy and others,
to inquire ¢ concerning the plantations made, or intended to have been made, in the county of London-
derry, the citty of Londonderry, and towne of Coleraine,” and the commissioners returned answers to
thirty-three articles submitted to them for inquiry, which were very unfavourable to the London
corporation—(PHiLLIPs’s MS.) .

1628, May 8. By the king’s letter to the lord deputy and commissioners, the city and county
of Londonderry was again sequestrated, and the rents levied for the king’s use. This sequestration was
revoked and taken off by the lords in England on the 28th of July following.—(18.)

a
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1629.  The following return was made of the total disbursemeénts by the Londoners in London-
derry from the 2nd of January, 1609, to this year :—

« For 77} houses, at £140 an house, . . . . . . . £10,850

For 33 houses, at £80 an house, . . . . . . . 2,680
For the lord bishop’s house, . . . . . . . . 500
For the walls and fortifications, . . . . . . . . 8,357
For digging the ditch, and filling earth for the rampire, £1500; and for

levelling earth to lay the rampire, £500, . . . . . 2,000
For building a faggot-quay at the water-gate, . . . . 100
For two quays at the lime-kilns, . . . . . . i . 10
For the building of the town-house, e e e h e e 500
For two quays at the ferry, . e . . . .. 60
For carriage, and mounting the ordnance . . . . . . 40
For arms, . . . . . . . . . . . 558
For a guard-house e e e e e . e 50
For the platforms for bulwarks, . . . .« . . 300
For some works done at the old church, . . . . . . 40
For some work done at the turnpike, . . . . . . . 6
For sinking 22 cellars, and sundry of the houses not done at first, at 20s. &

cellar, one with another, . . . . . . . . 440
For the building of lime-kilns, . . . . . . . . 120

o v 26,611
Sum total, as given in the commissioners’ aceount, . . 27,197"—(1Ib

. 1682. ¢« The whole county of Londonderry was sequestrated, and the rents levied for the king’s
use; and Bishop Bramhall was appointed chief receiver.

1634. <« By sentence of the court of Star Chamber, it was adjudged, that the letters patent of

King James the first should be surrendéred, and brought into court to be cancelled. :
. % The Society were alarmed, and made application for redress; but seeing nothing more done,
and thinking that the king, at his leisure, would grant them remedy, they submitted withous
impatience to this infringement of their rights. But those who projected these hostile measures
were not inactive to accomplish their designs effectually; and, in the first place, Bishop Bramhall
frocured a letter of King Charles, dated 24th February, 1635, for passing of letters patents of several
arge quantities of the Society’s lands and others, as termon and erenagh Ends, which. he kept dorman€
till a fit opportunity offered for procuring them, which hap(rened on the 4th August, 1637, when the
king’s letters patent were passed for the quarter lands, called the fifteen hundred acres; amongst other
things, reserving out of part, a rent of £90 10s. to the mayor and commonalty of Londonderry.

¢« These were the premises which had been left as commonage, by the Society, to the corporation
of Derry, for the support of the magistracy, &c.”

1635. ¢« The aty of London was sued for non-performance of articles in the plantation of Lon-
donderry and Coleraine ; they offered for two years together £30,000, to compound the matter, but
it was not thought enough, and at last upon a trial at Michaelmas, 1635, before the court of Star
Chamber in" England, they were cast, fined £70,000, and their lands adjudged to be forfeited.”—
(Carte’s History of the Life of James Duke of Ormonde : vol. 1; p. 83.)

1637, December 28. ¢ The lord chancellor, with the advice of the judges, king’s counsel, &c.,
gave judgment, that the letters patent to the Society for the city and county of Londonderry, and the
enrolment thereof, should be revoked, cancelled, and made void, and the said city and county seized
into the king’s hands.” «In conformity with the aforesaid judgment, the city of Londonderry was
seized into the king’s hands.”

1638, June 9. ¢« The bishop of Derry (Dr. Bramhall) applied on behalf of himself, the corpora-
tion of Derry, and two others, for a licence to grant leases, which licence was granted.”

1641. « It apsears by the books at the Herald’s office, that when King Charles the first returned
from Scotland, and on that occasion was invited to dinmer in the city of London, he made a public
declaration that he was much troubled at the judgment that had been given for taking away his father’s
grant to the Society, and his majesty promise(f the city it should be restored. He accordingly gave his
commands for restoring to the gociety and Companies all their possessions, but the rebellion afterwards
breaking out, his majesty’s intenitions were not fulfilled.” S

—— August 26. ¢ The mayor, commonalty, and citizens of London, on behalf of themselves,
and the Companies, and divers, having lands and tenements in Londonderry, exhibited their Petit‘lon
to parliament, and upon mature consideration, had and taken of the judgment and sentence against the
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¢ity, it was voted ‘and resolved in parliament, (amongst other things,) that the sentence in the Star
Chamber was unlawful and unjust; that the citizens of London, and all those against whom the judg-
ment was so given, in the scire facias, should be discharged of that judgment; and that both the
citizens of London, and those of the new plantation, and all undertenants, and all these put out of
possession, should be restored to the same estate which they were in before the said sentence in the
Star Chamber, and it will appear hereafter that they were restored accordingly.”

At the breaking-out of the rebellion on the 22nd of October, in this year, the surprise and cap-
ture of Derry was an object of vital importance to the insurgents, but their plot in this instance
miscarried, and Derry became the chief place of refuge in the north for the despoiled or alarmed
English and Scottish colonists, many of whom took shipping there for Scotland. In the Concise
View of the Irish Society, compiled principally from their records—a work which has furnished a
considerable portion of matter to these pages—it is stated that « during the rebellion in Ireland this
year, the city of London sent four ships to Londonderry, with all kinds of provision, clothing, and
accoutrements, for several companies of foot, and abundance of ammunition. The twelve chief com-

ies sent each fwo pieces of ordnance. There were at that time twenty pieces of artillery in
r:ndonderry, which the Society had many years before provided for the safety of the place; and it
was considered that the assistance, which was then so given by the ecity of London, was the principal
means of preserving the city of Londonderry (which was besieged,) from the fury of the rebels.” -

It cannot be doubted that the assistance rendered on this occasion to Derry by the city of London
was timely and serviceable, but the amount of that aid, and the importance of its results, are, perhaps,
somewhat exaggerated in the preceding statement. From the following details, collected from cotem-
poraneous authorities by the Rev. Dr. Reid, in his History of the Presbyterian Church in Ireland,
it would rather appear that the assistance so afforded was not so great as above stated, and that, at all
events, it should only be considered as a secondary cause of the preservation of the city, which was
mainly attributable to the spirit of intrepidity and union which characterized its defenders, in despite
of difliculttes and privations. : '
« The city of Derry,” writes Dr. Reid, « was securely placed under the command of the governor,
Sir John Vaugian, Knt. So early as the fourth of November, the lords justices issued a commission to
Alderman Henry Finch, to raise a company of foot for the defence of the city. Not long afterwards,

tain Lawson, haviug received intelligence that one of his vessels, freighted with butter for France,
had been detained at Derry, obtained permission from Sir Arthur Tyringham to place his newly-raised
regiment at Lisburn, under the charge of his two lieutenants, Clugston and Hanna, and of his quarter-
master, Stewart; and having considerable property embarked in trade at this critical period, he pro-
ceeded to Derry to attend to his mercantile concerns. He found the cargo of his ship had been laid
up for the use of the inhabitants, then apprehensive of being besieged by the rebels; and that the
vessel itself was ¢employed to carry away into Scotland about five hundred poor souls which would
have perished, if that occasion had not offered; no other shipping being there resident for the space
of six months before.” Having obtained another commigsion to raise a company for the defence of
the town, Mr. Lawson remained at Derry, where the principal part of his property lay. His brother-
in:law, Alderman Henry Osborne, and several other gentlemen, were also commissioned to raise soldiers,
so that the city was soon fully garrisoned with seven companies - of foot, commanded by the following
captains :—Robert Thornton, who was alse mayor, Simon Pitt, Henry Finch, Henry Osborne, John
Kilmer, Robert Lawson, and Hewit Finch, whose company was subsequently placedy under the com-
maud of the governor’s son, Captain Henry Vaughan.

¢« These commanders took prompt and efficient measures for the defence of this important post.
They entered into a mutual ¢ league’ or agreement for ¢ the keeping thereof, and the country adjoining.’
They repaired the gates and ramparts, and erected temporary houses of wood within the walls for the
accommodation of the soldiery, who were principally landholders from the surrounding districts. ‘They
sent intelligence of their situation to the king in Scotland; to their landlords, the corporation of the
city of London, who sent them several pieces of ordnance; and also to the lords justices at Dublin,
who despatched thirty barrels of powder and a supply of arms, which reached the city in the beginnin
of December. Assisted by these seasonable supplies, they held possession of Derry; but, thougﬁ
unmolested by the enemy, the inhabitants and soldiers, during the winter season, suffered many severe
privations.” (p. 347.) '
: The following is a copy of the ¢« League” above alluded to, taken from the rare and curious pam-
phlet, entitled, « A true cogy of a letter sent from Doe Castle, in Ireland, from an Irish rebel, to
Dunkirke,” &c. (London, 1643. 4to; pp. 5.)

. ¢ The League of the captains of Londonderry for the keeping thereof, and country adjoining.

. %1, Itis concluded by us, whose names are subseribed, that we will, from this time forward, stand

together for the safe keeping of this city of Londonderry and country adjoining, and be helpful in all

things concerning the same. 2. It is agreed, that on the morrow morning, we.will all join together,
G2
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with a competent number of bur men, to expel all such Irish out of the city, as we shall conceive to be
needful for the safety of this city. 8. That after this is done, that a proclamation be made, that no man
or woman so expelled the city shall, upon pain of death, return into this city, or make their abode
within two miles of the same. 4. That the morrow morning we take the advice of Sir John Vaughan,
and Captain Henry Vaughan ; that we survey the suburbs of this city, and conclude what houses are to
be pulled down, and what gardens and orchards to be cut for annoying the enemy’s aziroach, and that
the same be speedily put in execution. 5. That forty men be spared every watch-night to guard
the ordnance and the gates the next day, that tweaty men of the main guard, and twenty men
of the bye guard, out of the two hundred watches every night. 6. It is thought fit all our com-
ies be drawn forth into the fields, and that the captains officers shall take a voluntary oath to
e true to the king and state, and to keep the city to the expense of his life, and to leave it to the rest
of the companies to do the like if they pleased.

« The division of the walls for each captain’s quarter to make good.

« 7. Captain Pitt to make good the King’s Btﬁwuk to the Ferrigate. 8. Captain Thornton from
the Ferrigate to Master Wabion’s Bulwark ; and they two to make good the Ferrigate. 9. Captain
Kilmer from Master Wabion’s Bulwark to Chichester’s Bulwark, and make good the Shipkeygate.
10. Captain Finch from the end of Chichester Bulwark to the Butchersgate. 11. Captain Osborne
from the end of Chichester Bulwark to the Butchersgate. 12. Captain Lawson to make good the
Prince’s Bulwark, and the Bishopsgate to the King’s Bulwark. 13. Whoever hath the town-guard,
Captain Lawson is to make good his quarter, and the captain of the town’s guard to make good Captain
Lawson’s quarter. 14. Sir John Vaughan and Sir Robert Stewart to make good the main-guard, and
all the inhabitants or residents withinu&e said city, not under the captain’s commands, to repair to the
main-guard, for the better strengthening thereof, and issuing of supplies as occasion shall require. 15.
All women and children to keep within doors, and hang out lights in their several houses. 16. Every
captain to allew s0 many men to the cannoneers as shall be requisite, and to give them their names
the morrow morning. 17. Every captain to take the oversight of his own quarter, for the repairing
of the defects of their several quarters, or other fortifications, with the gabions for the cannoneers,
which is to be done at the general charge.
¢ The names of the captains,—ﬁbert Thornton, Simon Pitt, Henry Finch, Henry Osborne,
John Kilmer, Robert Lawson, Hew Finch. :

« Since, the honourable city of London hath sent us fifteen pieces of ordnance, and four we had
before, in all nineteen pieces, for which, amongst other their goodness towards us, we pray the Lord
reward them, and preserve them, and continue bis mercy with them, and direct his jud}ments in these
evil times from them, that it may still continue a :‘:r fowing with plenty for ever.”—(Zb.)

1642. The state of Derry during this peried will more fully appear from the following letter
addressed to the Scottish general, Monro, at Carrickfergus, and which was sent to acquaint him with
the distressed situation of tge city, and to entreat supplies of arms and ammunition. Itis dated « Lon-
‘\l;md“harz’ the 27 April 1642;” and is signed Robert Thornton, Mayor, Henry Osborne, John

aughan.

« We of this city of Londonderry and other parts, have either been forgotten, or given over for
lost as we conceive; for all other of the kingdom are plentifully supplied, and yet though we
have made our wants and miseries known divers times to Dublin, and to England, and to Seotland, yet
no relief ever came to us, but only thirty barrels of powder, brought by Captain Boulton from Dnbﬁn,
long before Christmas, which was partly upon the arrival thereof, disposed to all needful parts; and
want of powder and arms here hatﬁ been our ruin. It is the great providence and goodness of God,
that we are hitherto preserved, having been so ill armed and provided for; all the arms within his
majesty’s store here were shipped to Dublin last summer, and nothing left here but old decayed calivers
which we have hitherto made a shift with, and trimmed them up to our great charges. )

« We have raised seven hundred men for the defence of tﬁis city, and keep them hitherto at our
own ¢ es, in expectation of money and other supplies, but there is not one hundred good swords
amongst them, and their arms but mean. Sir WilEam Stewart, Sir Robert Stewart, and Sir Ralph
Gore, had commissions from his majesty out of Scotland in November, for raising three regiments,
and two horse troops. They lie in the county of Tyrone and thereabout, and so have done all this
winter, to oppose the enemy; but being unprovided for, and not one penny to pay them, they could
never attempt any great service. It is much that they keep the enemies from our walls to this hour;
now our powder 1s gone, our victuals beginning to fail, and these three regiments had been starved
long since, if we of this city had not relieved them with beef, butter, herrings and other necessaries,
to a great value. But this will hold out no longer, for we have not now victuals enough for our
own men in the city. And if a ship of Bristol had not arrived here with some peas, meal, and wheat,
we could not have shifted longer; and all that will not last the regiments fourteen days. For the
provision of the country is destroyed by the enemy, or devoured by our own men ; and we are enforced



HISTORY. 45

to feed multitudes of unserviceable people that are fled hither for relief; so if the enemy’s sword spare
ws, famine will despatch us, except &o«f in mercy provide for us. But this is not all; for now at this
very hour, Sir Phelim O’Neill having gathered from all parts what forces he can make, is with a very
great army of horse and foot at Strabane, within ten or twelve miles of this city, intendinﬁl(by all the
intelligence we can get,) to set up his rest, and desperately to break in upon us, where all the forces
we can make are ready to bid him welcome.

« Sir Phelim on the one side of the river, and ours on the other, iu sight one of the other, so as
we of this city were enforced not only to send a great part of our men out of the city to join with them,
but also unfurnished and parted with what little powder was left us, which with a little we got out
of the Bristol ship, we have sent to encounter the grish rebels. And now to relieve our fainting spirits,
God hath provided for our relief, and sent this bearer Captain Strange into Lough Foyle, who being
in his majesty’s service, and sent for the comfort of his majesty’s distressed subjects, into those parts,
we have made a true relation to him of our desperate estate, and the great danger we are in for want
of powder and other provision, that we have not only prevailed with him to lead us, for the present,
six barrels of powder, but also to set sail for us to iekfergus, to present our wants and dangers we
are in to your honourable consideration, mest earnestly praying that for the love of God, and honour of
our king, and the safety of this place and people, ye wilrdlspa.tch him back again to us with a good and
large proportion of powder, match and lead, muskets, swords, pikes, some spades and shovels, whereof
we have not any; and of these or what else may be had, as much as ye can possibly spare us; for we
want all things fit to defend a distressed country and offend a desperate enemy.

« We also pray that you will restore the captain the six barrels of powder we have borrowed of
him; and if there be any biscuit, cheese, or any other victuals to be spared, to send us some good
proportion thereof. So being at present in great haste and perplexity, with our service presented to
your honour, we remain your humble servants, &c.”—(1b.)

—— September. During the illness of the marquis of Ormonde, the lords justices made an
alteration in the command of:ﬁe troopsin Derry, which, ag already stated, counsisted at that period of
six [seven] companies, under the command of the mayor and Sir Join Vaughan. Sir William Stewart
was_appointed commander-in-chief of the Lagan forces, but the command was superseded on the 15th
of December, and the original officers restored.—(CARTE : vol. 1 ; p. 336.) .

1643. In April this year, the city of Londonderry and the town of Coleraine sent letters to the
lords justices, expressing their lamentable condition, an ying for relief.—(Zb. p. 420.)

On the death of Sir l.llgolm Vaughan in this year, Sir Rogle-:t Stewart was made governor of Derry by
the king. Five companies of the garrison had the honour of contributing to Sir Robert Stewart’s great
defeat of Owen O’Neill, at Clones, on the 138th of June, which was the mosat disastrous the rebels had
hitherto suffered in the province of Ulster.—(Zb. p. 432.)

Towards the close of the year the parliament having taken the covenant, the London adventurers
sent over an agent with letters desiring 1t to be taken within their plantation.—(Zb. p. 486.) v

1644, April 15. The mayor ofrgerry was ordered by the lord lieutenant and council to publish
a proclamation against the eovenant ; but this order was not complied with. :

Colonel Audley Mervyn, who was made governor of Derry by the marquis of Ormonde, in
the expectation that he would have been able to carry into effect the resolutions of the two houses
against the covenant, was, nevertheless, obliged for expedience or safety to take the cavenant, which
was generally received by the people—(Zb. p. 492.) .

- 1645, Colonel Mervyn became obnexious to the parliament through the representations of Sir
Frederick Hamilton, who desired the governorship of Derry himself, was displaced, and Lord Folliott
was agz)ointed in his place.—(Zb. p. 533.)

r R. Kiog, and Mr. An Yy, as a committee of parliament, and Colonel Beale, from. the com-
mittee of adventurers, came into Ulster in the latter end of October, with considerable supplies
of money and provisions. They turned Colonel Mervyn out of the government of Derry, and every
thing lowered before their power.—‘ib. p- 587.)

1648.  Sir Charles Coote treacherously seized Sir Robert Stewart’s person, forced him to order
his castle of Culmore to be delivered up, and then sent him prisoner to London. By this means the In-
dependents were not only entire masters of Great Britain, but of all the north of Ireland, and all the
forts of Ulster, except anlemont.—-(lb. vol. 2; p. 44.)

1649. The uis of Ormonde endeavoured by every means to draw over Sir Charles Coote tp
his majesty’s interest, but in vain, and the king’s troops were necessitated, in the last week of March,
to block him up in Derry.—(Zb. p. 59.)

« Derry and Culmore were besieged by Sir Robert Stewart. The garrison consisted of 800
foot, and 180 horse, under the command of Sir Charles Coote. Neither of them could have held out any
time, if any ships had been geut to guard the coast, and lie in the mouth of the river to interrupt the
supplies of men, money, ammunition and victuals, which Sir Charles expected soon from England. But
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this was neglected ; Sir G. Monroe advanced at the latter end of May, with a good party to strengthen’
the army before Derry, and the Lord Montgomery joined his forces to the besiegers soon after. These
officers were all devoted to the service og Charles II., and had commissions under him, and that
thonarch was proclaimed with great solemnity in the camp before Derry. The execution of the late
king had at this time caused such a generJ feeling of disgust among the Presbyterians as well as
Protestants of the north, that they rose in arms, declared against the English rebels, and made them-
selves masters of all the towns and places of strength in those parts, except the forts of Derry and
Culmore. :

After a siege of four months, and when it was reduced to the greatest extremities, Derry was
relieved by Owen Roe O’Neill, who was promised by Coote £5,000 for this service, and in the follow-
ing year, Coote, by the defeat of Ever Mac Mahon, the Roman Catholic general, at Skirfolas in
Donegal, reduced all Ulster under the power of the parliamentary army.—(Zb. p. 76, 77. 113.) :

n the termination of the rebellion in Ireland, « the Londoners sent over commissioners to settle
affairs at Londonderry and other places ; the companies demised their proportions where leases were ex-:
pired, and received their rents where leases were still subsisting. And the Society’s commissioners
renewed all the leases in Derry and Coleraine, and at both places left the commons and wastes as
before, for general accommodation and advantage.”

1656. The services of the citizens of Derry in the cause of the parliament were not forgotten’
by the usurper. On the 29th of August, 1654, “r:[:e privz council made an order, advising the restora-
tionof all rights to the [Irish] Society.” ¢« The original charter of James L. having been condemned and
cancelled by two warrants of Charles I., it was re-granted by Cromwell, 24th Marc%], 1656, (5 pars d. 1.)
with additional liberties and privileges.”—(15 Car : II. 4 pars. f. 1.) ‘

« In this year a great number of marriages were solemnized before John Hansford, mayor of
Derry.”—(GiLLEsPIE'S Annals of Londonderry.) ,

¢ Upon the restoration of King Charles the Second, the city of London petitioned the crown for
a reversal of the judgment given against their first letters patent ; but as the proceedings necessar{ to
be adopted in this respect, it was considered, would be tedious, the king proposed to grant a new char-
ter, to embrace all thé possessions and rights the city originally possessed. And accordingly [the
grant of Cromwell being deemed insufficient], on the {Oth of ApriE 1662, letters patent were made:
out, which contained, with very little alteration, all the clauses of the first charter of James the First.”
It is under this charter that the Irish Society and the corporation of Londonderry now act.

~ 1668. «Great part of the city of Londonderry was destroyed by fire.” ,

, September 15. ¢« The Society required from the corporation of Londonderry a certificate,

under seal, of their by-laws for confirmation of the Society, agreeably to the provisions of the charter,

and expressed their unwillingness to receive any communications purporting to be the acts of the com-
mon council of Londonderry, unless they were under the seal of that corporation.”

1672. To this period may most probably be assigned the
Token represented in the annexed cut, copied from the original
coin in the collection of Mr. William R{a.guire, of Dublin.
William Rodger, or Rogers, by whom it was issued, was she-
riff of Londonderry in 1672, under which year Simon, in his
Essay on Irish Coins, observes that ¢ about this time small
change must have been very scarce, since we find that private
persons and towns were obliged-to coin copper tokens.” As similar coins of other towns in the county
will be reﬁresented in the course of this work, it may not be improper here to state a few facts re-
s&pecting their origin, and period of circulation. ¢ Before the restoration of King Charles II., and

uring the commonwealth and Cromwell’s government, no money was ever coined for the particular
use of Ireland; but divers persons in Dublin and other places in this kingdom, in order to supply the
great scarcity of small change, coined copper tokens, with their names and places of abode stamped on
them, whereby they obliged themselves to make them good.” ¢« These tokens are made of brass, or
copper, not broader, but thinner than our present farthings, and like so many promissory notes passed
for one penny each, in the neighbourhood, and amongst the customers of those who issued them,
whose names, together with the value 1d., and their coat of arms, sigﬂ, or cypher, are imprinted on
their respective pieces: which expedient has often been put in practice in the subsequent reigns.”—
(SiMoN : p.48.) The want of small coins at this period was equally felt in England till tradesmen and
shopkeepers made their own tokens; but, as SnelEng observes, it does not appear that they took this
method so soon in Ireland as there, as he had not seen any of them dated begore 1654, after which
they are found of most years till 1679.—(See SNELLING’s Supplement to StMON.) The immense profit,
which arose from the circulation of these illegal tokens, caused a great overflow of them in Ireland, and
occasioned frequent loss to the poor, by the persons who had issued them absconding, to avoid their
engagements to exchange them for legal money when called on; and in consequence the government
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endeavoured to suppress the practice by proclamation, first on the 17th of August, 1661, and, again, on
the 28th of July, 1678. The issuing of these tokens, however, though diminished after the latter, was
not totally suppressed till the issue of Sir Thomas Armstrong’s halfpence by proclamation of the 19th of
July, 1680.

d 1684, June 13. ¢« The corporation of Londonderry, by letter to the Society, offered to hold a
correspondence with them, and to render a faithful account of their concerns, when desired.” _

——, September 4. ¢ King Charles 1I. being informed that in the several charters granted
by King James I. and himself, incorporating the city, there was no J)ower given to take the acknow-
ledgment statute staples, which had been granted to many cities and towns not so considerable as the
city of Londonderry for trade, and in the said charters one fair being only granted, to be held 24th
Llsth] August, am{y several days then next following ; also that the sessions of the city are to be held

y the saigu:harters before three {']ustices of the peace of the city at least, of whom the mayor and
recorder are always to be two, which had been the occasion of some inconvenience, by the recorder’s
being often absent at the terms when the said sessions should be held ; his majesty (at the suit of the
city, and pursuant to letters from Windsor, 14th June, 1684,) granted and constituted a guild of the
staple, consisting of a mayor and two constables, and such a number of merchants of the city as to said
mayor and constables, for the time being, should seem meet ; the mayor and constables to be chosen
yearly, and to execute all things thereunto belonging, as fully as the city of Dublin or any other city
or town, had used or accustomed ; to hold two fairs more in the city or franchises on the 6th June and
6th October (unless on Sundays,) and three days next following each; rent 20s. sterling; any three
justices of peace, whereof either the mayor or the recorder to be always one, to keep and hold the
sessions otP the city in the same manner as by the former charters the mayor and recorder with any
ather justice or justices of the city, might or could hold the same : Yrovided always, that the said justices
shall not proceed in any capital cause at any of their sessions, unless the mayor and recorder shall be
both personally present.”—(86 Car: I1. 2 pars. d. 46.) ‘

1685. ¢« During this year there was a great decay of trade in Londonderry. The corporation
complained that the government of the place was too expensive for the magistrates to sustain, and they
suppgicated the Society for abatement of rent, and the Society promised them assistance.”

1687. <« The bishop of Derry laid claim to the quarter lands, which became the subject of a long
and very expensive litigation ; which, as will hereafter appear, terminated in the rejection of his claim.”

: » A quo warranto was brought against the corporation, by King James’s government, and they
were shortly after deprived of their charter by judgment of the court of Exchequer.—{See King.)
. 1688-9. The siege of Derry, which commenced on the 7th of December, by the closing of
the gates against Lord Antrim’s regiments, was raised on the 30th of July following. [See County
History.] The city was found to be reduced to a very sad and deplorable state, but active measures
were speedily taken to restore it. By the representations of its heroic defender, Mr. Walker, to the
Irish Society, the 12 chief companies of London were induced to advance £100 a-piece ; wood was
supplied by the Society for the public buildings, and abatements were made in the rents, and the terms
of leases augmented. :

1692. ~ The corporation endeavoured to negociate with the bishop (King) for the renewal of the
lease of the quarter-lands, whiclr was then near expiring; but their terms were refused. The corpo-
ration knowing that the bishop’s claims to these lands were unsubstantial, and deeming it their interest
to make a discovery of the fact to the Irish Society, accordingly did so, and entered into an agreement
with the Society to establish their right for a consideration of £90 10s..a-year, which sum is still paid
to the corporation. )

On the 18th of July, 1695, an ejectment was brought by the Society against the bishop for the
remainder of the 1500 acres comprised in the Society’s letters patent, and on the 23rd of November
the Society resumed the possession of them. On the st of October, 1697, the bishop appealed to the
house of lords in Ireland against the order of the chancellor, and obtained an order for re-establishing
him in his possessions, which being opposed by the sheriffs, and other inhabitants of Derry, they were
in consequence taken into custody, and carried to Dublin. On the 23rd of November the Irish Society
appealed to the English house of lords against the decision of the lords in Ireland, and in 1708 an aet
of parliament was passed establishing the Society not only in the right to the 1500 acres, but also to the
fisheries, which had previously been a source of much litigation. The Society, however, wereé bound
to pay a rent charge of £250 a-year, to the bishop and his successors for ever (which sum is still
paid), and to exonerate him from any rents or other demands whatsoever, for the palace and gardens
1n Derry.—(See Concise View of the Irish Society.) . .

1704. « Ten Presbyterian aldermen and twelve burgesses having refused to qualify according to
the act of conformity, resigned their offices.—Robert Rochford, recorder of the city, advised the mayor,
&c. to elect other members in their place. The mayor, therefore, to leave the dissenting members
without excuse, caused the sergeants to summon them twice ; none, however, attended, cansequently
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he proceeded to a new election on the twelfth August, and filled up the vacancies. This circum-
stance occasioned the necessity of a special act of parliament respecting the qualification of Presbyterians
in these respects.”—(GILLESPIE'S Annals of Londonderry.)

1721, February 2. ¢ The military commander of the garrison refused to deliver the keys of the
city to the new mayor, which, by the charter, he was bound to do, and surrounded the town with
troops, and pr;;e)nted the entrance of the corporation into it. Immediately after the commander was
removed.” . :

1725.—(“ Cicily Jackson, servant to the bishop, was burned at a stake outside Bishopsgate, for the
murder of her natural child.”— (Zb.) _

. 1769, September 23, King Charles II. having, by his charter, « ted that the mayor,
recorder, and four senior aldermen who had served the office of mayor, should be justices of the peace
of the city and liberties, and the corporation having represented that from the increase of trade
and manufactures, the inhabitants were become very numerous, and that it frequently happened that
the four senior aldermen, from their age and infirmities, were incapable of transacting business, or
retired into the country at a distance, so that the whole business of the magistracy devolved upon the
mayor, which he was unable to do, with the other duties of his office, and that it had been found by
experience, that for the more speedy administration of justice a greater number of justices of the peace
was requisite ; wherefore the king by this charter grants that all the aldermen who have and who here-
after shall serve the office of mayor, from the time of the expiration of their said office, may be
:m;ointed .ju.stices of the peace of t{e said city, during such time as they shall continue in the office of

ermen.”—(9 Geo: I11.—LopGr’s Parliamentary Register.) .

1779, June 4. The Londonderry Volunteer Association was established for the defence of the
country—Thomas Conolly, Esq., the county member, commandant. The corps belonging to the city
consisted of four companies. ey were commanded by John Ferguson, Kl}.; Thomas Bateson,
Esq.; Stephen Bennett, Esq.; and William Lecky, Esq. ;—the two last being formed of Apprentice
Boys. illiam Armstrong, afterwards General Armstrong, was adjutant.

1781, May 28. ¢« The Society contributed £100 towards the Londonderry Association.”

1788, November 19. ¢ The Society. contributed £50 to celebrate the centenary of 7th De-
cember, 1688, [O. S.], at Londonderry.”

In this year the commemoration of the Shutting of the Gates was celebrated for two days with
great vivacity and splendour, and in an uninterrupted spirit of harmony and conviviality, by the citizens
of every denomination and class.

On the first day, Thursday, the 7th of December, O. S., the dawn was announced by drums,
bells, and a discharge of the cannon which had been used during the siege; while a red flag, the
emblem of the Virgin City, was displayed on the cathedral. At half-past ten o’clock a procession,
which was formed on the Ship Quay, moved towards the cathedral in the following order :—

The Corporation, and City Regalia.
‘ he Clergy.
The Officers of the Navy.
The Forty-sixth Regiment.
The Londonderry Associated Volunteer Corps.
The Committee and Stewards.
The Merchants, and principal Citizens. )

The Merchants’ Apprentices, preceded by Mr. Murray, the great grandson of Colonel Mufray, carryirg the
sword with which his ancestor is said to have killed the French general, Momont, in a sortie
during the siege.

The Tradesmen’s Apprentices.

The Young Gentlemen of the Free School.

The Masters of Ships, and Seamen.

. Though every necessary arrangement had been made to accommodate the largest possible number
in the cathedral, many hundreds were compelled to return. After the service an irable sermon
on the text of Joshua iv. 24. was preached by Dean Hume, and a selection of sacred music was per-
formed from the oratorio of Judas Maccabeus. From the cathedral the procession moved in the same
order to the meeting-house, where the Rev. Mr. Black delivered an oration, which evinced his know-
ledge of British history, and his ardent zeal for liberty.

On returning from the meeting-house, the procession was gratified with the sight of the largest
vessel that had ever entered the harbour—his majesty’s ship P ine, decorated with colours, and
accompanied by the Sea-flower, a king’s cutter. On approaching the quay she was saluted by a dis-
charge of twent{-one guns, which she returned with an equal number.

At two o'clock the Apprentice Boys, supported by the military and volunteers, went through the
ceremony of the Shlgm'na of the Gates; and afterwards proceeded to the Diamond with King James's
colours, captured during the siege, where a feu-de-joie was fired in concert with the ships and batteries.
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At four o’clock the mayor and corporation, the clergy, both Protestant and Roman Catholic, the
officers of the navy and army, the gentry, volunteers, citizens, scholars, and apprentices, dined in the
town-hall. The soldiers were entertained in their barracks, and the sailors in houses of accommoda-
tion, opened for the purpose. In the evening the city was splendidly illuminated, and a grand exhi-
bition of fire-works closed the entertainments of the day. On the morrow the festival was continued
in the same spirit. The poorer classes were regaled in the Diamond with a roasted ox, bread, and
beer ; and in the evening the festival was concluded with a ball and supper, which, though more numer-
ously attended than any ever before given in Derry, was conducted with the greatest gecorum.

1789, August 1. (O. 8.) The centenary of the deliverance and Opening os/‘ the Gates of Derry,
in 1689, was celebrated in the same spirit of general concord as that of the Shutting of the Gates
in the preceding year. On this, as on the former occasion, there was a public procession of al/ the
citizens to the cathedral, where they offered up their united expression of gratitude to Gop the De-
liverer. It was marshalled in the following onrer —

The Earl of Bristol, Bishop of Derry, accompanied by Dean Hume, and a numerous body of the Clergy of
i the Established Church. .
" Dr. Mac Devitt, the Roman Catholic Bishop of Derry, and several of his Clergy.

The Presbyterian Ministers, and Elders.

The Worshipful the Mayor, Thomas Bateson, Esq., with the Aldermen and Members of the Corporation, in their robes,
accompanied by their Officers.
The Members of the Commemoration Committee.
The Londonderry Independent Volunteers,

Thus all sectarian and political differences were happily laid aside in_the universal rejoicing for the
triumph of that civil and religious liberty, a blessing to al{, which was celebrated on this occasion.

- A sermon, remarkable for its eloquence, beauty, and appropriateness, was delivered in the cathedral
by the Rev. George Vaughan Sampson, for which he justly received the thanks of the Commemoration
&)mmittee, and wiich he afterwards published at their request. In this discourse he enforced, with sin-
gular strength and touching persuasiveness, the Christian doctrine of Aumanity and brotherly love :—« If,”
said the reverend gentleman, “ ye would draw from the example of your fathers a lesson, suited to this
solemn hour, you must not only ﬁe pious in your courage but also humane in your opinions,—you must
not only say in your hearts—¢ Glory be to God in ‘t’fe highest; but also—¢and on earth PEack,
GQOD-WILL TOWARDS MEN !'” .

From the cathedral the procession moved in the same order to the Bishop’s Gate, where the first
stone of a TRiuMPHAL ARCH was laid by Thomas Bateson, Esq., Mayor, un(rer a triple discharge of
small arms and artillery. Thence the 28th Regiment and the Volunteers marched into the Diamond,
where they fired three more volleys in honour of the festival. The evening was terminated with a
dinner and fire-works ; and the festival was concluded on a subsequent evening by a splendid ball.

Section 11.—Bi0GRAPHICAL.

Before proceeding to the biographical notices of the bishops and deans, it will be proper to give
some account of the state of the bishopric—its extent, subdivisions, &c., both before and after the
plantation, including the ancient and modern constitution of the chapter.

Diocese.

STATE AND CONDITION BEFORE THE PLANTATION.—The following interesting account of the
ancient state of the bishopric of Derry is taken from an unpublished paper, drawn up at the period
of the plantation, as it appears, by Montgomery, the first Protestant bishop of Derry, Clogher, and
Raphoe, for the purpose of inducing his majesty King James L. to place these bishoprics in a better
condition, and on a more secure foundation. And, though some portions of this original document
are more general in their character than the local nature of this Memoir would seem to demand,
it has been thought advisable to retain them, as well in order to preserve the parts bearing on the
diocese unmutilated, as to afford authentic illustration of the ancient state of society in this part of
Ireland—[See General History.] (The MS., is preserved in the Cottonian Library, British Museum :
Titus B. f. 626.)

« THE ANCIENT ESTATE OF THE BISHOPRICKS OF DERRY, RAPHO, AND CLOGHER.

« The Byshopricks of Derry, Rapho, and Clogher have their jurisdiction extended through the
H
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counties of Monahon, Farmanogh, Tirone, Celrane, Tireconell, and Inishowen, having the lands
belonging to their temporalties devyded also in all theise severall counties. The Byshop of Clogher
hath besyde his lands the fourth ‘;.m of all tythes throughout his Dyoces, wet is called guarta episcopalis.
The Byshops of Derry and Rapho have the third part, and it is called tertia episcopalis.

« The rest of the tythes are devyded betwene the Parson and Vicar. In Clougher the Parson
hath two fourth parts, the Vicar hath one. In Derry and Rapho the Parson and Vicar have each of
them one third part.

¢« The parsonages were usually bestowed upon students that intended to take orders, towards their
mayntenance at schoole, and were enioyned within few yesres after they accepted the parsonage to en-
ter jato orders, but hold not themselves bound to execute devyne service.

¢ The Vicars are tyed to perpetuall residence and service of the cure, and, besyde their partion of
tythes, have the beuefit of all oblations and other small dueties at buryals and christenings to them selves
alone for attendance of the service. Also they had a small parcell of ground lying next the Church,
where their house was buylt for their residence, w® was called terra sacerdotalis, libera & sine censu.

« The parsonages and vicarages through all theise three Dyoceses have byn ever collated by the
Byshops of theise Sees, without contradiction or challenge of any person.

« In the parishes where the Cathedrall Churches stoode the rectorye is ever annexed unto the
Byshop of that See, the vicarage to the Deane of the same, and certayne other rectories and vicarages
are impropriat to the Byshop and Deane, we are called mensales, quia ad mensam Episcopi & Decani
pertinebant.

« The Parsons and Vicars paye procurations to the Byshop once every yeare in cursu visitationis,
as they call it.

« There is a mortuary due to the Byshop at the death of every person, that dyeth possessed of goods
to a certayne value, as of fyve cowes the Byshop hath one, and is called vacca mortuaria ; and yf he have
500 the ﬁysho hath but one, and proportionably of other goods. In every Byshoprick besydes in-
ferior Deanes there is one principall Deane, and an Archdeacon, with other Canons that made up the
bodye of the Chapter, who assisted the Byshop, and had their houses, and kept their residence about the
Cat{)'edrall Church, and had lands belonging unto them, w¢® was called the Canons Lands.

¢ THE LANDS OF THE BYSHOPRICKS.

¢« The temporal lands of theise Byshopricks are called Zermons, and are of two sorts, mensales
[et] censuales. ~Mensales were those lands, weh the Byshops ever kept in their owne hand for their
places of residence, neere the Cathedrall Church and in som other fit places of removall, and they did
properly belong to the Byshops table, whence they had their name. Neyther might the Byshops grant
awaye theise lands, but reserve them for mayntenance of hospitalitie. And in all the Popes grants of
theise Sees (or, a